## GROUND-WATER FLOW IN THE CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA



U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY PROFESSIONAL PAPER 1401-D

# Ground-Water Flow in the Central Valley, California

By ALEX K. WILLIAMSON, DAVID E. PRUDIC, and LINDSAY A. SWAIN

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS-CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY PROFESSIONAL PAPER 1401-D



UNITED STATES GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE, WASHINGTON : 1989

#### **DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR**

#### MANUEL LUJAN, JR., Secretary

#### **U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY**

Dallas L. Peck, Director

Any use of trade, product, or firm names in this publication is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government

#### Library of Congress Cataloging in Publication Data

Willilamson, Alex K.
Ground-water flow in the Central Valley, California.
(Regional aquifer-system analysis) (U.S. Geological Survey professional paper ; 1401–D)
Bibliography: p.
Supt. of Docs. no.: I 19.16:1401–D
1. Groundwater flow—California—Central Valley (Valley) I. Prudic, David E. II. Swain, Lindsay A. III. Title. IV. Series. V. Series.
GB1197.7.W55 1989 551.49'097945 85–600213

For sale by the Books and Open-File Reports Section, U.S. Geological Survey, Federal Center, Box 25425, Denver, CO 80225

#### FOREWORD

#### THE REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS PROGRAM

The Regional Aquifer-System Analysis (RASA) Program was started in 1978 following a congressional mandate to develop quantitative appraisals of the major ground-water systems of the United States. The RASA Program represents a systematic effort to study a number of the Nation's most important aquifer systems, which in aggregate underlie much of the country and which represent an important component of the Nation's total water supply. In general, the boundaries of these studies are identified by the hydrologic extent of each system and accordingly transcend the political subdivisions to which investigations have often arbitrarily been limited in the past. The broad objective for each study is to assemble geologic, hydrologic, and geochemical information, to analyze and develop an understanding of the system, and to develop predictive capabilities that will contribute to the effective management of the system. The use of computer simulation is an important element of the RASA studies, both to develop an understanding of the natural, undisturbed hydrologic system and the changes brought about in it by human activities, and to provide a means of predicting the regional effects of future pumping or other stresses.

The final interpretive results of the RASA Program are presented in a series of U.S. Geological Survey Professional Papers that describe the geology, hydrology, and geochemistry of each regional aquifer system. Each study within the RASA Program is assigned a single Professional Paper number, and where the volume of interpretive material warrants, separate topical chapters that consider the principal elements of the investigation may be published. The series of RASA interpretive reports begins with Professional Paper 1400 and thereafter will continue in numerical sequence as the interpretive products of subsequent studies become available.

duce T.

Dallas L. Peck Director

## CONTENTS

	Page
Foreword	III
Abstract	D1
Introduction	1
Purpose and scope	2
Previous investigations	2
Well-numbering system	4
Description of the Central Valley	4
Hydrology	4
Geology	8
Land subsidence	9
Acknowledgments	13
Model development	13
Simulation of ground-water flow	13
General concepts and features of the model	14
Dividing the aquifer system into	
finite-difference blocks	16
Boundaries	16
Simulation of land subsidence	17
Estimates of recharge and discharge	20
Streamflow	21
Precipitation	22
Irrigation	22
Estimates of aquifer properties	26
Thickness	26
Hydraulic conductivity	27
Horizontal	27
Vertical	28
Aquifer storage	28
Water-level analysis	30
Sequence of calibration of the model	31
Predevelopment ground-water flow	32
Water levels and flows	33
Horizontal	33
Vertical	33
Recharge and discharge	38
	I.

	Page
Predevelopment ground-water flow—Continued	
Extent of freshwater	D40
Postdevelopment ground-water flow	44
History of water development	44
Irrigation	44
Domestic and industrial	46
Effects of development	52
Changes in recharge and discharge	54
Changes in water levels	58
Predevelopment to 1961	58
1961 to 1977	63
Changes in ground-water flow	67
Factors affecting vertical flow	81
Land subsidence	84
Simulated subsidence, 1961 to 1977	85
Factors that affect the relation of subsidence	
to pumpage	94
Change in aquifer storage	95
Water-table zone	96
Elastic storage	96
Water released from inelastic compaction	96
Model limitations	97
Calibration	97
Variable density	100
Recharge and discharge estimates	100
Subsidence	101
Summary and conclusions	102
Selected references	104
Appendixes	
A: Recharge and discharge values used in	
simulations (Description of computer-tape	
format)	109
B: Aquifer properties used in simulations	110
C: Estimates of borehole hydraulic conduc-	
tance of multilayer wells	126

## ILLUSTRATIONS

FIGURE	1. *2.	Map showing location of the Central Valley, Calif. Map and diagram showing the well-numbering system and well locations	Page D3 5
	3, 4.	Maps showing:	
		*3. Geographic features in the Central Valley	6
		4. Mean annual precipitation in the Central Valley drainage basin	<b>7</b>
	5 - 7.	Graphs showing:	
		5. Mean monthly precipitation and streamflow in the (A) Sacramento Valley and	
		(B) San Joaquin Valley, as a percentage of the mean annual precipitation and steamflow, respectively.	. 8
		6. Annual precipitation, 1860–1980, at four locations in the Central Valley: (A) Red Bluff,	
		(B) Sacramento, (C) Fresno, and (D) Bakersfield	. 9
		7. Cumulative departure of precipitation, 1860–1980, from the mean annual at four locations in the	
		Central Valley: (A) Red Bluff, (B) Sacramento, (C) Fresno, and (D) Bakersfield	10
	8, 9.	Maps showing:	
		*8. Thickness of the aquifer system, based on the generalized thickness of continental deposits	11
		9. Areas affected by land subsidence	12
	10.	Diagram showing node array for finite-difference formulation showing model block associated with	
		node i, i, k	14

#### CONTENTS

		Page
FIGURE 11.	Sketch showing conceptualization of (A) the aquifer system and (B) a model of the aquifer system	D15
*12.	Map showing model grid and boundaries	17
13.	Diagram showing $(A)$ relation of storage coefficient to the hydraulic head in a compacting interval of	
	the aquifer system, and (B) hydrograph and compaction record for a well in the Tulare Basin	19
14, 15.	Maps showing:	
	*14. (A) land-surface altitude, circa 1957, and (B) predevelopment water-table altitude	
	and hydrologic section locations	34
	*15. Simulated and estimated head difference between the water table (layer 4) and the lower pumped zone	
	(laver 3) under predevelopment conditions	36
16	Hydrologic sections across the central Valley showing simulated medevelopment equipotential	
-0.	lines: (A) Southern San Joaquin Valley (B) Central San Joaquin Valley and (C) Sagramento	
	Vallay, nowth of Sagramonto	37
17 18	Valley lister of Sacramento	01
11, 10.	maps showing.	20
	*1. Areas of predevelopment nowing wens and the Corcoran Ciay Memoer of the Tutare Formation	41
10	*10. Simulated predevelopment net recharge/discharge	41
19.	Diagram snowing predevelopment water budget	42
*20.	Map showing depth to base of ireshwater	43
21, 22.	Graphs showing:	
	21. Increase of irrigated acreage in California since 1870 and in the Central Valley since 1959	47
	22. Irrigation water use from 1961 through 1977	47
*23.	Maps showing ground-water pumpage for (A) 1961, (B) 1962, (C) 1975, and (D) 1977	48
24 - 26.	Diagrams showing:	
	24. Approximate depth to the weighted center of the pumped zone	52
	25. Change in water level and direction of flow in the lower pumped zone, 1900-61,	
	due to ground-water pumpage	53
	26. Change in water-budget terms due to development in the Central Valley	54
27.	Map showing area and subarea boundaries	55
28.	$G_{r}$	57
29	Man showing calibration adjustments to nostdevelonment water-table net recharge/discharge estimates	59
30	Hydrographs $(A_{-})$ . Massing water level is wells showing long term water level change (1925-80)	60
21 24	Mono glaphis (1-9)-inclastical water level in wells showing long-term water-level change, 1020-00	00
01-04.	maps showing.	
	51. Spring 1501 (A) water-table altitude, (b) hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone, and (c) hydraulic	C A
	22 Charge for 1960 to use 1001 in (4) reduce table and the lower pumpled zone	04
	52. Change from 1560 to spring 1561 in (A) water-table affitude, and (B) hydraulic head in the lower	00
	pumped zone (layer 3)	68
	33. "Observed and simulated $^{(A)}$ water-table altitude, spring 1976, and (B) change in Water-table altitude,	=0
	spring 1961 to spring 1976	70
	34. *Observed and simulated $*(A)$ hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone (layer 3), spring 1976, and	
	(B) change in hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone (layer 3) from spring 1961 to spring 1976	74
35.	Hydrographs (A–N) showing observed and simulated water levels, 1961–77	78
36–37.	Graphs showing:	
	36. $(A-H)$ Variation in horizontal and vertical flows and average pore velocities during	
	predevelopment and 1961 flow conditions	82
	37. Ratio of postdevelopment to predevelopment vertical leakance between layer 4 and layer 3 in 51 model	
	blocks where predevelopment heads could be estimated	83
38.	Maps showing (A) major subsiding areas and locations of wells with water level and compaction data and	
	*(B) land subsidence, 1926–70	86
39.	Graph showing volumes of land subsidence in the major subsiding areas of the San Joaquin Valley,	
	and pumpage in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, 1925-77	88
40.	Maps showing $*(A)$ estimated land subsidence, 1961–75, and (B) simulated land subsidence, 1961–75	90
41.	Hydrographs $(A-F)$ showing measured water levels and compaction of selected wells in the	
	major subsiding areas of the San Joaquin Valley, 1940–80	92
42-44	Graphs showing:	~-
	42. Departure of simulated and observed water levels 1961_76	100
	4. Completion distribution of the device of a final to be a star levels from observed water levels for the	100
	and of the adjustion pavid surjust 1061 to appring 1075 for the water levels for the	
	number dance (layer 4) and the lower	101
	pulliped zone (layer b)	101
	44. Ratio of callorated to estimated net recharge/discharge to and from the water-table zone	102

\* Note: These maps are also printed on transparent material and included in a pocket at the back of this report. The transparent maps may be used to easily compare any two or three maps to see cause and effect relationships as well as interrelationships between different characteristics or conditions of the aquifer system.

#### CONTENTS

### TABLES

TABLE	1	Summary of major stream losses and gains	Page D94
TABLE	2.	Regression results—Excess precipitation as a function of annual precipitation	26
	3.	Hydraulic conductivity and specific yield values used for aquifer materials for initial estimates	27
	4.	Surface-water storage reservoirs in the Central Valley	45
	5.	Major water-conveyance facilities in the Central Valley	46
	6.	Summary of the components of ground-water recharge and discharge, 1961-77 average	56
	7.	Summary of specific yield, thickness, and hydraulic conductivity values	80
	8.	Comparison of estimated and simulated volumes of land subsidence in the San Joaquin and Sacramento Valleys from 1961 to 1977	85
	9.	Comparison of estimated and simulated volumes of subsidence to pumpage for the major subsiding areas from 1961 to 1977	89
	10.	Proportion of pumpage from water table and compaction storage	98
	11.	Summary of water-level changes, observed and simulated, 1961-75	99

## CONVERSION FACTORS

For readers who may prefer to use International System of Units rather than inch-pound units, the conversion factors for the terms used in this report are listed below:

Multiply inch pound units	By	To obtain SI units
inch (in)	25.40	millimeter
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter
mile (mi)	1.609	kilometer
acre	0.4047	hectare
square mile (mi <sup>2</sup> )	2.590	square kilometer
foot per day (ft/d)	0.3048	meter per day
foot per year (ft/yr)	0.3048	meter per year
cubic foot per second (ft <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.02832	cubic meter per second
acre-foot per year (acre-ft/yr)	1,233	cubic meter per year
gallon per minute (gal/min)	0.06309	liter per second
acre-foot (acre-ft)	1,233	cubic meter
square foot per second (ft <sup>2</sup> /s)	0.09290	square meter per

Sea level: In this report "sea level" refers to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD of 1929)- a geodetic datum derived from a general adjustment of the first-order level nets of both the United States and Canada, formerly called "Mean Sea Level of 1929."

VII

second

#### REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

### **GROUND-WATER FLOW IN THE CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA**

By ALEX K. WILLIAMSON, DAVID E. PRUDIC, and LINDSAY A. SWAIN

#### ABSTRACT

The agricultural productivity of the Central Valley is dependent on the availability of water from irrigation. About 7.3 million acres of cropland in the Central Valley receives about 22 million acre-feet of irrigation water annually. One half of this irrigation water is supplied by ground water, which amounts to about 20 percent of the Nation's ground-water pumpage. Ground water is important as a stable supply of irrigation water because of the high variability of surface-water supplies in the Central Valley. This large ground-water development during the past 100 years has had major impacts on the aquifer system, such as decline in water levels, land subsidence, depletion of the aquifer storage, and increase in recharge. The flow conditions before and during development were simulated on a regional scale using a threedimensional finite-difference flow model.

The Central Valley is a large (20,000-square-mile) structural trough filled with poorly permeable marine sediments that are overlain by coarser continental sediments. In general, previous investigators have conceptualized the northern one-third of the valley-the Sacramento Valley-as a water-table aquifer and the southern two-thirds-the San Joaquin Valley-as a two-aquifer system separated by a regional confining clay layer. A somewhat different concept of the aquifer system was suggested during this study by analyses of water-level measurements, texture of sediments interpreted from electric logs, and flowmodel simulations. Vertical hydraulic head differences are found throughout much of the Central Valley. Early in development, flowing wells and marshes were found throughout most of the central part of the valley. More than 50 percent of the thickness of the continental sediments is composed of fine-grained lenticular deposits that are discontinuous but are distributed throughout the stratigraphic section in the entire Central Valley.

The concept presented in this report considers the entire thickness of the continental deposits as one aquifer system which has varying vertical leakance that depends on several factors, including amount of fine-grained sediments. The average horizontal hydraulic conductivity is about 6 feet per day, and the average thickness of the continental deposits is about 2,400 feet.

Irrigation use, which averaged 22 million acre-feet of water per year during 1961–77, increased evapotranspiration about 9 million acrefeet per year over its predevelopment value. This is a large figure compared with the average annual surface-water inflow to the Central Valley of 31.7 million acre-feet per year. Precipitation on the valley floor is mostly lost to evapotranspiration. The overall postdevelopment recharge and discharge of the aquifer system was about 6 times greater than the predevelopment estimated values. The increases of pumpage associated with development mostly in the San Joaquin Valley have caused water-level declines that exceed 400 feet in places and have resulted in the largest known volume of land subsidence due to fluid withdrawal in the world. Water in aquifer storage declined about 60 million acre-feet from predevelopment to 1977; 40 million acre-feet were derived from the water-table zone, 17 million acre-feet from compaction of sediments, and 3 million acre-feet from elastic storage. During 1961-77, ground water withdrawn from aquifer storage averaged about 800,000 acre-feet per year.

The flow model constructed during this study was calibrated principally in accordance with the hydrologic data observed during 1961-75 because little predevelopment data were available for analysis. An explicit algorithm to simulate land subsidence was developed and calibrated. The simulated land subsidence was within 6 percent of the estimated observed volume; however, the time lag associated with this type of subsidence was not adequately simulated. Simulated waterlevel changes averaged 2.6 and 12 feet higher than observed waterlevel changes for the water table and the lower pumped zones, respectively, and the standard deviation of the simulated changes minus the observed change was 22 and 27 feet, respectively. The flow model was tested for the period of 1976-77 drought with good results. The simulations indicated that vertical leakance greatly increased from the predevelopment values as a result of water flowing through some of the more than 100,000 irrigation well casings that are open to different aquifer layers.

The simulation results are shown on maps for comparison with observed hydrologic data. A description of the computer-tape file, which contains estimates of recharge/discharge, and the aquifer properties used in the simulation are included in appendix A and B, respectively. The theoretical basis of calculating borehole hydraulic conductance of multilayer wells which cause increases in vertical leakance during the post-development period is discussed in appendix C.

#### INTRODUCTION

The Central Valley of California (fig. 1) has fertile soil and a long growing season, conditions that are conducive to farming. Almost 40 percent of the total U.S. production of vegetables, fruits, and nuts come from this valley (U.S. Department of Commerce, 1978). The valley floor, where agricultural production is most intense, has an average water deficiency (precipitation minus potential evapotranspiration) under natural conditions of as much as 40 in/yr (Thomas and Phoenix, 1976, p. 2). Thus, agricultural development in the valley is dependent on water from sources other than direct precipitation. The water needed for agricultural production is obtained from two sources. The first source is streams and rivers that enter the valley from the surrounding mountain ranges, where there is a surplus of water. The surface water is diverted by canals to areas of farming. The second source is ground water, which is used primarily where surface-water supplies are not available or are not sufficient or dependable enough to support agricultural activities.

The amount of water required to support agriculture averages about 22 million acre-ft/yr. Ground-water withdrawals in the Central Valley account for about onehalf of the total water used. This amount is equal to 74 percent of the total annual ground-water pumpage in California (Kahrl, 1978) and is more than 20 percent of the total annual ground-water pumpage for the entire United States (Murray and Reeves, 1977).

This large demand for ground water has placed considerable stress on the aquifer system within the valley. Ground-water pumpage has exceeded recharge in several parts of the valley and has caused water levels to decline more than 400 ft. In some areas, water levels have declined below sea level (Thomas and Phoenix, 1976; Bertoldi, 1979). The effect of excessive pumpage in the valley has been the greatest volume of land subsidence due to fluid withdrawal recorded anywhere in the world (J.F. Poland, U.S. Geological Survey, oral commun., 1982). More than 5,200 mi<sup>2</sup> of land surface has subsided more than 1 ft, and at one location subsidence exceeds 29 ft (Ireland and others, 1984).

#### PURPOSE AND SCOPE

The Central Valley aquifer system was studied as part of the nationwide Regional Aquifer-System Analysis (RASA) program of the U.S. Geological Survey. The valley was chosen for study because of (1) its long history of intensive ground-water development, (2) its dependence on ground water to maintain agricultural productivity, (3) previous studies of the aquifer system were limited to localized geographic areas or to defining only part of the system, and (4) the large size (20,000 mi<sup>2</sup>) and complexity of the system. The scope of the overall project was to collect, interpret, and verify hydrologic information from numerous sources with the goal of quantifying the hydrologic conditions of the entire system and to develop methods of evaluating aquifer responses to changes in ground-water-management practices (Bertoldi, 1979, p. 9). The purposes of the study reported herein, which is part of the overall Central Valley RASA project, are to (1) evaluate the aquifer system on a regional basis, mainly through the use of a mathematical (computer) model, (2) simulate conditions that existed before development of the groundwater resources (prior to 1870), (3) simulate present conditions, and (4) identify changes in the ground-water system caused by development of the valley's water resources. Simulation of the aquifer system using a mathematical model was chosen as a method for analysis because it integrates large amounts of diverse types of data, testing both the conceptualization of the system and the aquifer characteristics.

Only those aspects that directly apply to the analysis of aquifer properties and to ground-water flow within the system between Red Bluff in the north and Bakersfield at the south end of the valley (fig. 1) are included in this report. Detailed descriptions of the water quality and geology of the Central Valley are discussed in separate reports, as is information that pertains to the drilling of test holes. This report presents information on recharge, evapotranspiration, and pumpage. The methods of computation of these hydrologic variables are discussed in detailed reports by Diamond and Williamson (1983) and Williamson (1982).

#### PREVIOUS INVESTIGATIONS

No comprehensive report on the modeling of groundwater flow of the entire Central Valley of California has been published. The Central Valley has been studied or modeled in different areas by several investigators since about the late 1880's. The earliest reliable systematic study was by W. Hammond Hall (1886), the California State engineer from 1878 to 1889. Hall's work, together with Mendenhall and others' (1916) study of groundwater resources of the San Joaquin Valley and Bryan's (1923) study of the Sacramento Valley, helped formulate the concepts of the aquifer system in the valley during a period when there was little stress on the system.

Between 1923 and the end of World War II (1945), virtually no quantitative investigative reports for the Central Valley were published; however, ground-water data were being accumulated. It was during the period 1923–45 that hundreds of exploratory gas and oil wells were drilled and logged in the valley, and these logs provided basic information on the lithologic character of the aquifer system, including the lower boundary of alluvium, the distribution of coarse- and fine-grained materials, and the distribution of minerals.

Post-World War II agricultural growth and attendant ground-water use in the valley increased so rapidly that by 1950 California pumped nearly 50 percent of all the ground water pumped in the United States. With this increased pumping, virtually tens of thousands of wells were drilled in the Central Valley, making available a greatly expanded set of data upon which to renew scientific investigation of the ground-water resources. The new data allowed Croft (1968, 1972) to map an important confining bed that extends over nearly 5,000 mi<sup>2</sup> of the San Joaquin Valley and four other lesser confining beds. From the data gathered from 1945 to 1960, Davis and others (1959) and Olmsted and Davis (1961) were able to define geologic features and to estimate the storage capacity of the upper 200 ft of the aquifer system in the San Joaquin and Sacramento Valleys. Eighty-six papers reporting on subsidence research were published by the U.S. Geological Survey between the years 1950 and 1983. These papers describe the mechanics of subsidence caused by compaction of both shallow deposits (hydrocompaction) and deep deposits (owing to withdrawal of ground water, oil and gas fluids) in the San Joaquin Valley. These reports contain valuable data that were used to form the initial model values of specific-storage coefficients, specific yields, and vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity.



FIGURE 1.-Location of the Central Valley, Calif. (modified from Thomas and Phoenix, 1976).

The California Department of Water Resources administers two programs—one that provides groundwater-level data dating back to 1921 and another that provides comprehensive land-use data, with resurveying in most areas every 5 to 10 years. These basic data provided valuable data on head distribution, evapotranspiration, recharge, distribution of pumpage, and irrigation return flow.

Since about 1970, several investigators have developed ground-water-flow models for parts of the valley. Bloyd (1978) designed an uncalibrated, unverified flow model for natural flow conditions in the Sacramento Valley. The California Department of Water Resources (1977b), in cooperation with the Kern County Water Agency, developed a calibrated flow model for the Kern County area of the Tulare Basin in part of the southern San Joaquin Valley. Londquist (1981) and Page (1977) developed models of parts of the aquifer system in areas of San Joaquin and Stanislaus Counties; the California Department of Water Resources (1974a) designed a mathematical model to simulate man's impact on the water resources of Sacramento County. A contractor for the California Department of Water Resources (1982) has developed a calibrated three-dimensional flow model of the San Joaquin Valley for use in coordination with an economic optimization model. Mitten (1983) and C.J. Londquist (U.S. Geological Survey, written commun., 1983) are using ground-water-flow models to study the aquifer system in the Fresno and Madera areas, respectively. Corapcioglu and Brutsaert (1977) developed a model to simulate land subsidence caused by pumping in a few sites in the San Joaquin Valley. These models provided some information for estimation of initial boundary conditions and comparative values for hydraulic conductivity and storage coefficients where applicable to the regional model discussed in this paper.

Although the foregoing studies provided the bulk of the background information, it would be negligent to omit mention of other sources of information. Nearly 600 reports (Bertoldi, 1979) and numerous data obtained from 300 local agencies, farmers, and industrial managers were used in formulating and corroborating the characteristics of the regional aquifer system of the Central Valley.

#### WELL-NUMBERING SYSTEM

The well-numbering system commonly used in California is shown and explained in figure 2.

#### DESCRIPTION OF THE CENTRAL VALLEY

Surrounded by mountains and filled with alluvium and other sediments, the Central Valley extends more than 400 mi from near Red Bluff in the north to near Bakersfield in the south (fig. 1). The valley ranges in width from about 20 to 70 mi and covers an area of approximately 20,000 mi<sup>2</sup>. Geologically, it is one of the most notable structural troughs in the world.

The Central Valley is subdivided into two distinct valleys, each drained by a major river after which that part of the valley is named. As a result, the northern one-third of the valley is called the Sacramento Valley and the southern two-thirds is called the San Joaquin Valley. The southern part of the San Joaquin Valley, sometimes called the Tulare Basin, is a basin of interior drainage where water often collects in nearly dry-lake areas known as Kern Lake, Buena Vista Lake, and Tulare Lake beds (informal usage) (fig. 3). The two valleys are separated by an area commonly called the Delta where the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers meet and discharge through a natural outlet at Suisun Bay and into San Francisco Bay. The Central Valley basin can be subdivided for study into four subregions: Sacramento, Delta, San Joaquin, and Tulare (fig. 1).

Topographically, the Central Valley is relatively flat and of low altitude. The only feature of prominent relief within the valley is the Sutter Buttes, which rise about 2,000 ft above the valley floor near the center of the Sacramento Valley. Altitudes in the valley are mostly less than 500 ft above sea level. Maximum altitudes of about 1,800 ft occur at the apexes of some alluvial fans along the south and northwest perimeters and on the Sutter Buttes to the north. Two areas within the valley—the Sutter Buttes and the Kettleman Hills— (fig. 3) are not part of the aquifer system.

#### HYDROLOGY

The climate in the valley is of Mediterranean type (dry summers). Average annual precipitation ranges from 13 to 26 inches in the Sacramento Valley and from 5 to 16 inches in the San Joaquin Valley (fig. 4). About 85 percent of the annual precipitation occurs in the 6 months from November through April (fig. 5). Summers are hot, and winters are moderate and allow a long growing season.

Streamflow, a very important factor in the water supply of the valley, is entirely dependent on precipitation in the Sierra Nevada and in parts of the Klamath Mountains in the north (fig. 1). No perennial streams of any significant size enter the valley from the west side except those in the northwest end of the valley. The mean annual streamflow entering the Central Valley around its perimeter is 31.7 million acre-ft. Mean annual precipitation in the mountains increases with altitude to as much as 90 in (Rantz, 1969). Much of the precipitation in the mountains occurs in the form of snow, especially in the higher southern Sierra Nevada.

#### INTRODUCTION

The resulting snowpack delays runoff so that about 78 percent of the total unimpaired streamflow to the valley occurs during the 6 months from January through June (fig. 5) .

Precipitation and runoff in the valley vary greatly from year to year as well as within the year (fig. 6). The standard deviation of annual flows ranges from 40 to 80 percent of the mean among the major streams. Years



FIGURE 2 - Well-numbering system and well locations.

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS-CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA



FIGURE 3.-Geographic features in the Central Valley.



FIGURE 4.-Mean annual precipitation in the Central Valley drainage basin (from Rantz, 1969).

when precipitation is near the mean are somewhat rare. A relatively stable measure of variability in the valley would be the sum of the 15 largest streams' annual flow, because often one end of the valley is wetter or drier than the other. However, for this flow (sum of the 15 largest streams' annual flow), only 2 (1962 and 1975) of the 17 years (1961–77) and only 16 percent of 44 years of record were within 10 percent of the mean annual flow. Figure 7 shows the periods of greater (curve rises) and less (curve falls) than normal precipitation since the late 1800's.

#### GEOLOGY

The geology of the Central Valley is described in an accompanying report (Page, 1986); therefore, this section contains information pertinent only to an understanding of the ground-water-flow system.

In general, the Central Valley is a long, northwesttrending, asymmetric structural trough that is filled with sediments. Along the eastern part of the valley the sediments are underlain by pre-Tertiary crystalline and metamorphic rocks of the Sierra Nevada block (Davis and others, 1959, p. 40; Olmsted and Davis, 1961, p. 39). The sediments are thought to be underlain by a pre-Tertiary mafic and ultramafic complex in the west side and part of the east side of the valley (Cady, 1975, p. 17–19; Suppe, 1978, p. 7). Generally, only minor quantities of water are present in the joints and cracks of these pre-Tertiary rocks.

Rocks of the Coast Ranges on the west side of the valley consist mainly of pre-Tertiary and Tertiary semiconsolidated to consolidated clastic sediments of marine origin that have been folded and faulted. These deposits extend eastward underneath the Central Valley where, near the east edge, they become thinner (Davis and others, 1959, p. 40; Olmsted and Davis, 1961, p. 42). The marine sedimentary rocks contain saline water except in a few areas where freshwater has apparently



FIGURE 5.—Mean monthly precipitation and streamflow in the (A) Sacramento Valley and (B) San Joaquin Valley, as a percentage of the mean annual precipitation and streamflow, respectively.

flushed out some of the saline water (Davis and others, 1959, p. 44; Olmsted and Davis, 1961, p. 134; Page, 1986).

Continental deposits of post-Eocene to Holocene age overlie the marine sedimentary rocks (fig. 8) (R.W. Page, written commun., 1981, and Page, 1974). The continental deposits include some volcanic material but contain mostly fluvial deposits with lesser amounts of interbedded lacustrine deposits. The continental deposits consist predominantly of lenses of gravel, sand, silt, and clay. The numerous lenses of fine-grained deposits (clay, sandy clay, sandy silt, and silt) are distributed throughout the valley and constitute over half of the total thickness penetrated by wells, as determined from electric logs (Page, 1986, fig. 35). Most of these lenses are not widespread, although several major ones have been mapped in the valley-principally beneath the axis of the San Joaquin Valley. The most notable deposit is the Corcoran Clay Member (Pleistocene) of the Tulare Formation (Pliocene and Pleistocene), which is part of the E-clay of Croft (1972) in the San Joaquin Valley. This diatomaceous clay bed covers an area of approximately 5,000 mi<sup>2</sup> (Page, 1986, plate 4) and ranges in thickness from near zero to at least 160 ft beneath the present bed of Tulare Lake (Davis and others, 1959; Page, 1986, p. 16). The northern extent of the Corcoran Clay Member is not known because of the absence of data north of Stockton, particularly in the Delta area. A diatomaceous clay similar in composition to that of the Corcoran Clay Member was found in a test hole (12N/1E-34Q) drilled in the Sacramento Valley (Page and Bertoldi, 1983). The location of this hole is shown in figure 2. Laboratory tests of the clay indicate that it is highly susceptible to compaction, like the Corcoran Clay Member; however, the clay was not found in six other test holes in the area (fig. 2), and the full extent of this clay is not known.

#### LAND SUBSIDENCE

The many fine-grained (clayey) lenses in deposits of the Central Valley are conducive to subsidence, both



FIGURE 6.—Annual precipitation, 1860–1980, at four locations in the Central Valley: (A) Red Bluff, (B) Sacramento, (C) Fresno, and (D) Bakersfield.

naturally and by man-induced activities. The five processes that are known to cause land subsidence in the Central Valley, in order of their magnitude, are

1. Compaction of the aquifer system caused by lowering of the hydraulic head in the aquifer system;

2. Oxidation and compaction of peat soils caused by draining the lands near the confluence of the San Joaquin and Sacramento Rivers;

3. Compaction of moisture-deficient deposits above the water table (referred to as "hydrocompaction") caused by applying water at land surface to previously dry sediments;

4. Compaction of deposits below the aquifer system caused by fluid withdrawal from oil and gas fields; and 5. Deep-seated tectonic settling.

Of these five processes that cause land subsidence in the Central Valley, only the first two listed have altered the ground-water system or changed the physical properties of the aquifer materials. The other three processes have had little impact on the ground-water flow system as a whole. All five processes are briefly discussed in the following paragraphs.

Compaction of the aquifer system caused by the lowering of the hydraulic head has caused the greatest amount of subsidence over the largest area in the Central Valley (fig. 9). Most of the land subsidence has occurred in the San Joaquin Valley south of the Merced River where approximately 5,200 mi<sup>2</sup> had subsided at least 1 ft by 1970 and a maximum subsidence of 29.6 ft was measured at one location in 1977 (Ireland and others, 1984, p. 2). In the Sacramento Valley, the maximum amount of subsidence by 1973 was about 2 ft in at least two small areas in the southwestern part of that valley (Lofgren and Ireland, 1973, p. 6). Lofgren and Ireland (1973, p. 6) noted that other areas may have also subsided, but precise leveling data were not available for several parts of that valley. Leveling data near Zamora in the Sacramento Valley (J.C. Blodgett, U.S. Geological Survey, written commun., 1979) indicate that subsidence in that area has increased between 1973 and 1979.

Compaction of the aquifer system occurs mainly in the fine-grained sediments. When the hydraulic head in the aquifer system declines to a level below the preconsolidation stress, the fine-grained sediments compact and release water. Such compaction is a one-time source. Thus, the storage capacity of the aquifer system is reduced, even though the storage capacity of the coarse-



FIGURE 7.—Cumulative departure of precipitation, 1860–1980, from the mean annual at four locations in the Central Valley: (A) Red Bluff, (B) Sacramento, (C) Fresno, and (D) Bakersfield.

D10

grained parts of the system may remain constant. During periods of water-level decline, compaction reduces the amount of drawdown by providing a source of water from the fine-grained sediments to pumping wells. On the second cycle of drawdown, after recovery of water levels due to cessation of pumping or to



FIGURE 8.—Thickness of the aquifer system, based on the generalized thickness of continental deposits. (After R.W. Page, 1981, written commun., and Page, 1974.)

recharge, the water release from the compacted finegrained sediments does not occur and water levels decline rapidly. Land subsidence caused primarily by the oxidation and compaction of peat soils after marshlands were drained to grow crops has affected an area about 410



FIGURE 9.-Areas affected by land subsidence.

mi<sup>2</sup> near the confluence of the Sacramento and San Joaquin River systems (Poland and Evenson, 1966, and fig. 9). Based on a map by Newmarch (1981), an area of about 170 mi<sup>2</sup> has subsided at least 10 ft since reclamation began to 1980. Drainage for cultivation of this low-lying area began in 1850, and by at least 1922 the entire area was under cultivation (Weir, 1950). Today, the area is a complex system of manmade islands and channels. Prior to development much of the marshland was at or above sea level, but since development much of the area is below sea level and is continuing to subside about 3 in/yr (Newmarch, 1981). In some places as much as 40 ft of loose organic peat overlies the sediments. Weir (1950) estimated that subsidence in the lower Jones Tract was 4.5 ft for the period 1902 (when the tract was first drained) to 1917. Poland and Evenson (1966) reported that subsidence on one island was more than 9 ft from 1922 to 1955, and Newmarch (1981, p. 135) reported a maximum of 21 ft on one island as of 1980.

Perhaps the most critical problem in the area near the confluence of the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers is that the peat lands continue to subside. To allow farming, the water table in the islands has to be lowered by pumping water out of drains and discharging into the rivers, thus increasing the hydraulic gradient from the river toward the island.

Compaction of deposits above the water table after water was applied at the surface (called hydrocompaction) has been documented in a few areas on the west and south ends of the San Joaquin Valley (Bull, 1964; Lofgren, 1969; Poland and others, 1975, p. H8). The total area that was affected by hydrocompaction in the San Joaquin Valley is about 210 mi<sup>2</sup> (fig. 9). Subsidence of 5 to 10 ft is common in these areas and, locally, subsidence of 15 ft has been observed (Poland and Evenson, 1966, p. 244).

Compaction of deposits beneath the aquifer system caused by fluid withdrawal from oil and gas fields may cause local land subsidence. Lofgren (1975, p. D33) noted that subsidence around oil fields south and west of Bakersfield was generally less than 1 ft during the period of leveling from 1935 to 1965. However, the maximum amount of subsidence may have occurred earlier because peak production from these fields was before 1935. Lofgren and Ireland (1973) noted that some subsidence caused by fluid withdrawal from oil and gas fields in the Sacramento Valley may have also occurred, although data are sparse. Similarly, Newmarch (1981, p. 140) indicated that as much as a foot of subsidence could be attributed to the removal of fluids from a few gas fields near the Delta and noted that the subsidence was probably limited to areas close to the fields.

Little information is available for the rates of tectonic downwarping in the Central Valley. Lofgren (1975) in-

dicated that structural downwarping has been uniform since the Pleistocene in the southwestern part of the San Joaquin Valley based on calculations of average depositional rates from carbon-14 dates and that the rate of downwarping is sufficiently slow that it has not affected the historical span of leveling. Newmarch (1981, p. 138) estimated a rate of tectonic downwarping of 0.006 in/yr for the southern end of the Sacramento Valley, assuming that downwarping began 6 million years ago, that the approximately 3,000 ft of alluvial materials were deposited at sea level, and that the base of these deposits moved downward owing to tectonic downwarping. Evidence of tectonic movement was noted by Poland and others (1975, p. H8) in the southern Coast Ranges near the southwestern end of the Central Valley and in the Tehachapi Mountains to the south, where apparent movements of as much as 0.8 ft have been measured at bench marks. During the period of development in the Central Valley (about 130 years), the overall effect of this process on the total observed land subsidence has been minimal compared with the effect of other processes.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was aided by generous assistance from several sources. The staff of the California Department of Water Resources provided a computer-tape file of more than 450,000 water-level measurements. Joe Kutska, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, provided similar data for more than 100,000 measurements. John Renning, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, provided data on the historic Delta outflow and soil-moisture budgets. Phil Lorens and Arvey Swanson, California Department of Water Resources, provided data for drillers' logs in the Sacramento and part of the San Joaquin Valley, respectively.

#### MODEL DEVELOPMENT

A three-dimensional ground-water-flow model, developed for this study, was used to analyze the aquifer system in the valley. This section describes (1) the concepts and development of the flow model, (2) the initial estimates of recharge, discharge, and hydraulic properties of the aquifer system used in the model, and (3) the procedure used to calibrate the flow model by modifying the initial estimates of recharge, discharge, and aquifer properties.

#### SIMULATION OF GROUND-WATER FLOW

Ground-water flow in the Central Valley was simulated with a finite-difference model. A finitedifference model is a set of ground-water-flow equations with representative aquifer properties which can describe ground-water flow in the aquifer system. The set of ground-water-flow equations then can be solved simultaneously with the aid of a computer. A computer program written by Trescott (1975) and modified by Trescott and Larson (1976) and Torak (1982) was chosen for this study because (1) it simulates ground-water flow in three dimensions, (2) it has been successfully used to simulate ground-water flow in many aquifer systems, and (3) it has been successfully modified to incorporate the effects of inelastic compaction of fine-grained sediments in an aquifer system near Houston, Tex. (Meyer and Carr, 1979). The three-dimensional groundwater-flow equation the program solves simultaneously can be written as follows (Trescott, 1975, eq. 3):

$$S_{S}\frac{\partial h}{\partial t} + w(x, y, z, t) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left( Kxx \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left( Kyy \frac{\partial h}{\partial y} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left( Kzz \frac{\partial h}{\partial z} \right)$$
(1)

where

- h = hydraulic head, in feet;
- Ss = specific storage, in feet<sup>-1</sup>;
- w = volumetric flux of recharge/discharge per unit volume, in seconds<sup>-1</sup>;
- t = time, in seconds;

$$Kxx, Kyy =$$
 hydraulic conductivity in the principal  
horizontal directions, in feet per second;

- *Kzz* = hydraulic conductivity in the vertical direction, in feet per second, and
- x, y, z = cartesian coordinates.

To solve the three-dimensional ground-water-flow equation, Trescott's program replaces the continuous derivatives in the flow equation with finite-difference approximations at a point or node. An example of a group of nodes used in the finite-difference approximation is shown in figure 10. Surrounding each node is a block with dimensions x, y, and z in which the hydraulic properties are assumed to be uniform. The result is Nnumber of unknown head values at N nodes, which results in N number of equations, where N is the number of blocks that represent the aquifer system.

In Trescott's program, the time derivative  $\frac{\partial h}{\partial t}$  is approximated by the backward-difference technique (Remson and others, 1971, p. 78). The approximation for each node may be given as

$$\frac{\partial h}{\partial t} = \frac{(h_i - h_o)}{\Delta t} , \qquad (2)$$

where

- $h_o$  = the hydraulic head in a node at the beginning of a time step, in feet;
- $h_i$  = the hydraulic head in a node at the end of a time step (unknown), in feet; and
- $\Delta t =$  the time-step interval, in seconds.



FIGURE 10.—Node array for finite-difference formulation showing model block associated with node i, j, k. (From Bennett and others, 1982.)

The program solves the unknown head for each time step using the strongly implicit procedure (Trescott, 1975, p. 11). This is done by iterating through the finitedifference equations for each node until the head change between the previous iteration and the current iteration is less than a specified amount for all nodes. Once this criterion is met, the program advances to a new timestep interval and the process of computing head values at each node is repeated. Both the ground-water-flow equation and the numerical technique are discussed in detail in Trescott (1975) and Trescott and Larson (1976). In the following paragraphs, the basic concepts and structure of the model are described.

## GENERAL CONCEPTS AND FEATURES OF THE MODEL

In general, ground water moves from the margins of the valley toward the center and, since development, to major pumping centers. A simplified section (fig. 11A) shows the general patterns of recharge, discharge, and ground-water flow at present (1983) in the Central Valley aquifer system. The computer model can simulate many elements of the real aquifer system, as shown in figure 11B, including recharge from precipitation, streams, and irrigation return flow, and discharge as evapotranspiration, to streams as baseflow, and to wells as pumpage. The aquifer system is heterogeneous and consists of many discontinuous beds of clay, silt, sand, and gravel. The model simulates the heterogeneity in the aquifer system by (1) varying the aquifer proper-

#### A. Aquifer System



#### B. Model of the Aquifer System



NOT TO SCALE

Vertical leakance (Tk) values between layers are calculated by dividing the harmonic mean of the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer materials by the thickness between nodes. Tk layers 2 and 3 may be increased by wells that are screened in both layers 2 and 3 and less frequently in layers 3 and 4. Discharge from all wells in the block simulated at the node.

FIGURE 11.—Conceptualization of (A) the aquifer system and (B) a model of the aquifer system.

ties from block to block and (2) averaging values to represent the aggregate of the heterogeneity within each block.

#### Dividing the Aquifer System Into Finite-Difference Blocks

The aquifer system was divided into blocks by superimposing a grid over a map of the study area and orienting it such that a minimum number of the blocks were outside the study area. A uniform planimetric grid spacing of 6 mi by 6 mi was used in the study (fig. 12). The vertical dimensions of the blocks vary and are incorporated into several terms that quantify the aquifer properties. For example, the horizontal transmissivity term for each node equals the product of the thickness of the block and the average horizontal hydraulic conductivity of the sediments. Similarly, the leakance (Tk) term, which affects vertical flow between layers, equals the equivalent vertical hydraulic conductivity divided by the thickness).

The valley was also subdivided by grouping model blocks into areas and subareas for analysis (see fig. 27). In the San Joaquin Valley, subarea boundaries approximate the ground-water-management boundaries outlined by the California Department of Water Resources (1980).

Four model layers were used to simulate the threedimensional flow in the Central Valley aquifer system. The lowest model layer (layer 1 in fig. 11*B*) consists of the continental deposits below the depth penetrated by any production wells in the area. Most of the pumpage comes from layers 3 and 4. The division between the water table (layer 4) and the lower pumped zone (layer 3) was determined on the basis of the following criteria:

1. In areas where there was a large amount of wellconstruction data, the division between the shallow and the deep zones (model layers 3 and 4) was based on the vertical zonation of perforation intervals. A depth near which the majority of wells had no perforation was chosen as the boundary between the two zones.

2. In most of the area where the E-clay, which includes the Corcoran Clay Member of the Tulare Formation (Croft, 1972, p. 18), has been mapped, the division made by the criteria coincided with the depth above the E-clay. In the Westside subarea, the division based on criterion 1 was above the Corcoran Clay Member. The E-clay underlies more than half of the San Joaquin Valley (Croft, 1972, pl. 4).

3. In the remaining areas, the division was interpolated and extrapolated from adjacent areas.

Layer 2 extends to the depth of the deepest wells in the area. In model blocks where the wells are not as deep as they are in the adjacent general area, layer 3 extends to the deepest wells in the block. This layer definition reduces the effect of well leakage between nonadjacent layers (model layers 2 and 4) and allows for a simple adjustment of the Tk term between adjacent layers to account for well leakage during transient analyses (Bennett and others, 1982, p. 338).

Transmissivities were assumed constant in all model layers, including the uppermost layer, which incorporated the water table. Commonly, the transmissivity of the uppermost layer is allowed to vary depending on the saturated thickness in the layer, which can change during a simulation period owing to pumping or recharge. However, unless the changes in the water table are large compared with the thickness of the uppermost model layer, the change in the transmissivity is small and assigning a constant value makes little difference. In simulating the Central Valley aquifer from 1961 to 1977, the water table in a few model nodes in the uppermost layer changed about 60 ft but the initial saturated thickness was more than 500 ft. The maximum error in assuming a constant transmissivity was 12 percent, which is within the limits of this large-scale study.

#### BOUNDARIES

The modeled aquifer system is surrounded by impermeable (no flow) boundaries except at Suisun Bay (fig. 12). Generally, the boundaries along the west side of the valley and beneath the aquifer system represent less permeable marine deposits; along the east side, the boundary is represented by less permeable igneous or metamorphic rocks. At the south end of the Central Valley, the boundary of the modeled aquifer system is the White Wolf fault, which acts as a barrier to flow (Wood and Dale, 1964). At the north end, the boundary is the Red Bluff arch, which is a series of low-lying hills consisting of northeast-trending anticlines and synclines. The series of hills acts as a barrier to groundwater flow (California Department of Water Resources, 1978, p. 39). In addition, both the Sutter Buttes and the Kettleman Hills within the valley restrict ground-water flow and were assumed virtually impermeable (Page, 1986, fig. 2 and p. C19).

Along the three model blocks that coincide with the discharge point (Suisun Bay) of the San Joaquin and Sacramento Rivers (fig. 12), constant hydraulic heads were specified in all model runs in the uppermost model layer (layer 4 in fig. 11*B*). During steady-state (predevelopment) simulations, the hydraulic head in the entire model layer 4 was held constant to aid in estimating recharge and discharge.

#### SIMULATION OF LAND SUBSIDENCE

The computer program of Trescott (1975) was modified to account for the release of water from the inelastic (ir-

reversible) compaction of clay beds in the aquifer system. In general, the ratio of subsidence to head decline in an aquifer system, which is related to the irreversible compaction of the clayey beds, is small until after the head





declines below the preconsolidation head (a critical head); then the ratio of subsidence to head decline increases to a constant (Holzer, 1981). Water released from storage during the interval of head decline when the aquifer head is still above the preconsolidation stress comes mostly from expansion of the water and elastic compression of the aquifer materials (referred to in this report as "elastic storage"). Water released from storage in the interval of head declines when the aguifer head is below the preconsolidation stress comes mostly from the compaction of the clayey beds (referred to in this report as "inelastic storage"). Riley (1969) compared the compaction measured in an extensometer with head declines in an area in southeastern San Joaquin Valley and noted that the relation between compaction and head declines changed during large annual head fluctuations. Compaction was small and recoverable (elastic) during the initial part of the seasonal head decline. However, when heads declined below a certain altitude, which also declined each year, compaction per unit head decline increased and compaction became mostly irreversible (inelastic). Riley (1969) interpreted the head where the change in the rate of compaction to unit head decline occurred to be the new man-induced preconsolidation stress.

When pumping of ground water ceases, as in the example of seasonal pumping for irrigation in the Central Valley, head recovers and, in general, the compaction of the clayey beds ceases. The amount of water that can be stored in the aquifer system during the recovery period by elastic storage is much less than the amount released by inelastic compaction. If the head declines again, because of pumping of ground water, compaction of the clayey beds will not recur until the head in these beds again decreases below the preconsolidation stress, providing that residual compaction from the previous drawdown phase has been completed (Poland and Davis, 1969, p. 263). The amount of water released from storage during the same interval of head decline that occurred during the first drawdown period (assuming the head recovered to the initial level) is much less for the second drawdown period. This concept is illustrated in figure 13A. Poland (1961, p. B54) estimated that as little as 10 percent of the water released during the first drawdown period in which the clayey beds were compacted would be released by elastic compression of the clayey beds in a subsequent recovery of head to the initial level and a head decline over the same interval, again assuming that residual compaction from the previous drawdown period was largely complete.

In a real compacting system, the mechanics of subsidence are not as simple as shown in figure 13A. For example, at the Pixley well-field site (23S/25E-16N), about 3 mi south of Pixley, compaction was approximately 3 ft for the period 1959-71 yet the long-term head decline was negligible (fig. 13B). Helm (1975) related this to the continued compaction in the middle of the thicker clayey beds because of the time needed for pressure head changes to reach the middle of these beds. The cyclic nature of the compaction curve is produced by the seasonal periods of drawdown; during each seasonal drawdown period, the middle zones of the clayey beds were equilibrated to a new, lower head before the head in the more permeable zones of the aquifer recovered. Helm (1978, p. 195) estimated that the time for nonrecoverable compaction to be complete, assuming that the head was lowered instantaneously a specified amount and remained constant, was 5 years for the Pixley site. At six other sites in the San Joaquin Valley, it ranged from 40 to 1.350 years.

The modification used in the Central Valley flow model differs from the method used by Meyer and Carr (1979) in a study near Houston, Tex. In the Central Valley flow model, values of lowest critical heads (hydraulic head at which inelastic compaction of the clay beds begins) and inelastic storage are read into the computer program for each block in model layers 2 and 3. These layers were the intervals where compaction of the clayey beds was most prevalent in the aquifer system. Meyer and Carr (1979), in their analysis, assumed that the initial critical heads were 80 ft below the initial hydraulic heads (predevelopment or steady-state heads) and a single multiplier was used to change the storage value from elastic (recoverable) to inelastic (nonrecoverable). However, in this study the calibration period (1961–77) began when subsidence in the aquifer system had been occurring for many years. Therefore, the approach used in this study allowed for an inelastic storage to be simulated in the first time step when the starting head was below the critical head. The approach also allowed for varying inelastic-storage values from block to block because of differences in the percentage of fine-grained (clayey) beds.

The modification in the computer program allows for the compacting clayey beds within a model layer, in an individual block, at the start of a time step to respond with either an elastic- or an inelastic-storage value depending on whether or not the hydraulic head is below the lowest previous critical head. If the initial hydraulic head (starting water level) is above the initial critical head, the elastic-storage value is used until the hydraulic head falls below the critical head (see fig. 13*A*). When this happens, the elastic-storage value changes to an inelastic-storage value, associated with inelastic compaction, at the beginning of the next time step. The inelastic-storage value is used until the hydraulic head begins to recover; then the inelastic-storage value returns to the elastic-storage value, again at the beginning of the next time step, and the hydraulic head at which recovery started is recorded as a new critical head. When the hydraulic head falls below the new critical head, the elastic-storage value is changed to an inelastic-storage value and the cycle repeats itself. Subsidence is computed only if the head declines below the critical head. It is calculated by multiplying the drop in head below the critical head by the inelastic-storage



FIGURE 13.—(A) Relation of storage coefficient to the hydraulic head in a compacting interval of the aquifer system, and (B) hydrograph and compaction record for a well in the Tulare Basin. Location shown in figure 2.

coefficient. This value is calculated at the end of a time step and is accumulated throughout the simulation.

The modification has a few drawbacks. First, the change in head in an aquifer system actually propogates slowly through the included clayey beds in the vertical direction because of the low vertical hydraulic conductivity and the large inelastic specific storage of the clayey beds. This causes a gradual rather than an abrupt release of water from inelastic storage. In the simulations, however, all of the water is released from inelastic storage within the time step in which the head change occurs. Therefore, the time lag between stress change and compaction is not adequately simulated. This error is mostly canceled when looking at periods of several years or more. Second, the inelastic-storage term is assumed constant even though laboratory consolidometer tests of small clay samples indicate that the amount of water released from inelastic storage is a function of the applied stress. In addition, the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the compacting clayey beds, in theory, decreases as the beds are compacted. However, on the basis of soil consolidation theory, Helm (1977) was able to simulate the total compaction with reasonable results at seven sites in the San Joaquin Valley for periods of decades using constant values for aquifer properties.

In the computer program, the change from an elasticstorage value to an inelastic-storage value or vice versa was done at the beginning of each time step even though the change actually occurred during the previous time step. This means that unless small time steps are used in the simulation, the change from one storage value to another could lag greatly, thus causing errors in the simulation. A better technique would be to have the storage values change while iterating through the finitedifference equations within the time step. However, attempts to do this caused instability in the program and the difference in computed head values between iterations did not converge to an acceptable value.

#### ESTIMATES OF RECHARGE AND DISCHARGE

Methods used to estimate the initial values of recharge, discharge, and hydraulic properties of the aquifer system used in the simulations were selected on the basis of two criteria: (1) a method should be as independent as possible of the other methods being used in order to avoid situations in which an error or a wrong assumption would carry through the analysis, and (2) a method should be applicable throughout the valley so that if there is a bias error, at least the relative differences between one area and another would be apparent. These criteria eliminate some methods of estimation. However, the benefits of maintaining independence and consistency in a regional aquifer analysis were judged more important than being able to use all available methods.

Recharge and discharge can be considered at various scales of detail. The scale chosen is important because the hydraulic effect on some unit volume of the aquifer equals the difference between recharge and discharge in that unit. When a larger unit of the aquifer is considered, more canceling effects occur and, consequently, the variation of net recharge/discharge per unit area is smaller. Consideration of this principle requires that care be taken when comparing values of recharge/discharge. Because this is a regional analysis, the geographic units chosen (model blocks) were designed with a 6-mi<sup>2</sup>-grid spacing. Equal values of recharge and discharge within the same model block are ignored because their net effect on flow to or from adjacent nodes or deeper layers is zero. The total recharge minus the total discharge into or out of a particular model block of the aquifer system is termed "net recharge/discharge."

Surface-water bodies, such as rivers and lakes, can be recharging the aquifer system or receiving discharge from the aquifer system depending on head difference between the surface body and the aquifer at a particular location and time. Precipitation can recharge the aquifer directly through the soil. Irrigated agricultural land usually recharges the aquifer system by irrigation return flow but can receive discharge from the aquifer under particular conditions. Wells usually discharge water but can be used for recharge, although this is uncommon in the Central Valley.

The only component of net recharge/discharge that can be measured directly is pumpage. Because net recharge/discharge is a sum of components, there are many ways to categorize the components by type and in time or space. The result is that there appear to be many ways to calculate the components (Wilson and others, 1980). However, most of these methods can be classified as one of, or a combination of, the following four types.

1. *Proportional.*—The proportional method assumes that a constant proportion of the inflow term becomes ground-water recharge. The inflows are measured or estimated and the proportions are compared with or taken from values calculated from the results of other methods, such as the water-budget method. In evaluating recharge from irrigation return flow, this proportion is equal to 1 minus the irrigation efficiency minus the proportion of irrigation water that becomes surface runoff.

2. *Rate-time*.—The rate-time method is also called the infiltration-duration method. It uses the equation

$$Qr = iAt, (3)$$

- Qr = recharge volume in the specified time period, in acre-feet;
- i = infiltration rate, in feet per year;
- A = wetted area for infiltration, in acres; and
- t = time duration of infiltration during the time period, in years.

The infiltration rate (i), if measured, is measured for a short time and in a small area, and involves a small measured water budget (such as a stream-seepage measurement or a percolation test). This rate must be extrapolated in time and space, which is difficult owing to its high variability and its poor relation to other conditions.

3. Ground - water flow. — The ground - water - flow method assumes that the flow across a plane, as calculated by Darcy's law, is equal to the net recharge upgradient from that plane. This calculation is made by analytical techniques or simulation-model calibrations. This also assumes that the flow system is in equilibrium (steady-state condition) and that the aquifer properties are estimated correctly. This would be a poor method to use for input to a flow model because it violates the principle of independence.

4. *Water budget.*—The water-budget method is based on the continuity equation:

$$\Sigma$$
 Inflows –  $\Sigma$  Outflows +  $\Delta$  Storage = 0 (4)

The terms in this basic equation have been divided by many investigators in various ways. Net recharge/discharge is a component of one of the terms. It is assumed that all the significant components of each of these terms, except net recharge/discharge, can be measured or estimated. The equation is then used to solve for the dependent variable, net recharge/discharge, which is sometimes referred to as a residual quantity. In this type of equation, in which the dependent variable, net recharge/discharge, is equal to the difference of the independent terms, the random error in the dependent variable will be large if the difference between the independent terms is small relative to the size of the terms themselves.

There are also various ways to extrapolate the results of the methods described above to other locations or other time periods. These include other types of regression models that relate net recharge/discharge to flow, storage, or conveyance properties of water sources.

The water-budget method was the principal method used in this study because budgets could be designed to minimize the random error by adhering to the following guidelines:

1. Categorizing components so that recharge was

relatively large compared with the other terms in the equation.

2. Choosing budget-unit boundaries at points where: a. reasonably accurate data for flows across boundaries were available;

b. the number of significant flow components was minimal;

c. boundaries are compatible with other flow components such that water is not missed or counted twice; and d. the geographic units for which average flow components are calculated are similar in size to the nodal spacing for the ground-water model.

Recharge and discharge values were estimated for the 17-year period 1961–77 by several types of water budgets. This period was chosen because recent data were available and because it includes a variety of dry and wet conditions as well as changes in water development. These stresses on the ground-water system aid in understanding the flow system because they require a more rigorous test of the simulation and the concepts upon which it is based. The estimates of the various components of recharge and discharge are given in appendix A.

The model does not automatically adjust certain components of recharge and discharge, as might be desired for head-dependant functions such as river leakage or evapotranspiration. By regression analysis, the authors found that the dominant factors affecting recharge and discharge rates in the aquifer system are the amount of surface-water flow, land use, and canal systems; these factors affect net recharge/discharge more than the head change in the aquifer. Therefore, the authors did not use the head-dependent function for net recharge/discharge in the model.

#### STREAMFLOW

Streamflow losses (ground-water recharge) and streamflow gains (ground-water discharge) were estimated by Mullen and Nady (1985) using the waterbudget method. This was done for all major streams, for each reach bounded by gages, according to the following equation:

$$Loss = Q_{uns} + Q_{in} - ET - D_{iv} - Q_{dns}$$
(5)

where (all in acre-feet per year):

 $Q_{ups} =$  flow at the upstream gage;

- $Q_{in}$  = inflow from tributaries or drains;
- ET = evapotranspiration from the channel and riparian vegetation;
- $D_{iv}$  = diversions for irrigation; and
- $Q_{dns}$  = flow at the downstream gage.

Generally, all of these terms except ET are measured quantities, except where part of the record has been

estimated. Evapotranspiration cannot be measured from riparian vegetation with any degree of accuracy.

Evapotranspiration from streams and riparian vegetation was not estimated because of uncertainty about the width of the channel and adjacent land with riparian vegetation and uncertainly about the evapotranspiration rate. Therefore, the stream-loss values estimated for the simulation model include evapotranspiration from the stream surface and from riparian vegetation. This error was considered in the calibration process, which is described later. The stream-loss values also include some unmeasured accretions (gains) from surface drains and unmeasured diversions for irrigation. In the Sacramento River, unmeasured gains from small creeks are of significant size. This causes an underestimate of stream losses and a corresponding overestimate of ungaged runoff infiltration. The Tule River also has unmeasured diversions that are significant. This causes an overestimate of stream losses and a corresponding underestimate of irrigation return flow.

The results of the stream-water budgets for 69 reaches of 20 major streams are summarized by Mullen and Nady (1985) and in table 1. The total length of the gaged reaches of major stream channels (accounting for 30.1 of the 31.7 million acre-ft/yr mean inflow) in the valley is about 1,200 mi. Average annual rates of exchange in the different reaches ranged from a gain of 13,400 to a loss of 23,800 acre-ft/yr per mile of channel. The sum of gaining reaches was 1,300, and the sum of losing reaches was 1,650 acre-ft/yr. These values were prorated and summed for each model block on the basis of the proportion of the length of the reach in the model block.

The minor streams that are gaged account for 7 percent (2.1 million acre-ft/yr) of the valley's inflow. Other minor streams that are not gaged account for less than 1 percent of the total inflow (Nady and Larragueta, 1983b). Ungaged flow was estimated by a multipleregression analysis based on 60 gaged small streams. Most of the flow of the ungaged minor streams is applied on fields as artificial recharge.

#### PRECIPITATION

Ground-water recharge by precipitation occurs when precipitation is greater than the potential evapotranspiration and when the soil-moisture storage capacity is full. In general, precipitation exceeds potential evapotranspiration in the winter while the reverse is true in the summer; thus, most of the ground-water recharge from precipitation occurs during the winter and spring months. The method of estimating ground-water recharge from precipitation is described below.

Estimates of monthly soil-moisture budgets for the 50-year period 1922 through 1971 were computed for

native vegetation by the California Department of Water Resources and the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (John Renning, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, written commun., 1979). They assumed 2-, 3-, and 4-ft rooting depths for the Sacramento Valley, Delta, and San Joaquin Valley areas, respectively, and a moisture-holding capacity of 1.5 in per foot of root depth to determine soil-moisture storage capacity. The monthly precipitation that exceeds monthly potential evapotranspiration is added to soil-moisture storage until the capacity is filled. Excess precipitation for any month is accumulated with the excess precipitation from previous months of that year and becomes a recharge value for the groundwater system. The soil-moisture storage is carried over into the summer, when it is depleted because the potential evapotranspiration exceeds precipitation. Linear regressions for the three areas were computed, relating excess precipitation to annual precipitation. The results are shown in table 2. Total precipitation on the valley floor averages about 12.4 million acre-ft/yr. Excess precipitation, which averages 1.5 million acre-ft/yr, includes ground-water recharge and surface runoff. The surface runoff is not added in any other water-budget term, so it is counted here even though it may actually become recharge downgradient in the valley. Total annual precipitation for each model block was estimated on the basis of mean annual precipitation (fig. 4) and measured ratios of annual to mean annual precipitation for each year during the period 1961-77.

#### IRRIGATION

Recharge and discharge resulting from irrigation is very important in understanding the aquifer system in the Central Valley because 57 percent of the total area of 20,000 mi<sup>2</sup> is irrigated. During 1961–77, water use for irrigation averaged about 22 million acre-ft/yr.

To determine net recharge/discharge from irrigated areas and unlined canals, a water budget was designed to examine the artificial components (such as canal losses and irrigation return flow) of the hydrologic cycle, which have greater values than the natural components because of extensive agricultural development. A major component in many areal water budgets is evapotranspiration. Estimation of evapotranspiration is difficult and subject to large errors. However, evaluation of the artificial components of the cycle allows the use of evapotranspiration values from irrigated agriculture, where the environment is much more uniform. The relatively uniform agricultural evapotranspiration contributes less variation and uncertainty to the water-budget analysis.

The spatial boundaries chosen for a water budget of irrigated lands are land surface at the top and the depth

of crop roots at the bottom and, horizontally, the model block boundaries or the boundaries of geographic units of similar size whose data could be translated to model blocks by an areal proportion.

The water budget is defined as follows:

Inflow Outflow  $(SW + GW) - (ETAW + GWR_4) \pm \Delta SMS = 0,$  (6)

where

- SW = surface inflow, measured at the diversion point to an area, minus surface outflow, if any, from that area;
- GW = pumped ground water;
- ETAW = evapotranspiration of applied water;
- $GWR_4$  = recharge to the top layer (layer 4); and
- $\Delta SMS$  = change in soil moisture storage in time (using 1-year intervals,  $\Delta SMS$  is assumed to be zero).

This calculation includes recharge from irrigated areas with recharge from unlined distribution canals; this approach has several advantages in addition to making it possible to consider one less term. A regional scale analysis does not require detailed separation of hydrologic features. Flow measurements of smaller, unlined distribution canals (such as ditchtender records) usually are approximate and may contain significant errors. This equation also makes  $GWR_4$  as large as possible compared with the other terms, and this tends to minimize the effects of errors in the smaller terms.

Removing  $\Delta SMS$  from equation 6 and solving for  $GWR_4$ ,

$$GWR_4 = SW + GW - ETAW. \tag{7}$$

Separating GW into layers of origin, layer 4 (top) and layer 3 (deeper),

$$GWR_4 = SW + GW_4 + GW_3 - ETAW.$$
(8)

For a water-table aquifer, assuming the time lag for recharge is less than the periods of interest for modeling, the net recharge between the upper land surface and the water table is the desired result. This assumption was tested by checking response-time lags in water-table well hydrographs; it appears to be valid for simulation periods of 6 months to 1 year for much of the valley. The net recharge/discharge to the water table (net  $R/D_4$ ) is then

$$\operatorname{Net} R/D_4 = GWR_4 - GW_4. \tag{9}$$

Substituting equation 8 into equation 9 gives

$$Net R/D_4 = (SW + GW_4 + GW_3 - ETAW) - GW_4.$$
(10)

 $GW_4$  cancels out, yielding

$$Net R/D_4 = SW - ETAW + GW_3.$$
(11)

The net recharge/discharge (net  $R/D_3$ ) for the lower pumped zone (model layer 3) is

$$\operatorname{Net} R/D_3 = -GW_3. \tag{12}$$

Equations 11 and 12 indicate that pumpage from the lower zone (layer 3) can be represented in the water budgets as a transfer of water to the water table (layer 4). Adding these two equations together shows that where the layer definition can be ignored, the composite net flow (net F) is

$$NetF = NetR/D_3 + NetR/D_4 = SW - ETAW.$$
(13)

Equation 13 has the advantage of having only one component that needs to be estimated because net surface inflow (SW) is measured.

Ideally, all components should be calculated for identical areas. However, the most accurate land-use and surface-water data are not collected or summarized for areas that have coincidental boundaries. Therefore, it was necessary to apportion the data values among model blocks on the basis of the area in that model block.

Surface-water-delivery data for the San Joaquin Valley and southern Delta areas were collected as irrigation district totals and prorated to the model blocks in each district. The evenness of distribution within a district varies from one district to another, but the distribution was compared in the Turlock Irrigation District against more detailed records of deliveries. In that district, which is large and has a large supply of surface water, the assumption of uniform distribution was adequate for the water years tested, 1962 and 1970.

In the Sacramento Valley, surface-water-delivery data are often misleading. Because of the abundance of water, much of the water delivered drains off one field to another field or to another irrigation district downslope. There is very little detailed data for drain flows. Therefore, it is possible to count water delivered to crops more than once. The most detailed surface-water-use data available are estimated from land use and unit applied-water values (Bloyd, 1978, p. 120). Another source of error in these data is the practice of determining from aerial photographs whether the fields are irrigated by surface water or ground water. Many fields are equipped for both types of irrigation, so it is difficult to determine which is used primarily. To make adjustments for these errors, water budgets for subareas 12 to 15 (fig. 27) were developed.

From these subareas, the ratios of net surface water used to total delivered average 77, 47, 57, and 83 percent, respectively. These ratios were used to adjust downward the total surface-water delivery presented by

D23

#### REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

				1961-77 mean				
Stream name	Reach	Upstream gage	Reach length (mi)	Inflow	Diversion	Losses (negative shows_gains	Standard deviation ) of loss	Unit loss (1000 (acre- ft/yr)/mi)
					(1000 a	cre-ft/yr)		
Kern River	1	Below Isabella Dam	19.9	646.0	0.0	12.7	14	0.6
	2	Near Democrat Springs	23.8	636.3	0.0	-24.0	28	-1.0
	3	Near Bakersfield	20.7	678.1	427	67.3	89	3.3
			64.4		427	56.1		0.9
Tule River	1	Below Success Dam	11.9	141.8	69.1	18.2	8.7	1.5
	2	Below Porterville	2.7	54.5	0.0	20.1	21	7.5
	3	At Oettle Bridge	23.0	34.4	0.0	18.4	27	0.8
	4	Porter Slough at Porterville	5.9	15.1	2.0	6.4 2 1	9.3	1.1
	5	toroci orougn neur rorocivine	47.2		71.1	65.3		1.4
Kaweah River	1	Below Terminus Dam	2.8	421.3	71.7	-11.8	6.4	-4.2
	2	Below McKays Point	4.5	215.2	82.5	-2.0	5.5	-0.5
	3	Below Peoples Ditch	9.5	158.1	117	20.2	4.9	2.1
	4	St. Johns below Mckays Point	27.1	202.3	90.1	46.7	29	1.7
			43.9		362	53.0		1.2
Kings River	1	Below Pine Flat Dam	21.9	1.707	956	-53.8	34	-2.5
-	2	At Reedly Narrows	13.0	805.4	184	16.5	27	1.3
	3	Below Peoples Weir	16.9	605.4	263	65.9	15	3.9
	4	Below Lemoore Weir	5.4	276.5	90.2	10.1	4.5	1.9
	5 6	North Fork below Island Weir Fresno Slough below	5.3	176.2	17.0	4.9	7.1	0.9
		Crescent Weir	9.5	154.2	6.7	11.2	14	1.2
	7	Fresno Slough at Stinson Weir	18.1	136.3	3.2	4.6	12	0.3
	8	South Fork below Army Weir	37.6	86.7	59.0	4.5 63.9	11	0.1
			127.7		1,570	03.9		0.5
San Joaquin River	1	Below Friant Dam	64.9	2,697	2,250	165	30	2.5
	2	Near Mendota	20.7	283.4	164	6.9	16	0.3
	3	Chowchilla Bypass at Head	81.0	458.1	0.0	-42 2	92	-0.9
	5	Near Stevinson	7.3	510.1	0.0	157	530	21
	6	At Fremont Ford	7.0	1,124	1.6	157	260	22
	7	Near Newman	9.9	1,006	7.1	-44.8	38	-4.5
	8	At Crows Landing Bridge	9.5	1,590	63.1	-62.1	11	-6.5
	9	At Patterson Bridge	20.7	1,610	107	-44.2	130	-2.1
	10	At haze Koad Bridge	272.9	2,370	2,600	392	,	1.4
Fresno River	1	Near Daulton	14.8	107.9	54.4	3.4	14	0.2
	2	At Madera	8.2	51.8	0.0	9.7	8.9	1.2
			23.0		54.4	13.1		0.6
Chowchilla River	1	Below Buchanan Dam	13.0	164.0	0.0	4.9	17	0.4
Newsel Di				0/7 6	F 6 /	0 5	10	-0.1
nercea kiver	1 2	Delow Merced Falls Below Snelling	7.3 18.7	86/10 320 0	534 317	-0.5	20	-3.2
	3	Near Cressey	23.6	362.1	17.6	-43.9	10	-1.9
	-	-7	49.6		584	-104.6		-2.1
Tuolumne River	1	Below Lagrange Dam	20.7	1,488	898	-90.7	42	-4.4
	2	At Hickman Bridge	16.3	756.7	1.3	-33.9	32	-2.1
	3	At Modesto	13.0	790.7	6.5	-44.1	47	-3.4
			50.0		906	-168.7		-3.4

#### TABLE 1.—Summary of major stream losses and gains [Totals may not agree because of rounding]

D24

#### MODEL DEVELOPMENT

#### TABLE 1.—Summary of major stream losses and gains—Continued [Totals may not agree because of rounding]

				1961-77 mean				
Stream name	Reach	Upstream gage	Reach l'ength (mi)	Inflow	Diversion s (1000 ac	Losses (negative shows gains cre-ft/yr)	Standard deviation ) of loss	Unit loss (1000 (acre- ft/yr)/mi)
Stanislaus River	1	At Goodwin Dam	11.0	1,054	519	-40.7	33	-3.7
	2	At Diverbank	13.6	5/5./	1.5	-3.2	37	-0.2
	4	At Rippe	10.7	5658 2	3.0	-07.2	38	-4.0
	-	At Ripon	48.0		528	-113.6		-2.4
Calaveras River	1	Below New Hogan Dam	6.8	139.2	0.0	-1.5	1.5	-0.2
	2	At Jenny Lind	11.1	249.0	2.7	13.7	18	1.2
	3	At Bellota	16.8	30.1	2.8	17.7	7.1	1.1
			34.7		5.5	29.9		0.9
Mokelumne River	1	Below Comanche Dam	24.3	499.8	118.1	48.0	17	2.0
Comsumnes River	1	At Michigan Bar	25.5	346.4	9.8	2.5	17	0.1
American River	1	At Fair Oaks	16.0	2614	34.6	382	140	24
Yuba River	1	Below Englebright Dam	17.8	1848	188	-49.0	71	-2.8
Feather River	1	At Oroville	15 6	4 310	582	-10.9	57	-0.7
	2	Near Gridley	21.7	3,550	42.0	-178	120	-8.2
	3	At Yuba City	5.0	5,391	0.7	-3.9	130	-0.8
	4	Below Shanghai Bend	13.8	5,738	56.6	-186	220	-13
			56.1		681	-378		-6.7
Samanata Dimut			10.0				50	1.0
Sacramento River-	1	Near Red Bluff Near Vina Bridge	43.2			44.0	58	1.0
	3	At Hamilton City	17.0			-3.3	56	1.2
	4	At Ord Ferry	15.0			-1.6	64	11
	5	Butte City	26.4			1.5	54	.06
	6	At Colusa	26.5			-30.3	66	-1.1
	7	Below Wilkins Slough	28.9			-106	54	-3.7
	8	At Knights Landing	14.4			41.4	53	2.9
	9	At Verona	19.0			-16.6	74	87
			209.1			-51		-0.2
Stony Creek	1	Below Black Butte Dam	18.5	421.5	72.7	49.1	18	2.7
Cache Creek	1	At Rumsey	21.3	507.6	0.0	-0.2	19	0.0
	2	Near Capay	20.3	530.1	134	23.2	18	1.1
			41.6		134	23.0		0.6
But als Car 1		Marca Mintere		o		10.0	<b>F</b> 2	
rucan creek	1	Near Winters Below Winters	10.9	346.2	181	13.9	5.0 5.6	1.3
	2	Above Davis	4.3	111.3	0.1	1.3	4.6	0.6
	5		20.8		181	18.3		0.9
		TOTAL	1,204.1			336		0.3

<sup>1</sup>Sacramento River flows are for the April to October (7 month) period; they are not annual figures. Inflow and diversions not listed.

Bloyd (1978, p. 130–132). Though reported by Bloyd as totals for townships (36 mi<sup>2</sup>), these data were available on a quarter-township basis (Phil Lorens, California Department of Water Resources, unpub. data, 1978). These values were available only for 1961 and 1970; therefore, they were adjusted for other years on the basis of a regression of known surface-water diversions for the other major streams (Mullen and Nady, 1985). This regression accounted for variation from wet years to dry years and for long-term trends. Evapotranspiration (ET) of applied water values was calculated on the basis of land-use data, which are summarized for 7.5-minute quadrangles of latitude and longitude, and unit ET values. Each quadrangle includes an area about 1.64 times the area of a model block. Details of estimating evapotranspiration of applied water are presented by Williamson (1982). Average unit ET of applied-water values was used, causing an overestimate in wet years and an underestimate in dry years. The variation in ET between dry and wet years, however, is small.

Pumpage data were collected for quarter township areas (0.25 times the area of the model block). Pumpage data were estimated from power consumption records and from pumping plant efficiency tests (Diamond and Williamson, 1983). Data for missing years were estimated by regression analysis. Estimates were not available for most of the Delta area. Pumpage in the Delta area was estimated for the simulations by the water-budget method assuming an irrigation efficiency of 55 percent, estimated values of crop needs (ET of applied water), and amounts of surface water diverted for irrigation.

There is some error in all the prorations. The effect of these errors is equivalent to a transfer of a volume of water from a model block to an adjacent model block. For this reason, constant additive adjustments to net recharge estimates were calibrated for each model block to account for balancing the errors in the volumes between adjacent model blocks.

The proportion of pumpage from the deeper zone in the aquifer was estimated by several methods. These methods assume that the proportion of flow from different zones into a well is proportional to the length of perforations in that zone. In the Central Valley, irrigation well casings are usually perforated throughout the lower two-thirds of the well depth. Construction data for more than 3,300 irrigation and public-supply wells were used to calculate the proportion of perforated intervals in each zone for each model block. To extend this analysis, discharge water temperature measurements for 35,000 pumping plant efficiency tests from about 13,000 wells were analyzed. Temperature data from 3,000 wells having construction information established a relation between temperature and perforated interval. TABLE 2.—Regression results—Excess precipitation (PPT<sub>ex</sub>) as a function of annual precipitation (PPT)

equation: $PPT_{ex} = m PPT + b$					
Area	Slope(m)	Intercept(b)	R <sup>2</sup>		
Sacramento	0.64	-9.1	0.85		
Delta	0.63	-7.3	0.79		
San Joaquin	0.64	-6.2	0.64		

This relation was used to approximate perforated intervals for each of the 13,000 wells. These approximate predicted perforated intervals were used to estimate the proportion of perforated intervals in each zone. These proportions were averaged with those previously determined using appropriate weighting factors. Where no data existed, the proportion was interpolated from adjacent areas. The effect of errors in estimating these proportions is discussed in the section "Changes in Recharge and Discharge."

#### ESTIMATES OF AQUIFER PROPERTIES

The methods used to estimate aquifer-system properties such as thickness, hydraulic conductivity, and storage are described in the following sections. The same principle of using consistent methods for the entire valley, as previously described, was applied. Some measures (such as the mean) of the estimates made are given in this section; others are given in the sections on predevelopment and postdevelopment ground-water flow. These estimates were adjusted during calibration of the model. The complete data set of final values after calibration is given in appendix B.

#### THICKNESS

Post-Eocene deposits of continental origin constitute the primary ground-water reservoir in the Central Valley. The thickness of these deposits (fig. 8) was estimated by R.W. Page (Page, 1974; U.S. Geological Survey, written commun., 1981) from interpretation of electric logs and from published reports. The thickness of these deposits averages about 2,400 ft and increases from north to south, with a maximum thickness of more than 9,000 ft near Bakersfield. However, the contact between continental deposits and the underlying marine deposits is not always certain because the two types of deposits interfinger in some places, particularly near the southern end of the valley. For example, de Laveaga (1952, p. 102) suggested that the continental deposits may be as much as 15,000 ft thick in places where 9,000 ft is shown in figure 8. Thus, the thickness of continental deposits in the Central Valley, particularly in the southern part, used in the analyses of the system may be less than what is actually present. Excluding the deeper continental deposits (which interfinger with marine deposits) probably does not greatly affect the analyses of ground-water flow in the Central Valley because the amount of flow in the deeper parts of the continental deposits is considered small.

#### HYDRAULIC CONDUCTIVITY

The hydraulic conductivity (K) of a saturated, porous medium is the volume of water it will transmit in a unit time, through a cross section of unit area, under a hydraulic gradient of a unit change in head through a unit length of flow (Lohman, 1972, p. 6). In this report, hydraulic conductivity is expressed in units of feet per day.

#### HORIZONTAL

Two sources of data were considered to estimate horizontal hydraulic conductivity (Kh) values—specificcapacity data from power company pump-efficiency tests and drillers' logs. Because pump-efficiency tests are not available for the entire valley, that source was used only to spot check the results of the other methods.

Drillers' logs contain descriptions of the formations drilled through in each depth interval. Each formation description was assigned to one of five categories of formations with similar properties described by Davis and others (1959, p. 202–206). The depth interval and the category was coded for each well log for computer tabulation. More than 10,000 well logs in the Sacramento Valley and more than 7,400 logs in the San Joaquin Valley were coded for the analysis. Hydraulic conductivities were assigned to formation categories that were characterized by grain size using values determined by Johnson and others (1968), Morris and Johnson (1967), and the California Department of Water Resources (1966, p. 137). Although there is considerable variation in Kh values within a category, the method should still give a good indication of relative differences in Kh because of the large sample size. Table 3 shows the categories and their corresponding Khvalues and specific yields which are discussed in the section on "Aquifer Storage."

An equivalent Kh value was computed for each segment of each well which corresponded to the appropriate model layer, by the following equation:

$$Kh_{eq} = \frac{\Sigma (b \ Kh)}{\Sigma b} , \qquad (14)$$

where

 $Kh_{eq}$  = equivalent horizontal hydraulic conductivity,

- b = thickness of the interval reported on the drillers' log, and
- Kh = horizontal hydraulic conductivity of the interval.

These equivalent Kh values for individual wells were averaged for each layer in each model block. Values for model blocks having no data were interpolated and extrapolated from nearby model blocks. The resulting Khvalues for all of the model blocks have a mean of 25 ft/d and a standard deviation of 13 ft/d. The resulting Khvalues were compared with values reported by other investigators. The comparison showed that estimates of Kh obtained in the above manner were not consistently larger or smaller than other estimates. It also showed that in 57 percent of the 244 model blocks that could be compared, the present estimates are within a ratio of 0.6 to 1.67 of the other estimates. Estimated values were also compared with values estimated from specific-

 

 TABLE 3.—Hydraulic conductivity and specific yield values used for aquifer materials for initial estimates

[Hydraulic conductivities were reduced by a factor of 4 during model calibration]

Aquifer material	Hydraulic conductivity (ft/d)	Specific yield (percent)
Bedrock	0.0	0.0
Clay	.00053	3
Sandy clay	1.1	5
Fine sand	11	10
Sand and gravel	110	25
capacity data collected by utility companies in pumpefficiency tests. In two-thirds of the 251 model blocks that could be compared, the values from drillers' logs were larger than those estimated from specific capacity. Only 46 percent of the model blocks were within the ratios discussed on p. 27.

#### VERTICAL

The aquifer system is composed of many interbedded lenses of coarse- and fine-grained deposits in which the vertical hydraulic conductivity varies according to the type of deposit. Because it is impossible to model every lens in the aquifer system, an equivalent vertical hydraulic conductivity of the lenses in each model layer in each block was calculated by applying the principle of conductances in series as

$$Kz_{eq} = \frac{\Sigma b}{\frac{b_1}{Kz_1} + \frac{b_2}{Kz_2} + \dots + \frac{b_n}{Kz_n}} , \qquad (15)$$

where

- Kz<sub>eq</sub> = equivalent vertical hydraulic conductivity;
- $\Sigma b =$  total thickness between the centers of two adjacent model layers;

$$b_1, b_2, b_n$$
 = thickness of individual lenses; and  
 $Kz_1, Kz_2, Kz_n$  = vertical hydraulic conductivity of  
corresponding lenses in the aquifer  
system.

The lenses were categorized into coarse- and finegrained deposits. This simplified equation 15 is as follows:

$$Kz_{eq} = \frac{\Sigma b}{\frac{\Sigma b_c}{Kz_c} + \frac{\Sigma b_f}{Kz_f}}, \qquad (16)$$

where

 $\Sigma b_{c}, \Sigma b_{f} = \text{sum of the thicknesses of coarse and fine beds, respectively, and}$ 

 $Kz_{c}Kz_{f}$  = vertical hydraulic conductivities of coarse and fine sediments, respectively.

In general, the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the fine-grained lenses is much less (by at least two orders of magnitude) than that of the coarse-grained lenses, and this causes the term  $\Sigma b_c / Kz_c$  to be negligible. Thus, equation 16 can be simplified to

$$Kz_{eq} \cong \frac{\Sigma b \ Kz_f}{\Sigma b_f} \tag{17}$$

The ground-water-flow model used in this investigation incorporated the vertical hydraulic conductivity into the term known as leakance. Leakance (Tk) is defined by Lohman (1972, p. 30) as the ratio of Kz to the thickness of the confining beds. In an aquifer system composed of many interbedded lenses of coarse- and finegrained deposits, an equivalent Tk can be computed as

$$Tk_{eq} = \frac{Kz_{eq}}{\Sigma b} \,. \tag{18}$$

where  $Tk_{eq}$  is equivalent leakance.

Substituting the right side of equation 17 for  $Kz_{eq}$  in equation 18 yields

$$Tk_{eq} \cong \frac{Kz_f}{\Sigma b_f}$$
 (19)

Thus, the flow between model layers is controlled by the vertical hydraulic conductivity of the fine-grained deposits divided by the thickness of the fine-grained deposits.

Tk values were calculated for each well using equation 19 on the basis of thicknesses of coarse- and finegrained beds developed by Page (1986, p. 20) from 690 electric logs, selected at a density of one per quarter township (9 mi<sup>2</sup>). The initial value of Kz used for finegrained beds was  $1 \times 10^{-4}$  ft/d. These equivalent Tkvalues for individual wells were averaged for each model block.

Laboratory values of vertical hydraulic conductivity, given by Johnson and others (1968), were tested in the early phases of calibration, but they were not used because they represent point data rather than areal and depth integrated averages necessary in the regional model.

In some areas, many wells are perforated for long intervals across two adjacent model layers. Bennett and others (1982) discuss this problem, noting that where wells penetrate two adjacent layers, by using the Thiem equation,  $Tk_{eq}$  values for the wells can be calculated. All of the well  $Tk_{eq}$  values can be summed with the aquifer  $Tk_{eq}$  because the flows are parallel. Because of the large variation in values and the model's high sensitivity to  $Tk_{eq}$ , these values were substantially adjusted in the calibration process. This is further discussed in the section, "Changes in Ground-Water Flow."

#### AQUIFER STORAGE

The term "storage coefficient" is used to describe water that is released from or taken into storage. Theis (1938, p. 894) defined it as the volume of water (in cubic feet) released from storage in each column of the aquifer having a base 1 ft<sup>2</sup> and a height equal to the thickness of the aquifer when the water table or the piezometric surface is lowered 1 ft. The storage coefficient is equal to the specific storage times the thickness of the aquifer, where the specific storage of a saturated aquifer is the volume of water that a unit volume of aquifer releases from storage under a unit decline in hydraulic head. Jacob (1940) noted that water released from an elastic artesian aquifer was derived from three sources: (1) expansion of the water, (2) compression of the aquifer, and (3) compression of the adjacent and included clay beds. Poland (1961) assumed that the third source of water was caused by inelastic compaction of the adjacent and included clayey beds. Water is also released from the shallow part of the aquifer by gravity drainage when the water table is lowered (known as specific yield). However, the volume of water released by gravity drainage, or the aquifer's specific yield, is usually much greater than the volume released from the other sources. Thus, for the upper part of the aquifer system in the Central Valley, specific yield was used as the storage coefficient. Specific yield was estimated by the same method of weighted averages as described in the section on "Hydraulic Conductivity," except specific yield replaced horizontal hydraulic conductivity. The values used for each formation are given in table 3. The mean specific yield is 0.09 and the standard deviation is 0.03.

Jacob (1940) concluded that in an elastic artesian aquifer, the water released from compression of the adjacent and included clayey beds was the chief source of water released from storage in the aquifer. In the analyses of the Central Valley aquifer system, the system below the uppermost part was considered confined in the sense that the vertical permeabilities of the sediments are much lower than the horizontal permeabilities, a condition that restricts the vertical movement of water.

Jacob (1940), in defining the elastic-storage coefficient for an uncemented granular material, assumed that water stored in clayey beds was released instantly so as to avoid mathematical complications (although Jacob recognized there would be a time delay between the lowering of the head in the aquifer and the release of water from the clays because of their low permeability):

$$S = \gamma \Theta m \left( \frac{1}{Ew} + \frac{1}{\Theta Es} + \frac{c}{Ec} \right), \qquad (20)$$

where

- S = storage coefficient, dimensionless;
- $\gamma$  = specific weight of water (0.434 pound per square inch per foot);
- $\Theta$  = porosity of the sediments, dimensionless;
- m = thickness of the aquifer, in feet;
- Ew = bulk modulus of elasticity of the water (3 × 10<sup>5</sup> pounds per square inch);

- Es = bulk modulus of elasticity of the aquifer matrix, in pounds per square inch;
- Ec = modulus of compression of clay beds, in pounds per square inch; and
- c = a dimensionless quantity that depends largely on the thickness, configuration, and distribution of the clay beds.

Replacing the storage coefficient with specific storage (Ss), and rearranging terms, the equation can be

$$Ss = \frac{S}{m} = \frac{\gamma\Theta}{Ew} + \frac{\gamma}{Es} + \frac{\gamma\Theta c}{Ec} .$$
 (21)

The elastic specific storage  $(Ss_e)$  of the aquifer system is equal to

$$Ss_e = \frac{\gamma \Theta}{Ew} + \frac{\gamma}{Eas}$$
, (22)

where *Eas* is the weighted average bulk modulus of elasticity of the aquifer system, in pounds per square inch.

Estimates of the elastic-storage term were calculated by adding the product of the thickness of coarse-grained deposits times its specific storage to the product of the thickness of the fine-grained deposits times its specific storage. Values of the elastic specific storage of the coarse- and fine-grained deposits were obtained from Poland (1961), Riley and McClelland (1972), and Helm (1978).

Poland (1961, p. B53) assumed that release of water from storage during short-term pumping tests was primarily caused by the expansion of water and the elastic compression of the coarse-grained part of the aquifer. He approximated the contribution of water derived from each of the two mechanisms for the aguifer system in the southwestern part of the San Joaquin Valley. In the calculations, he used an aquifer thickness of 700 ft and a storage coefficient of 0.001, which is the average of aquifer tests of wells for the area studied by McClelland (1962). Clayey interbeds were not included in Poland's calculations and they accounted for another 300 ft of the aquifer system. The estimated elastic specific storage value of the coarse-grained deposits in the aquifer system was  $1.4 \times 10^{-6}$  per foot, with about 40 percent contributed by the expansion of water and 60 percent contributed by the elastic compression of the aquifer matrix. Similarly, Riley and McClelland (1972, p. 77d) estimated the elastic specific storage of the more permeable layers (coarse-grained deposits) in the aquifer system near Fresno to be between  $0.7 \times 10^{-6}$  and  $1 \times 10^{-6}$ per foot. These results were based on several detailed aquifer tests.

In contrast, Helm (1978, p. 193) calculated an elastic specific storage value of the fine-grained (clayey) deposits

at seven sites in the San Joaquin Valley. The values ranged from  $2.0 \times 10^{-6}$  to  $7.5 \times 10^{-6}$  per foot, with an average value of  $4.5 \times 10^{-6}$  per foot. Thus, on the basis of somewhat limited information, the range of elastic specific storage for the Central Valley aquifer system was estimated to be between  $1 \times 10^{-6}$  per foot for parts of the aquifer system that are all coarse-grained deposits to  $4.5 \times 10^{-6}$  per foot for parts of the system that are all fine-grained deposits. This results in an average elastic specific storage value of about  $3 \times 10^{-6}$  per foot where the deposits are one-half coarse grained and one-half fine grained.

Poland (1961) estimated that the volume of stored water released by the inelastic compaction of clayey beds in the highly compressible aguifer system was 50 times greater than the volume of water released by the elastic expansion of water and the elastic compression of the aquifer system. In the southwestern part of the San Joaquin Valley the ratio of subsidence to head decline ranged from 0.04 to 0.1. Poland concluded that land subsidence in areas of heavy ground-water pumpage was caused almost totally by "... the compaction of the clay, silty clay, and clayey silt beds, both by plastic deformation and mechanical rearrangements of grains, and to that extent is inelastic and permanent." However, water is not always released from the compaction of the clayey beds, but is dependent on the change in head in the aquifer system. The theory and mechanics of how the clayey beds in an aquifer system compact, causing land subsidence, is presented in detail by Lofgren (1968) and Poland and Davis (1969).

Estimates of inelastic (compaction) storage were calculated by (1) estimating the thickness of fine-grained beds in the aquifer system and (2) multiplying that value by the mean inelastic specific storage of  $3 \times 10^{-4}$  per foot. The mean inelastic specific storage value was calculated by Helm (1978, p. 193), who estimated an inelastic specific storage value at each of seven sites in the San Joaquin Valley, where the values ranged from  $1.4 \times 10^{-4}$  to  $6.7 \times 10^{-4}$  per foot. Another estimate of the inelastic specific storage was calculated from Poland (1961) to be about  $2 \times 10^{-4}$  per foot assuming a 300-ft-thick clayey section in the aquifer system and an inelastic storage coefficient calculated by Poland of  $5 \times 10^{-2}$ . This value is reasonably close to the mean value estimated by Helm (1978).

#### WATER-LEVEL ANALYSIS

Two major data bases of water-level measurements were accessed and analyzed to provide estimates of model-block-averaged water levels during the calibration period and also during predevelopment.

A statistical analysis of the data was chosen over the more traditional method of drawing contour maps for each time period of interest. Contour maps of water levels were available from the California Department of Water Resources but were used only for verification of the estimates because of the following limitations:

1. Water levels of the entire valley were not mapped, and only one depth zone was mapped in any area.

2. Temporal trends determined by using values interpolated from successive contour maps can be erroneous owing to the cumulative effect of variation of subjective input in compiling each map.

3. It was unclear which wells were used for the waterlevel mapping and what well construction information was available.

4. Confinement exists in areas where no extensive clay layers have been mapped, because numerous discontinuous clay layers collectively act as confining units. The absence or presence of clay layers was not considered in compiling the water-level maps.

5. Only a part of the data was used because of the time required to incorporate a large volume of available data.

The data base from the California Department of Water Resources was copied, edited, and analyzed; more than 460,000 ground-water-level measurements were available from more than 18,000 wells for the years between 1920 and 1979. Depth and (or) construction information was available for about 8,000 of the wells, which allowed assigning the wells to the depth zones in the model. About 32 percent were in the top (water table) zone, 6 percent were in the next two lower layers, 10 percent possibly spanned the top two layers, and 52 percent were of unknown depth. Most of the wells were measured biannually, though about 6 percent were measured at least monthly. Of the biannually measured wells, the autumn measurements were almost always taken in October. Most of the spring measurements were taken during March in the Sacramento Valley and Delta areas, during February in the upper San Joaquin Valley area, and during January in the Tulare area. These times of measurement cause a slight problem because the usual months of high and low water levels are February and August, respectively. The effect of the water level in spring is slight because the monthly change is small, but the effect in the autumn is substantial because the recovery of water levels is very rapid at the end of the pumping season. This condition occurs because water levels in the aquifer systems respond fastest immediately following a change in stress, with the rate of change decreasing with time. Therefore, a measurement taken early will more accurately reflect the seasonal maximum or minimum than one taken late, after the next change in stress occurs. Often by the time of the autumn measurement, more than half of the postseason recovery has taken place. More measurements are taken in spring (57 percent) than in autumn (43 percent). The Bureau of Reclamation has a groundwater-level data base that was used as a supplement. Many, but not all, of the 112,000 measurements in the Bureau of Reclamation file are duplicates of measurements found in the California Department of Water Resources file.

In order to use the large file of data, several steps were taken. First, depth and well-construction information was added for about 2,000 wells that had drillers' logs available. Then, the data were plotted by making computer-generated hydrographs for the period 1960–80 with all of the wells in a township plotted on the same page using different symbols. This allowed easy location of large errors and comparison of adjacent well hydrographs. Because well-construction information and depth zones were assigned to some of the wells, other wells could be seen to have similar responses and were coded to depth zones accordingly. They were assigned only if there was substantial evidence to indicate similarity.

The next step was to convert all of the records to seasonal values, whether the actual data were monthly or biannual. Means were calculated for each group of water-level measurements within the same year, season, and model block. These means were plotted on the same page with all of the depth zones of one model block. The hydrographs were compared with the California State Department of Water Resources contour map for specific times as a check for the spatial variation of water levels among blocks.

The data were also averaged by area and subarea to determine long-term trends. If a block contains rolling terrain, the average depth to water showed trends more consistently than the average altitude of water levels within the block, because some wells may be measured in one year and may not be measured in other years. The results are described in the sections, "Effects of Development" and "Change in Aquifer Storage."

## SEQUENCE OF CALIBRATION OF THE MODEL

Calibration of a ground-water-flow model is achieved by adjusting the values of one or more aquifer properties or recharge/discharge such that the computer-simulated hydraulic heads match (within the limits of the investigation) the observed heads in the aquifer system. The normal sequence of calibration of most model studies is to first adjust values of aquifer properties (usually terms that incorporate vertical and horizontal hydraulic conductivity) assuming steady-state conditions (no head change with time) and to then adjust values of aquifer properties (usually the storage term) assuming transient conditions (changes in head with time). However, in the Central Valley, the system as a whole has been in a state of continual change since agricultural development began in the late 1800's. Few data are available for the natural recharge rates to and discharge rates from the ground-water system or for the distribution of hydraulic heads before agricultural development began. Thus, the computer model that numerically represents the Central Valley aquifer system was calibrated under transient conditions.

Transient simulations were run for the period spring 1961 to autumn 1977 because there were for this period (1) both natural variations in recharge and discharge to the system and changes in man's operation of the water system and (2) adequate data for the distribution of head in the aquifer system and for estimates of recharge from precipitation, streams, and applied irrigation water and discharge from evapotranspiration and pumpage. These data were compiled for water years (October 1 to September 30) and were allocated to 6-month (springautumn and autumn-spring) periods. All river recharge and discharge and precipitation recharge was assumed to occur in the autumn-spring period. Municipal pumpage was divided equally between the two 6-month periods. All of the agricultural pumpage was assumed to occur in the spring-autumn period. Analysis of well hydrographs indicates that irrigation return flow reaches the water table after about 6 months; therefore, recharge from irrigation was assumed to occur in the autumn-spring period. Because of a data-manipulation difficulty, this recharge was allocated to the winter season before the irrigation season instead of after.

Calibration of the model of the Central Valley aquifer system was done in three phases. In each phase, pumpage in the lower pumped zone (model layer 3) was held constant (the values were assumed correct), while one set of values (transmissivity, leakance, storage, or recharge) was adjusted at a time. Repeated adjustments were made to each of the sets of values. A discussion of each phase is presented in the following paragraphs.

In the first phase of model calibration, the simulation period 1961–76 was divided into two separate periods: spring 1961 to spring 1970 and spring 1970 to spring 1976. The rates of recharge and discharge during the 6-month period were summed and averaged for the particular period. These periods were selected because (1) in the west side of the San Joaquin Valley, hydraulic heads during the earlier period (1961-70) declined as much as 60 ft because of heavy pumpage and the land subsided as much as 8 ft, and (2) in the same area, hydraulic heads during the latter period (1970-76) recovered as much as 120 ft following deliveries of surface water from the California aqueduct. The modification of the computer program that automatically changed the storage term from elastic to inelastic depending on the head in the aquifer system was not used during the first phase of calibration. Instead, the storage term for blocks that correspond to areas actively subsiding were assigned an inelastic-storage value. The inelastic-storage value was estimated by dividing the amount of observed land subsidence in the model block by the observed head decline during the particular calibration period. An elastic-storage value was assigned to all other blocks that were outside the areas of active subsidence. The storage term was held constant throughout the first phase of calibration.

During early calibration of the model, it was obvious that the model-computed heads were more sensitive to the leakance (Tk) value than to any other value. Therefore, the sequence of calibration in the first phase was to uniformly adjust all vertical hydraulic conductivities (incorporated in the Tk values) and then, on the basis of a relation between observed and computed vertical head differences, to individually adjust the values of Tk for each block. The relation is expressed in the following equation:

$$Tk_{new} = Tk_{old} FAC \frac{\Delta HV_{mod}}{\Delta HV_{obs}}, \qquad (23)$$

where

- $\Delta HV_{mod}$  = the computed difference between model layers 4 and 3 at the end of the pumping period;
- $\Delta HV_{obs}$  = the observed vertical head difference between the water-table zone (model layer 4) and the lower pumped zone (model layer 3);  $Tk_{new}$  = the adjusted leakance value;

 $Tk_{old}$  = the previous leakance value; and

FAC = 0.9 when the ratio of  $\Delta HV_{mod}$  to  $\Delta HV_{obs}$  is less than 1, and 1.1 when the ratio is greater than 1.

Second, horizontal hydraulic conductivities were adjusted uniformly throughout all layers to achieve the best fit of horizontal hydraulic gradients. At this point, it became obvious that the net recharge/discharge from streams was in error because simulated heads were either too high or too low at points that correlated with the stream values. Because no reasonable change in any other parameter could solve this problem, all net recharge/discharge values calculated from stream budgets were divided by 5. The best results in fitting horizontal head gradients were obtained when the initial estimates of horizontal hydraulic conductivity were reduced by a factor of 4.

Next, the amounts and distribution of recharge and discharge in the uppermost model layer (layer 4) were adjusted in blocks whose heads could not be matched by changing the other model values. Simple linear regression analysis showed that for a 1 ft change in head at the end of the 15-year simulation period, a 0.25 ft/yr change in net recharge/discharge in the top layer was required. The recharge and discharge adjustments were made for the two calibration periods and the differences in the adjustments between the two calibration periods were averaged at each block. The result was a reduction in the overall amount of recharge to the uppermost layer by 20 percent and, in places, a substantially different distribution of recharge and discharge. The result of the first phase of model calibration was a model that simulated the overall changes in head in the aquifer system from 1961 to 1970 and from 1970 to 1976.

In the second phase of model calibration, the two calibration periods remained the same but the computer program was modified to account for water released from compaction of the clay beds. The inelastic (compaction-) storage term was then calibrated for the period 1961 to 1970, first by uniformly adjusting the inelastic-storage term throughout layers 2 and 3, and finally by adjusting individual values assigned to the blocks. Individual adjustments occurred mostly in the Westside subarea (see fig. 27). In addition to adjusting values of inelastic storage, minor adjustments were made for both horizontal and vertical hydraulic conductivity values, particularly where individual adjustments of inelastic storage were made to improve model results.

The third and final phase of model calibration was done while simulating 6-month periods from spring 1961 to spring 1976. The simulations included the modified version of the computer program that accounted for subsidence. These simulations were used to calibrate the elastic-storage term and to slightly readjust all other values in the model. In general, the adjusted elasticspecific-storage values were a factor of 2 times greater than the average initial estimate discussed in the section on "Aquifer Storage," except in the Westside subarea, where the adjusted values approximated the initial specific storage estimates. The results obtained from this calibration phase and the sensitivity of aquifer properties are discussed in following sections.

# PREDEVELOPMENT GROUND-WATER FLOW

Water development for irrigation began in 1850 in the Central Valley. This irrigation development affected the ground-water system, which previously had been in hydrologic equilibrium (also referred to as a "steadystate condition" because there was no trend of changing aquifer storage with time). Consequently, most of the hydrologic data were collected after changes had already taken place in the system. However, some water-level measurements made by the State engineer's office before development were available, and they are a good indication of what ground-water conditions were like in those areas. Most of the water-level measurements used in the analysis of predevelopment ground-water flow were obtained for the periods 1905–07 in the San Joaquin Valley (Mendenhall and others, 1916, p. 15) and 1912–13 in the Sacramento Valley (Bryan, 1923, p. 18). Some earlier (late 1800's) information was obtained from Hall (1886). Some adjustments to the data from the early 1900's were required because effects of development were already occurring. Also, strong inferences about ground-water conditions can be made from other evidence, such as areas of marsh and swamp. Simulation of the predevelopment flow system using the available information has expanded the understanding of how the system operated.

#### WATER LEVELS AND FLOWS

The aquifer system in the Central Valley is a single and heterogeneous system in which flows and heads vary in all three dimensions. This type of system is difficult to understand and describe. To simplify the discussion, horizontal and vertical variations in flow and head are discussed separately, while attempting to show the relations. This is compatible with the description of the simulation because the model also considers horizontaland vertical-flow components separately.

#### HORIZONTAL

Ground water moves from areas of recharge to areas of discharge, in the direction of decreasing hydraulic head. In the Central Valley, ground-water flow in the predevelopment system began as recharge in the low hills along the perimeter of the valley and in the upper reaches of streams and moved toward the topographically low areas in the center of the valley.

Under natural conditions, the water table roughly paralleled the land surface and the direction of groundwater flow was approximately coincidental with the slope of the land (fig. 14). Recharge occurred in highaltitude areas and discharge occurred in low-altitude areas where the water table was close to land surface.

The Central Valley has only one outlet for discharge of surface water and ground water from the Delta west to San Francisco Bay (fig. 12). Because this outlet is only about one-third of the way from the north end of the valley, the head gradient has to be steeper in the Sacramento Valley. Notice that the trough of lowest head in the San Joaquin Valley is to the west of the center (fig. 14*B*). This also coincides with the topography.

Much of the ground-water discharge from the southern part of the valley was to Tulare Lake and the area surrounding it (note the depression in fig. 14*B*). Because of the characteristics of the surface-water drainage system and the variability of surface runoff, the volume and therefore the level of the lake varied tremendously. From records obtained between 1853 and 1908 (Grunsky, 1898a; Mendenhall, 1908), the water level of the lake varied more than 40 ft, from an altitude of 220 ft during the wet years 1862–68 to 180 ft (altitude at bottom of lake) in 1906 when the lake was dry. This natural fluctuation would have significantly affected groundwater levels and flows. Also, it was reported that deep and very shallow ground water was fresh, while a zone of intermediate depth was alkaline. This is an additional indication that although the system was probably in equilibrium during a long period, there were short-term variations from that state.

#### VERTICAL

Under natural conditions, recharge and discharge occur at the water table. If the lower part of an aquifer is to contribute to the horizontal flow between recharge areas and discharge areas, there must be vertical flow downward in the recharge areas and upward in the discharge areas (figs. 15 and 16). Downward head gradients are often not discovered because they occur in recharge areas where deep wells are not commonly drilled. Upward head gradients along the trough of the valley, indicated by large areas of wells that flowed without pumps prior to development, were documented as early as the 1880's (Hall, 1889). Figure 17 shows the area of flowing wells documented by Hall and the areas outlined as artesian in the San Joaquin Valley in the early 1900's (Mendenhall and others, 1916).

Most investigators have conceptualized the groundwater system in the Sacramento Valley as a single water-table aquifer (Bloyd, 1978, p. 102) and in the San Joaquin Valley as two aquifers, a water-table aquifer and a confined aguifer below the Corcoran Clay Member of the Tulare Formation. The Corcoran Clay Member is a very notable marker bed in the valley and has been geologically correlated from well logs over much of the San Joaquin Valley (Page, 1986, plate 4). Its lateral boundary, where known, roughly coincides with the area of predevelopment flowing wells (fig. 17). In many areas, water levels in wells completed above and below the Corcoran Clay Member are substantially different. These factors are the basis for the assumption that other finegrained beds in the valley are much less significant than the Corcoran Clay Member in their effect on confinement. However, there is substantial evidence to suggest that this assumption is not valid.

As stated earlier, there are numerous fine-grained beds throughout the Central Valley. Though they individually have small lateral extent, the aggregate thickness of these beds is as much as several thousand feet (Page, 1986, p. C15), whereas the Corcoran Clay Member thickness ranges from zero to 160 ft with a mean thickness of 55 ft. Water-level differences with depth have been measured in many areas, such as the northwestern Sacramento Valley and the southeastern San Joaquin Valley, where the Corcoran Clay Member has not been mapped. Also, in several areas on the west side of the San Joaquin Valley, the Corcoran Clay



FIGURE 14A.-Land-surface altitude, circa 1957.

Member has had numerous wells drilled through it and the wells commonly are perforated immediately above and below the clay layer. This condition has allowed almost free flow through the well casings and gravel packs, with the result that the piezometric head has been equalized in the vicinity of the clay. Despite this head



FIGURE 14B.-Predevelopment water-table altitude and hydrologic section locations.

equalization through wells adjacent to the Corcoran Clay Member, head differences as much as 400 ft have occurred between very shallow wells (less than 250 ft deep) and deeper wells. These head differences are the result of numerous clay stringers between the shallow wells and the deeper wells which, when combined, have a low enough vertical permeability to restrict the vertical movement of water.



FIGURE 15.—Simulated and estimated head difference between the water table (layer 4) and the lower pumped zone (layer 3) under predevelopment conditions.



# B. Central San Joaquin Valley



FIGURE 16.—Hydrologic sections across the Central Valley showing simulated predevelopment equipotential lines: (A) Southern San Joaquin Valley, (B) Central San Joaquin Valley, and (C) Sacramento Valley north of Sacramento. Locations of sections shown in figure 14B. The amount of vertical flow and head gradient depends mainly on vertical hydraulic conductivity (Kz) and on the thickness of the aquifer system. The aquifer system in the Central Valley is composed of interbedded coarseand fine-grained beds, with about 55 percent of the thickness composed of fine-grained beds (Page, 1986, fig. 35). This percentage varies little (standard deviation of about 8 percent) and is usually in the range from 40 to 70 percent. Therefore, under predevelopment conditions, significant vertical head gradients probably existed throughout the valley except where the flow was entirely horizontal or in local areas where sediments were predominantly coarse grained.

Predevelopment vertical head differences are difficult to estimate because they are very sensitive to groundwater development and there are few data for heads at depth before development occurred. Hall (1886) reported data on about 350 deep wells that had been drilled between 1858 and 1885. Most of these wells were flowing artesian wells ranging in diameter from 2 to 12 in and in depth to 1,200 ft (one was 2,160 ft). Only one had a measured static head (water level was reported as 11 ft above land surface), though most had a reported flowing head and flow rate. The flows ranged up to 1,100 gal/min. To convert the flowing head measurements to static head values, a form of the Thiem equation was used to compute drawdown:

$$\Delta h = Q \, \frac{\ln \left(\frac{Ra}{Rw}\right)}{2 \, \pi \, T} \,, \tag{24}$$

where

- $\Delta h = \text{static head minus flowing head in the well, in feet;}$
- Q = discharge of the well, in cubic feet per second;
- Ra = radius from the well where water level is static, in feet;
- Rw = radius of the well, in feet; and
- T = transmissivity of the aquifer penetrated by the well, in feet per second.

Several assumptions had to be made to apply the equation. The value chosen for Ra (2,100 ft) is somewhat arbitrary; however, changing it will not have a great effect on the result because the ratio of radii is in a logarithm term. The transmissivity chosen was equal to the depth of the well times the estimated hydraulic conductivity. The well radius used was 0.58 ft (7 in), an average for the reported wells. The estimated static head varied from nearly zero to more than 50 ft above the flowing-head measurement.

Vertical head differences were estimated by subtracting the static water levels in the deeper aquifers calculated from Hall's data from the estimates of the water-table altitudes reported by Bryan (1923) and by Mendenhall and others (1916). In areas with large lakes, the lake level was used for the water-table altitude. The vertical resistance to flow in the model (Tk) was adjusted where data were available so that the simulated head difference approximated the observed head difference between layers 3 and 4. Observed head differences between layers 3 and 4 ranged from zero to 40 ft; in the Tulare Lake area, the observed difference was 55 ft.

Ground-water development in the valley has caused the hydraulic head to decline at depths where water is partially confined; currently, artesian water rises above land surface in only a very few areas. This occurs in some areas of the central Sacramento Valley that have very little deep pumping; wells drilled by the U.S. Geological Survey (fig. 2) in 1979–80 near Zamora (12N/1E-34Q) (French and others, 1982) and Butte City (19N/1W-32G) (French, Page, Bertoldi, and Fogelman, 1983) with 2,500- and 1,500-ft depths, respectively, had water levels rising above land surface.

#### **RECHARGE AND DISCHARGE**

Natural recharge to the valley occurs from precipitation in excess of direct evapotranspiration and seepage through stream channels along their upper reaches. Most stream recharge occurs on the east side of the valley where large streams flow from the Sierra Nevada. The Coast Ranges on the west side are not as high and have much less precipitation and smaller drainage areas available to sustain streamflow. Mean annual inflow to the valley in stream channels is about 31.7 million acreft/yr. Ground-water discharge occurs mainly through evapotranspiration and discharge to streams where ground-water levels are near land surface. Ground-water outflow to Suisun Bay is negligible. Estimating predevelopment recharge and discharge is difficult because of the lack of data before the system changed substantially owing to water development. There is no evidence to indicate that the streamflow into the valley or precipitation have changed much since the 1800's, but ground-water flows have changed dramatically. Groundwater discharge also occurs to stream channels, generally in parts of their lower reaches, where the head in the aquifer is higher than the water level in the channel. Stream channels gain about 0.3 million acre-ft/yr from the aquifer system and lose about 0.5 million acreft/yr, according to estimates made by stream water budgets calculated during 1961–77, with adjustments made during model calibration.

Deep percolation of precipitation on the valley floor, upgradient from the swampy areas and lakes, is a significant source of recharge in the wetter areas and during the wetter years. Average annual precipitation on the valley floor is about 12.4 million acre-ft/yr (11.6 in/yr). The potential evapotranspiration (calculated as the evapotranspiration of irrigated grass) is about 49

in/yr. This value varies little across the valley or from year to year (California Department of Water Resources, 1975), but is concentrated in the summer. Precipitation



FIGURE 17.-Areas of predevelopment flowing wells and the Corcoran Clay Member of the Tulare Formation.

occurs mainly in the winter (fig. 5). Therefore, in the winter, precipitation exceeds evapotranspiration so that excess is stored in the soil until all of its storage capacity is filled. Additional precipitation will either run off or percolate into the aquifer. In the summer, evapotranspiration in excess of precipitation is withdrawn from soil storage until it is depleted. Monthly soil-moisture budgets (see section on "Precipitation") indicate that no recharge occurs until annual precipitation exceeds about 12 in. This occurs in most years on the north and east sides of the valleys but in only extremely wet years in the southwest part, where average annual precipitation is less than 6 in. The long-term average rate of precipitation in excess of direct evapotranspiration for the Central Valley is about 1.5 million acre-ft/yr.

Evapotranspiration directly from ground water can be roughly estimated assuming none occurs from ground water where the depth to water is greater than 10 ft, and also assuming a linear increase in evapotranspiration to its potential of about 4.1 ft/yr where the water table is at land surface. Using these assumptions and the estimated predevelopment depth to water, there could have been about 13 million acre-ft/yr of evapotranspiration directly from ground water in the central part of the valley where the water table was close to the land surface (about 8,000 mi<sup>2</sup> or 62 percent of the valley area). Only about 40 percent of that amount (5 million acre-ft/yr) could have been supplied from local direct precipitation because the central part of the valley has less precipitation than the north and east sides. Most of the remainder must have been supplied from local ground-water flow out of the stream channels to adjacent areas because that volume could not have been supplied from regional ground-water flow as will be demonstrated below.

Natural recharge and discharge to the regional ground-water flow system can be calculated by the model. These calculations were made using the aquifer properties calibrated during the 1961-77 period, with adjustments for changes because wells were not present during the predevelopment period. The head in the uppermost model layer (layer 4) was held constant at the best estimates of the predevelopment water table altitude (fig. 14B). Simulations with these constant heads produced an estimate of the net amount of water that recharged and discharged the deep regional aquifer system from the uppermost model layer (layer 4), as shown in figure 18. These values represent total recharge/discharge to the deep regional aquifer system in the Central Valley. Thus, the values in figure 18 representing the amount of water that recharged and discharged the deep regional aquifer system in the Central Valley are smaller than the total recharge and discharge estimates

for the whole aquifer system, including water moving through the upper model layer (layer 4), described previously. Total simulated recharge and discharge to the deep regional ground-water system were slightly more than 0.2 million acre-ft/yr each. In general, more recharge than discharge occurs along the margins of the valley and more discharge than recharge occurs in the low-lying central parts. In the San Joaquin Valley, the areas of discharge generally corresponded to areas of flowing wells (compare figs. 17 and 18). A schematic summary of the predevelopment water budget for the valley is shown in figure 19, showing the relationship between recharge and discharge and ground water on a local and regional scale.

#### EXTENT OF FRESHWATER

The post-Eocene continental deposits constitute the primary fresh ground-water reservoir in the Central Valley. Freshwater in the Central Valley is defined as water that has a specific conductance of less than 3,000 micromhos per centimeter at 25°C (Olmsted and Davis, 1961, p. 134; Berkstresser, 1973; Page, 1973). This corresponds to about 2,000 mg/L of dissolved solids. Beneath the body of freshwater is saline water. In general, the salinity of the water beneath the base of freshwater increases gradually with depth, at least in the San Joaquin Valley; however, at certain locations it may increase rapidly (Page, 1973).

The vertical extent of freshwater varies greatly throughout the valley (fig. 20). The greatest thickness of freshwater occurs near Bakersfield, where it exceeds 4,500 ft. In the San Joaquin Valley, the occurrence of freshwater is not related to any specific formation, but rather is generally within the post-Eocene continental deposits. The base of freshwater in the San Joaquin Valley in places reflects the underlying structure of the thick Tertiary basin, particularly near Bakersfield. It also reflects the anticlinal structures of some of the oil and gas fields in that valley (Page, 1973). In the Sacramento Valley, the base of freshwater is generally coincident with the base of continental and volcanic deposits and rarely reflects deeper structures such as faults and gas reservoirs (Berkstresser, 1973). The shallow body of saline water west of Sutter Buttes (fig. 20) is found in marine deposits, while the shallow body of saline water south of Sutter Buttes may be a body of evaporation residue. Another possible cause of this shallow body of saline water was thought to be from upward migration of marine connate waters through defective, abandoned, or improperly constructed deep wells (Olmsted and Davis, 1961, p. 136). However, after investigation, G.H. Davis (oral commun., 1983) could not find evidence of more than one or two deep wells ever drilled in this area.

Within the freshwater body are zones of water that approach and exceed the specific conductance limit that rounded by freshwater and may represent evaporation



FIGURE 18.—Simulated predevelopment net recharge/discharge.

residues or bodies of estuarine marine water trapped when the sediments were deposited (Davis and others, 1959, p. 181; Olmsted and Davis, 1961, p. 136).

The initial simulation assumptions were that the interface between fresh and saline water was static and that the thickness of the aquifer system was equal to the thickness of the freshwater body. However, simulation results indicated that the assumption of a static interface between fresh and saline waters was not correct. Where the thickness of freshwater was small, the simulation required hydraulic conductivities in the aquifer system that were unrealistically large, and where the thickness of freshwater was large, the hydraulic conductivities required were unrealistically small. Davis and others (1959, p. 43) suggest that because there is little evidence of the marine sediments being flushed with freshwater (except on the southeast side of the San Joaquin Valley) and because of comparatively recent structural deformation, not enough time has elapsed for the interface between the freshwater and the saline water to reach a stable position. Thus, the thickness of the aquifer system used in



the final analysis of ground-water flow was increased to include most of the post-Eocene continental deposits. | saline water were not accounted for in the analysis of

Density variations between the freshwater and the



FIGURE 20.-Depth to base of freshwater.

ground-water flow, nor was any analysis done to determine the effect of pumping in the freshwater body on the movement of the saline waters. Not incorporating density differences in the analysis was thought to yield only minor errors in the overall analysis of ground-water flow because most of the flow occurs in the upper part of the aquifer system. Most of the post-Eocene continental deposits that contain saline water were incorporated in the lowest model layer where hydraulic head data are largely unknown and where essentially no ground water is pumped. Simulation results indicate that the amounts of water that move into and out of the lowest model laver are small. Under predevelopment conditions, only about 70,000 acre-ft/yr (23 percent of the layer 4 vertical flow) flows into or out of layer 1. In 1961, the total layer 1 vertical flow is only 6 percent of the layer 4 flow. These simulations assume that only hydraulic gradients cause the movement of brine waters.

# POSTDEVELOPMENT GROUND-WATER FLOW

The period 1961–77 was studied intensively to understand the present flow system and to attempt to detect trends. This period was not affected by natural climatic trends (fig. 7). The period from predevelopment (before about 1860) until 1961 was not studied intensively because very little data are available and it would be difficult to extrapolate back in time because so many conditions have changed.

#### HISTORY OF WATER DEVELOPMENT

The favorable climate for agriculture in the Central Valley combined with water management and transferring water from areas of abundant water to areas of scarcity has resulted in one of the most productive agricultural areas in the Nation that is dependent on irrigation. This agricultural area is further expanded such that the valley is one of the Nation's largest users of ground water. Water development for irrigation has had a major effect on the hydrologic budget of the valley, in both ground water and surface water. Development of both surface- and ground-water sources for domestic and industrial needs has also expanded greatly over the years. The quantity of domestic and industrial water needed, however, has always been small compared with the quantity needed for irrigation.

## IRRIGATION

Irrigation was introduced to California around 1790 by Roman Catholic priests from Mexico (Hall, 1889). From 1790 to about the late 1860's, development spread into the Central Valley in a sporadic manner. In the initial phases of irrigation development, local interests were responsible for developing and managing their own resources. In the foothill area of the Sierra Nevada and adjacent sections of the valley, development after 1849 was accelerated as a result of the Gold Rush. After mining ceased, the ditches were used to convey water for irrigation.

In 1857, an act was passed by the California State Legislature that offered patents to anyone who would drain and reclaim river-bottom lands (Manning, 1967). As a result, most of the earliest expansion in irrigation was concentrated on the valley floor, where broad plains had been subject to annual flooding from the main rivers that traversed these lowland areas. Thousands of miles of canals and laterals were constructed to drain the wetlands. Additional diversion began as a result of appropriation of sustained flows from the main rivers. By 1900, the entire flow of the Kern River and much of the flow of the Kings River had been diverted by a series of canals constructed to serve lands throughout the southern San Joaquin Valley (Nady and Larragueta, 1983a). Because no significant construction of storage facilities accompanied these earliest diversions, the amount of irrigation water was limited by the low summer flow.

When the drought around 1880 caused a great decrease in surface water in the San Joaquin Valley, ground water began to be developed to supplement the decreased supply as well as to serve lands beyond the reach of the diversion canals (Manning, 1967). In the earliest period of ground-water development, shallow ground water was plentiful and flowing wells were common, especially around the old lake basins in the central parts of the San Joaquin Valley. By 1910, almost all of the surface-water supply in the San Joaquin Valley had been diverted, causing an increased impetus to develop ground-water resources.

Even though ground-water use prior to 1900 was increasing, it was only a very minor part of the total irrigation supply. With increased production from the ground-water system, flow rates declined steadily in the once naturally flowing wells and it became necessary to install pumps for irrigation. Around 1930, the development of a greatly improved deep-well turbine pump spurred additional ground-water development for irrigation, because it allowed more efficient pumping from greater depths.

Further expansion of irrigation development was dependent on the provision of additional sources or more elaborate means for transporting existing streamflow to the land. Again, it was local efforts that conceived and completed the first reservoirs along the eastern margin of the valley.

Construction of larger storage reservoirs, major canals, and large-scale pumping plants was expensive and, therefore, beyond the means of most groups of water users. It was in response to this need that the Federal government became involved with irrigation and was responsible for construction of substantial storage, pumping, and conveyance facilities in California, beginning in the 1940's. Tables 4 and 5 summarize the development of major water facilities in the valley.

The Bureau of Reclamation's Central Valley Project (CVP) is one of these large-scale projects. The CVP, consisting of major storage and conveyance facilities, is a major conservation and reclamation project designed to be a multipurpose development to supply water for irrigation, municipal, industrial, and other uses. The project has several key features. Shasta Dam on the upper Sacramento River was built to store winter flows to be released during the summer irrigation season and the following year, if necessary. Sacramento River water is diverted from the Delta south through the Delta-Mendota Canal to meet irrigation needs in the southern San Joaquin Valley (see fig. 3). This allows diversion of San Joaquin River water from below Friant Dam, north in the Madera Canal, and south in the Friant-Kern Canal.

In the late 1950's and early 1960's, the California State Water Plan (SWP) was initiated. Because of the great cost, this project was an effort of the entire State. A major project of the SWP is the Oroville Dam on the

#### TABLE 4.—Surface-water stor4age reservoirs in the Central Valley

[Abbreviations: USBR, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation: CoE, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; SWP, California Department of Water Resources State Water Project; Priv., private]

	Average annual flow (acre-ft/yr)	Dam/Reservoir	Storage capacity (acre-ft)	Year com- pleted	Owner
Putah Cr.	373,000	Monticello Dam/ Lake Berryessa	1,592,000	1957	USBR
Stony Cr.	458,600	Black Butte	147,600	1963	CoE, USBR
Sacramento R.	6,223,000	Shasta	4,436,000	1949	USBR
Feather R.	4,263,000	Oroville	2,685,000	1968	SWP
Yuba R.	1,800,000	Englebright	70,000	1941	CoE
North Yuba R.	112,300	New Bullards Bar	727,400	1969	Priv.
Bear R.	326,700	Camp Far West	102,200	1963	Priv.
American R.	2,714,000	Folsom	1,010,000	1956	USBR
Mokelumne R.	577,400	Camanche	431,500	1963	Priv.
Calaveras R.	158,700	New Hogan	323,700	1963	CoE
Stanislaus R.	974,500	New Melones	2,420,000	1978	USBR
Tuolumne R.	1,826,000	New Don Pedro	2,030,000	1970	Priv.
Merced R.	969,400	New Exchequer Dam/ Lake McClure	1,024,000	1967	Priv.
Chowchilla R.	71,870	Buchanan Dam/ Eastman Lake	150,600	1975	CoE
Fresno R.	78,970	Hidden Dam/ Hensly Lake	85,300	1975	CoE
San Joaquin R.	1,721,000	Friant Dam/ Millerton Lake	503,200	1942	USBR
Kings R.	1,655,000	Pine Flat	1,001,000	1951	Priv., CoE
Kaweah R.	475,300	Terminus Dam/ Lake Kaweah	142,900	1962	Priv., CoE
Kern R.	668,000	Isabella	567,900	1954	Priv., CoE
Tule R.	134,800	Success	81,700	1961	Priv., CoE
Calif. Aqueduc	t <sup>1</sup> N/A	San Luis	2,040,000	1967	SWP, USBR
TOTAL	25,580,000		21,572,000		

<sup>1</sup>Not a river, but a major water conveyance connected to large reservoir.

Stream	Averaqe annual flow (acre-ft/yr)	Canal	l Normal flow (acre-ft/yr)	Year com- pleted	Owner
Sacramento R.	9,629,000	Tehama-Colusa	<sup>2</sup> 509,500	1971	USBR
Sacramento R.	11,510,000	Glenn-Colusa	811,200	1905	Priv.
Putah Cr.	373,100	Putah So.	222,500	1959	USBR
Delta	N/A	Delta-Mendota	2,348,000	1951	USBR
Delta	N/A	Calif. Aqueduct	1,510,000	1968	SWP, USBR
San Joaquin R.	1,721,000	Madera	226,000	1944	USBR
San Joaquin R.	1,721,000	Friant-Kern	1,002,000	1949	USBR
TOTAL			6,630,000		

 TABLE 5.—Major water-conveyance facilities in the Central Valley

 [Abbreviations: USBR, U.S. Bureau of Reclamation; CoE, U.S. Army Corps of Engineers; SWP, California Department of Water Resources State Water Project; Priv., private]

<sup>1</sup>Based on a near-normal year, 1975.

<sup>2</sup>Based on 1978-81 average.

Feather River, which allows diversion of water in the Delta (fig. 3) into the California Aqueduct. From the Delta, water flows south, to San Luis Reservoir and then to the southern San Joaquin Valley, and is pumped over the Tehachapi Mountains (fig. 1) to southern California.

Figure 21 shows the increase in irrigated acreage in California from 1870 to 1975 and in the Central Valley and its subregions from 1959 to 1975. The proportion of irrigation from ground water to irrigation from surface water has changed greatly over the years, as well. Until 1900, only a small amount of the irrigation was from ground water. T.R. Simpson (Pacific Gas and Electric Co., unpub. rept., 1949) states that in the San Joaquin Valley, the combined capacity of wells south of Chowchilla was 5.3 million acre-ft/yr in 1919 and about 14.9 million acre-ft/yr by 1929. The combined gross pumpage of more than 35,000 wells in the San Joaquin Valley south of Merced in 1948 was close to 6 million acre-ft/yr. As the amount of ground water pumped increased, so did its proportion of total irrigation because surface-water use did not increase as much. Davis and others (1964) reported that in the San Joaquin Valley in 1952, gross diversion of surface water was about 8.5 million acre-ft/yr and ground-water pumpage for irrigation was about 7.5 million acre-ft/yr.

During the period 1961–77, ground-water use accounted for about 50 percent of the irrigation supply in the Central Valley. As shown in figure 22, the proportion between surface water and ground water varies substantially from dry to wet years. Many farms are equipped to use either ground water or surface water. Therefore, in wet years abundant and inexpensive surface water is used, whereas in dry years (note 1976–77) ground-water use is predominant. Most surface water is distributed from the streams or Federal and State canals or reservoirs to one of several hundred irrigation districts that distribute to individual farms. Most of the fields are irrigated by some type of flooding method (border or furrow), but in about 20 percent of the area, sprinklers are used (Stewart, 1975, p. 20). Based on the number of agricultural power accounts in the late 1960's, there were about 100,000 active irrigation wells in the valley. The distribution of ground-water pumpage, shown in figure 23, is more toward the southern and eastern parts in the valley where irrigation is most extensive. The distribution and magnitude varies, as shown by comparing the two dry years (1961 and 1977) with the near-normal years (1962 and 1975). Trends through the period are also evident. Well-construction data for about 3,000 irrigation wells show that most wells are perforated throughout the lower two-thirds of their depth. The distribution of the approximate depth to the weighted center of the pumped zone is shown in figure 24. Variation in the depth of major production zones is because of water quality and aquifer-yield considerations. A more complete treatment of the distribution of ground-water pumpage is given by Diamond and Williamson (1983).

## DOMESTIC AND INDUSTRIAL

A small proportion of water used in the valley is for domestic and industrial purposes. Ground-water pumpage for domestic use increased about 3 percent per year, from about 300,000 acre-ft in 1961 to about 490,000 acreft in 1977 (Diamond and Williamson, 1983). Industrial water use in 1970 was 132,000 acre-ft (California Department of Water Resources, 1977c, p. 74, 75). This figure includes both surface-water and ground-water use.



FIGURE 21.—Increase of irrigated acreage in California since 1870 and in the Central Valley since 1959 (modified from Nady and Larragueta, 1983a, sheet 2).



FIGURE 22.—Irrigation water use from 1961 through 1977.



FIGURE 23A.-Ground-water pumpage for 1961.



1962, NEAR NORMAL

FIGURE 23B.—Ground-water pumpage for 1962.

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA



1975, NEAR NORMAL



# POSTDEVELOPMENT GROUND-WATER FLOW





## EFFECTS OF DEVELOPMENT

Development of water resources has had a major effect on the aquifer system. In many areas, pumpage has lowered water levels, which has altered the direction and rates of ground-water flow (fig. 25) and, in places, has caused the land to subside. Large diversion of surface

water for irrigation has altered the amount and distribution of recharge to the aquifer system, which has caused a change in the configuration of the water table. All of these causes, but principally surface-water diversions, have decreased the volume of surface water discharged into Suisun Bay. Changes in or to the aquifer system caused by development are discussed in the following paragraphs.



FIGURE 24.—Approximate depth to the weighted center of the pumped zone.



FIGURE 25.-Change in water level and direction of flow in the lower pumped zone, 1900-61, due to ground-water pumpage.

## CHANGES IN RECHARGE AND DISCHARGE

Development of irrigated agriculture has had major effects on the volume and distribution of ground-water recharge and discharge in the valley. This is shown by comparing recharge and discharge values from the predevelopment and postdevelopment simulations. During predevelopment conditions, the recharge and discharge was about 2 million acre-ft/yr each (fig. 26A). From predevelopment times to the period 1961–77, average discharge increased to 12.2 million acre-ft/yr and average recharge increased to 11.4 million acre-ft/yr.

Agricultural development in the valley has changed the paths of most of the 31.7 million acre-ft of surfacewater inflow. Figure 26 shows the magnitude and postdevelopment changes in the major components of a hydrologic budget for the valley. More detail on how the budget components were estimated can be found in the "Model Development" section. Average budget components for 1961–77 for each area and subarea (fig. 27) are given in table 6.



#### B. POSTDEVELOPMENT (1961 - 77 average)



FIGURE 26.--Change in water-budget terms due to development in the Central Valley.

An index of surface-water outflow from the Delta was estimated for the period 1922–80 by summing the gaged annual flows into the Delta and adjusting for use,

precipitation, and export. A linear multiple regression was used to relate Delta outflow to year and annual precipitation as a mean of four gaging stations; a



FIGURE 27.-Area and subarea boundaries.

Pumpage,	layer 3	(14)	87	40	95	108	43	73	109	555	155	6	362	241	767	50	176	85	382	266	324	1,284	51	463	562	104	402	426	86	839	460	182	3,576	
Net recharge/	discharge, layer 4	(13)	59	16	41	68	2	83	95	369	86	7	266	227	572	51	218	33	253	202	258	1,015	83	307	478	105	405	383	132	635	392	200	3,119	
ments		(12)	5	1	45	53	1	59	72	234	6	12	198	215	434	0	47	11	62	41	44	204	77	216	460	267	81	129	81	126	93	96	1,626	
Adjust	+	(11)	195	337	98	70	236	116	66	1,150	218	185	210	13	626	105	360	107	243	1	1	816	5	1	50	1	32	80	33	45	112	44	330	
imated	Recharge	(10)	282	356	144	113	251	214	180	1,539	322	183	335	17	917	168	582	161	498	178	231	1,819	25	154	419	54	415	306	133	566	434	152	2,657	
Net est	Discharge	(6)	33	e	50	28	8	74	58	254	28	17	58	51	153	12	51	33	64	17	15	193	14	63	351	215	60	43	65	12	23	5	834	
Irrigation	efficiency	(8)	0.64	0.51	0.77	0.76	0.53	0.65	0.67	0.64	0.63	0.67	0.65	0.69	0.66	0.50	0.54	0.65	0.53	0.53	0.47	0.54	0.75	0.83	0.56	0.92	0.49	0.59	0.50	0.49	0.38	0.46	0.58	
Municipal	pumpage	(1)	9	7	18	1	1	10	29	70	61	1	4	9	73	27	8	6	17	1	9	68	ę	2	06	17	19	12	2	5	32	2	183	
Pumpage,	layer 4	(9)	182	44	188	111	76	215	140	956	217	21	391	170	667	52	231	110	92	110	189	830	18	89	1,303	249	335	194	149	152	234	36	2,758	
Surface	diverted	(2)	178	649	351	258	538	324	343	2,642	299	297	638	173	1,407	353	1152	465	489	187	182	2,828	18	425	1,107	473	571	428	221	386	355	52	4,081	
Evapotrans- piration	of applied water	(4)	281	373	476	362	345	389	378	2,605	381	219	905	396	1,901	236	835	424	497	296	321	2,609	63	804	1,601	748	627	607	228	678	390	144	5,891	
er	Gain	(3)	9	3	10	11	45	59	ę	137	4	1	16	11	31	26	38	42	10	3	1	120	1	0	7	0	ł	ł	ł	ł	3	ł	10	
Rív	Loss	(2)	57	7	17	6	10	42	13	155	87	0	65	e	139	0	56	80	27	0	17	109	2	3	94	16	12	13	2	5	19	13	131	
XCess Trecin-	tation	(1)	220	40	134	83	43	158	67	746	200	80	153	23	456	41	29	44	59	8	21	203	ŝ	80	50	6	16	14	ß	8	2	1	119	
Sub- E	(See fig.	27)	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	Sacramento	21	22	23	24	Delta	31	32	33	34	35	36	San Joaquin -	05	41	42	43	44	45	95	47	847	647	Tulare	antral

TABLE 6.—Summary of the components of ground-water recharge and discharge, 1961-77 average (1421-77 average) and the columns 8-13 are calculated as follows: Columns 4/(5 + (6+14-7)); Columns 9 and 10 are sums of - (discharge) and + (recharge) values of = columns (1 + 2 - 3 - 4 + 5 - 7 + 14); Columns 11

D56

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS-CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

decrease of outflow with time was noted. Average Delta outflow declined from about 24 million acre-ft/yr to about 15 million acre-ft/yr during the period 1920-80. The adjusted R-square for the relation (a coefficient of determination of the regression) was about 0.67. This decrease was caused mainly by increased evapotranspiration within the valley because of irrigation. Irrigation had other substantial effects on the hydrology of the valley. A large volume of water flows through the irrigation cycle in the form of net surface-water diversions and ground-water pumpage, becoming evapotranspiration of applied water, infiltration, and crop consumption. Net surface diversions do not include volumes that are reused by other irrigators or returned to some surfacewater body. In figure 26, the term evapotranspiration (ET) from streams includes ET from nonirrigated lands and was calculated as residuals in the budgets presented. The losses and gains from streams for the predevelopment conditions are poor estimates because they were derived from the postdevelopment estimates which are not necessarily the same. The values shown in figure 26A do not correspond to the previously mentioned sums of the simulated predevelopment recharge and discharge (0.2 million acre-ft/yr each, p. D40) because the previous values were summed from simulation output, which causes some cancellations of recharge and discharge within model blocks. Figure 26

shows a more realistic difference between overall preand postdevelopment recharge and discharge of a factor of about 6 to 1.

Postdevelopment average overall recharge comes mostly from irrigation return flow (83 percent), but also from precipitation (13 percent) and streams (4 percent). The actual proportion of overall recharge from streams to the aquifer system is probably larger; however, some recharge will discharge to nearby streams through local or intermediate flow systems, which are not modeled in the regional model.

Variations in the components of the water budget during the simulation period are shown in figure 28; wet years (1967, 1969, and 1973) and dry years (1961, 1976, and 1977) are easily identified. It is notable that overall irrigation efficiency improved from about 53 percent to about 64 percent during the period 1961–77. This can be inferred from the growth rate of irrigated acreage (fig. 21) because it exceeds the growth rate of irrigation water use (fig. 22). This is probably a result of economic and other conditions that encouraged irrigators to conserve water.

During early calibration of the simulation model, it was obvious that the estimates of river losses/gains and small stream recharge were too large. Water levels in aquifers in some losing sections of rivers rose hundreds of feet and in some gaining sections of rivers, water



FIGURE 28.—Components of a recharge and discharge water budget, 1961–77. Components are all shown with positive signs. Net recharge/discharge for layer 4 equals surface water minus evapotranspiration of applied water (SW-ETAW) plus net precipitation (Net PPT) plus river losses/gains (Riv Loss); thus it can be positive or negative. Pumpage from layer 3 is discharge for that layer.

levels in aquifers dropped a similar magnitude. No reasonable adjustment in any other model value could correct the imbalance. Individual values of stream losses could be greatly in error owing to the increase of the measurement error in the residual analysis of the water budgets in the streams. However, long-term averages should be closer to the actual values if the errors are randomly distributed. Nevertheless, all of the estimated values of stream losses/gains were divided by five to allow the model to respond within the limits of reasonable adjustments in other values. This adjustment was necessary because of systematic errors in estimating stream losses/gains, local recharge and discharge within a model block, and inability of the model to simulate the aquifer system to match the observed water levels and water level changes.

After this calibration, the simulated water levels in the Sacramento Valley remained too high compared with observed values. To adjust for apparent overestimates of surface water diverted for irrigation, the diversion values in the Sacramento area (fig. 1) were multiplied by 0.75. This improved the simulation substantially.

In order to fit the observed water-table altitudes, additional small adjustments in the net recharge/discharge term were necessary. This was done because the process of allocating water-budget volumes to model blocks introduced errors that would result in too much water in one model block and too little in an adjacent block. The adjustment was made by relating change in simulated head to change in net recharge/discharge. The distribution of the resulting adjustments to net recharge/ discharge is shown in figure 29. A spatial trend in these values of adjustment would indicate an underlying problem in the concepts or methods, such as a missing component of recharge. No such trend was detected, indicating that the net recharge/discharge errors were a result of random measurement and distribution errors.

#### CHANGES IN WATER LEVELS

Water-level changes resulting from water-resources development have occurred over most of the valley and have been of major proportions in many large areas. Generally, deeper pumped zones have much smaller storage coefficients than the specific yield of water-table systems because changes in head do not result in immediate dewatering of aquifer materials. Consequently, in deeper pumped zones, heads decline more rapidly and the cone of depression extends farther out than in a water-table aquifer that is stressed by similar amounts of pumpage. This is generally true in the Central Valley and the result is that water-level changes have been more pronounced in the lower pumped zone than at the water table. When water levels decline to a point that compaction of sediments begins to occur, the amount of water released from fine-grained sediments increases and tends to slow the rate of water-level decline. Figure 30 shows long-term hydrographs for wells that were chosen for the length of their record and the different stages of development that they represent (locations are shown on fig. 2). Each hydrograph (lettered A-J) in figure 30 shows wells that are located near each other to demonstrate patterns of hydraulic head change, both long term and seasonally, which differ primarily due to the well depth. Generally the deeper wells show more seasonal fluctuation and greater long-term declines than do shallow wells. Wells in the Sacramento Valley (fig. 30A-C) show a slow, but steady, decline beginning in the 1950's. Water development and water-level declines began earliest in the southern end of the Central Valley and moved north as time passed. Figure 30D shows that some heads in deep wells in the Delta area have been below sea level since before 1960. Somewhat farther south (figs. 30E-F), declines began occurring in the 1940's. Figure 30G shows an area in central Fresno County where the head decline in relatively shallow wells has been substantial, starting in the early 1940's. The Westside area wells shown in figure 30H show large declines until the late 1960's, followed by significant recovery due to decreases in pumpage because of importation of surface water, and then steep drawdown during the 1976-77 drought. Wells in the two other major subsidence areas, Tulare-Wasco (fig. 301) and south of Bakersfield (fig. 30J), show complicated and highly variable patterns, with declines beginning before 1940.

#### PREDEVELOPMENT TO 1961

Water-table altitudes and lower pumped zone heads for spring 1961 are shown in figure 31. The changes in water level that have occurred since predevelopment conditions are shown in figure 32. Note that the changes shown in figure 32B were calculated from the observed 1961 heads and the simulated 1860 heads in the lower zone. The most substantial changes were in the western and southern parts of the San Joaquin Valley. There were smaller changes in most of the remaining areas of the Central Valley. The period between predevelopment conditions and 1961 was not simulated because of the absence of data for many critical components of recharge and discharge.

Just north of the Delta area (fig. 27), a depression in the water table to below sea level developed (fig. 31A). In the lower pumped zone, a depression developed north of Sacramento. These areas rely on ground-water pumpage for irrigation. Much of the lowlands of the Sacramento Valley sustained a small rise in the water table because of recharge from surface-water irrigation. Water levels for both the shallow and deep zones of eastern San Joaquin County declined substantially. The area encompassed by the zero-altitude contour grew much larger, especially in the lower pumped zone, indicating seawater intrusion which has caused difficulties for the city of Stockton (fig 2).



FIGURE 29.-Calibration adjustments to postdevelopment water-table net recharge/discharge estimates.



FIGURE 30A-C.-Measured water level in wells showing long-term water-level change, 1925-80. (Altitude shown is that of land surface at the well.)



FIGURE 30D-F.—Measured water level in wells showing long-term water-level change, 1925-80. (Altitude shown is that of land surface at the well.)



FIGURE 30G-1.—Measured water level in wells showing long-term water-level change, 1925–80. (Altitude shown is that of land surface at the well.)

D62



FIGURE 30J.—Measured water level in wells showing long-term water-level change, 1925–80. (Altitude shown is that of land surface at the well.)

The water table rose in the Delta-Mendota and the Westside areas (figs. 27 and 32A) because of recharge from surface-water irrigation. The water table declined substantially in the Chowchilla, Madera, western Kings, Pleasant Valley, Tule, and Kern County areas, which depend heavily on ground water for irrigation and which have many relatively shallow irrigation wells. In 1950, the Friant-Kern Canal (fig. 3) began delivering surface water along the east side of the San Joaquin Valley. In parts of the service area, water-level declines were reversed because of reduction in pumping (fig. 30*I*).

Water levels in the lower pumped zone declined as much as 400 ft in the Westside area from predevelopment to 1961 (figs. 27 and 32*B*). Until 1968, the irrigation in this area was supplied almost entirely by ground water. Around 1960, the lower pumped zone water levels were declining at a rate of about 10 ft/yr.

In the southeast and southern areas of the San Joaquin Valley, water levels in the lower pumped zone were declining, though not as dramatically as in the Westside area because there was some surface water available for irrigation.

## 1961 то 1977

The observed and simulated water-table altitude for spring 1976 and the change in water table from 1961 to 1976 are shown in figure 33. In the Sacramento Valley, areas of past water-level decline showed continued and often accelerated decline. The depression of water level in some areas north of the Delta dropped to more than 40 ft below sea level. The area with watertable altitudes below sea level enlarged substantially. The water-level depression in eastern San Joaquin County developed in magnitude and areal extent.

In the San Joaquin Valley, the rate of water-table decline increased in the Chowchilla, Madera, and western Kings areas. Significant water-table declines occurred in the Kern Delta area as well. In parts of the eastern side of the Tule area, water-table rises continued as a result of recharge from the delivery of surface water begun in 1950 through the Friant-Kern Canal and of reduction of pumpage (Poland and others, 1975, p. 46).

The simulated changes in water-table altitude agree well with the observed data (fig. 33*B*), except in a few areas. The model simulates too much decline in the Chowchilla and eastern San Joaquin areas and the area just north of the Sutter Buttes in the Sacramento Valley. The boundaries of the various areas of similar change (decline or rise) are often shifted slightly from their position on the observed map. This is probably because the location of values of recharge and discharge is not precise.

The observed and simulated spring 1976 water-level altitudes in the lower pumped zone and 1961–76 changes are shown in figure 34. Water levels in the lower pumped zone in the Sacramento Valley continued to decline, especially in the areas east of the Feather River, the Cache-Putah area, and the areas just north and south of Sacramento (fig. 34). Two depressions developed in the Delta area with minimum water levels more than 40 ft below sea level (fig. 34).


FIGURE 31A.-Spring 1961 water-table altitude.



FIGURE 31B.—Spring 1961 hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone,

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS-CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA



FIGURE 31C.-Spring 1961 hydraulic head difference between the water table and the lower pumped zone.

In some areas of the San Joaquin Valley, lower pumped zone water levels continued to decline whereas other areas showed a reversed trend. In 1967, the California Aqueduct began delivering surface water to farms along the west side and near the southern end of the San Joaquin Valley. Ground-water pumpage began decreasing as farms converted to surface-water irrigation, with the result that water levels in the Westside area rose as much as 200 ft by spring 1976 (Ireland and others, 1984, p. 72). In the western Kings area, just to the east, the decline continued because there was still very little surface water delivered to this area. Also, because most of the wells in this area are perforated through the water table and the lower pumped zone, the two zones react to the pumping stress as one zone. Some of the areas in the east side, where surface water is now being delivered by the Friant-Kern Canal, showed continued water-level rises in the lower pumped zone through the 1960's. Most of Kern County showed a continued or slightly increased decline.

The simulated changes in the lower pumped zone water level also agree well with the observed data (fig. 34), except in a few areas. The model simulated too little decline in the central part of Kern County and the western Kings area. It simulated too much decline in eastern San Joaquin County, apparently owing to an overestimated amount of discharge, because the water table decline was also too large. In the Westside area, the 1961–76 period included a period of moderate decline and a period of large recovery. The average simulated overall rise matched the observed average well but was quite variable, as shown on figure 34. The cause is not known but may be related to the size of the model blocks.

The first year of the 1976–77 drought produced very little surface-water runoff, yet most of the reservoirs were near capacity at the beginning of the season, so that there was little effect on the amount of surface water delivered for irrigation (fig. 22). This was especially true in the areas served by the State Water Project. The operation of the Federal Central Valley Project was more conservative, and, as a result, relatively less water was delivered in 1976 so that relatively more water was left to deliver in 1977 as the drought continued and became more severe. As a result of the drought, many farmers drilled or restored the operation of wells to compensate for anticipated surface-water shortages. The State Department of Water Resources received about 4,500 new drillers' logs for irrigation and municipal wells that were drilled in 1977 and 1978 in the San Joaquin Valley. The total number of wells drilled in the valley was probably larger. Water levels declined substantially all over the valley, as shown in the selected hydrographs of observed and simulated water levels in figure 35. The very steep decline in the lower pumped zone shown in figure 35H was caused by a reduction of the amount of water released from compaction during a second period of drawdown for the same head interval. The seasonal decline was much greater than during the 1960's, though the pumpage in the Westside area was only one-half as much.

These hydrographs represent average water levels for a given model block (locations shown on fig. 27) and were selected because they represented different conditions for the valley where substantial data were available. The hydrographs were prepared in the final stages of calibration, therefore prompting little additional calibration of these particular model blocks. The accuracy of the model simulations is shown during the calibration period, 1961–75, and also through the drought, during which time the capabilities of the model were tested.

Rapidly changing water levels at the beginning of a simulation period would indicate that the initial conditions were incorrectly specified. The consistent trends in water-level decline or rise shown in figure 35 suggest that initial conditions were reasonable. Hydrographs for each model block were prepared to check for this problem, and no significant problems were discovered. The hydrographs also allowed comparison of the simulated and observed seasonal water-level fluctuation. This comparison was somewhat hampered because most of the autumn observations were not representative of the lowest water level. The simulated seasonal fluctuation is probably too large (for example, see fig. 35E) because of the allocation of the components of recharge and discharge entirely to one season or the other.

The simulated water levels for model blocks in the southern end of the valley did not decline as much as the observed water levels did during the drought. In the Westside area (for example, fig. 35H, column 51, row 10), the observed decline during 1977 was very large because water levels had been substantially above the record lows and, therefore, little subsidence occurred and the water levels reacted to the small confined storage coefficient. The model simulated this occurrence, but with a smaller magnitude than the observed data. Also, the hydrograph for column 61, row 7 (fig. 35J) shows the observed water table rising slightly and the simulated heads dropping slightly.

## CHANGES IN GROUND-WATER FLOW

Changes in ground-water flow are a secondary effect of changing water levels resulting from changes in recharge and discharge owing to development. In a heterogeneous ground-water system like that in the Central Valley, there are changes to vertical and horizontal flow which, though closely interrelated, will be discussed separately, for clarity.



FIGURE 32A.-Change in water-table altitude from 1860 to spring 1961.



FIGURE 32B.—Change in hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone (layer 3) from 1860 to spring 1961 (using observed values for 1961 and simulated values for 1860).



FIGURE 33A.-Observed water-table altitude, spring 1976.







FIGURE 33B.-Observed change in water-table altitude, spring 1961 to spring 1976.







FIGURE 34A.-Observed hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone (layer 3), spring 1976.







FIGURE 34B.-Observed change in hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone (layer 3), from spring 1961 to spring 1976.

# POST DEVELOPMENT GROUND-WATER FLOW



# SIMULATED

FIGURE 34B.-Simulated change in hydraulic head in the lower pumped zone (layer 3), from spring 1961 to spring 1976.

The dramatic change since development in the pattern of flow, especially the location of major ground-water discharge, is shown in figure 25. Before development, the lower pumped zone heads were near the water-table altitudes and flow was toward the Delta because that was the location of the lowest head. By 1961, pumping in the Westside area had lowered water levels enough so that it became a major discharge area, receiving flow from much of the San Joaquin Valley. In this area, heads in the lower pumped zone were far below sea level



FIGURE 35A-H.-Observed and simulated water levels, 1961-77.

Layer 3

•

Layer 3

in the early 1960's. Notice the very steep gradient toward this area from all sides (figs. 31B and 25), which indicates flow, especially from the east side of the valley toward the west. This large, well-developed depression of water levels in the San Joaquin Valley simplified

calibration of the transmissivities for the simulation model. Calibration of transmissivities requires detailed and accurate knowledge of the volumes of recharge and discharge. There is a greater certainty for the estimates of pumpage during 1961–77 than for values





FIGURE 35I-N.-Observed and simulated water levels, 1961-77.

of recharge and discharge during predevelopment. In calibrating transmissivities, the relative differences in thickness and permeabilities among areas were preserved, with the factor for the whole set of values being adjusted so that the gradients and the amounts of land subsidence matched observed values. The simulated flow from adjacent areas into the Westside area during the early 1960's accounted for about 13 percent of the ground water withdrawn from the area. The remainder was supplied from inelastic compaction (about 47 percent), leakage from the water table (about 32 percent), and elastic storage and upward leakage from below the lower pumped zone (about 8 percent).

Table 7 shows thickness and hydraulic conductivity (K) for all four model layers, and specific yield for the water table. All K values shown have been reduced by a factor of 4 as a result of model calibration. Specific

yield and K values are both related to the coarseness of sediments, which increases toward the south. The average K value for the San Joaquin Valley is almost double that for the Sacramento Valley in layers 1 and 2, and about 50 percent larger for layers 3 and 4. This may be a result of the higher proportion of finer grained volcanic sediments in the Sacramento Valley. The larger proportion of fine-grained sediments may also mean that there is significant potential for future land subsidence in the Sacramento Valley if enough pumpage develops at depth in some locations. The areas that have large alluvial fan deposits (especially Kings and Kern Delta) have the largest K values. The smallest values are found in the flood plains and along the west side of the Central Valley.

To study changes in flow conditions before and after development, the authors used simulations to calculate

TABLE 7.—Summary of specific yield, thickness, and hydraulic conductivity values [Totals may not agree because of rounding]

5	Sub-	S	Specific	cific Thickness (feet)				Horizont after	al hydrau model cal	(ft/d)	Volume of water in storage (1961) to	
(See f	No.	27)	ileid	Layer 1	Layer 2	Layer 3	Layer 4	Layer 1	Layer 2	Layer 3	Layer 4	(million acre-ft)
	11		0.077	759	227	245	174	3.0	3.1	4.4	4.9	43
	12 .		0.062	423	414	235	200	2.0	2.0	3.0	3.7	14
	13		0.074	487	301	304	246	4.1	4.1	5.0	4.7	27
	14		0.072	870	340	340	219	2.3	2.3	4.7	4.8	25
	15		0.079	670	609	313	220	2.0	2.0	3.0	5.5	14
	16		0.074	45	179	233	228	3.0	3.2	4.9	4.7	17
	17 -		0.081	1,029	491	421	321	3.4	3.4	5.2	6.0	26
Sacram	ment	o	0.074	622	328	292	223	2.9	3.0	4.5	4.9	166
	21 .		0.076	580	367	267	237	1.8	1.8	4.1	5.0	40
	22 .		0.080	1,050	377	282	228	2.0	2.0	4.1	5.3	21
	23 .		0.084	965	418	257	243	3.7	3.7	5.1	5.6	51
	24 .		0.103	1,925	439	315	175	2.3	2.3	4.4	7.9	22
Delta			0.084	998	398	273	228	2.6	2.6	4.5	5.7	134
	31 -		0.098	507	595	238	191	4.6	4.6	5.8	6.1	14
	32 .		0.112	1,205	519	370	207	5.4	4.6	5.5	9.1	51
	33 .		0.093	1,148	546	268	199	4.9	4.9	6.3	6.8	23
	34		0.097	1,114	404	293	119	5.3	5.3	6.5	6.9	37
	35		0.090	1,562	434	498	201	3.9	3.9	4.6	6.1	15
	36		0.096	921	696	360	219	5.7	5.7	6.4	7.3	24
San Jo	oaqu	in -	0.100	1,094	522	333	185	5.2	4.9	5.9	7.5	164
	40		0.099	878	356	404	213	6.7	3.7	5.5	7.1	4
	41		0.103	2,234	908	1,073	267	7.1	3.6	4.2	7.5	52
	42		0.113	1,734	984	319	281	6.9	6.9	8.1	9.4	93
	43		0.083	1,328	802	696	576	7.2	6.7	8.6	7.1	37
	44		0.109	1.147	803	507	266	6.4	6.7	7.5	8.6	34
	45		0.085	1.339	832	642	306	5.0	5.0	6.4	5.5	33
	46		0.090	163	501	461	356	3.8	4.2	3.9	5.1	15
	47		0.094	1.141	950	746	322	5.6	5.5	6.3	6.4	42
	48		0.124	3.437	1.015	688	379	6.8	6.8	9.0	10.1	42
	49		0.124	1,530	856	846	306	7.5	7.1	7.7	10.0	13
Tulare	e		0.101	1,488	835	614	331	6.2	5.7	6.7	7.6	365
Centra Vall	al ley		0.092	1,121	578	424	260	4.6	4.3	5.6	6.6	828

the amount of flow across each block face. Owing to the difficulty of summarizing the changes in flow across the great number of block faces, the flows are summarized in cumulative frequency distributions to compare them. The downward flow across a block face is assigned a negative sign, and the upward flow is assigned a positive sign. Because there are four block faces in a horizontal plane, the flow direction cannot be meaningfully summarized; therefore, the authors grouped the calculated horizontal flows by magnitudes but without consideration of flow direction. The authors also calculated flow velocity in both horizontal and vertical directions by dividing the flow quantity by the product of the respective block face area and an assumed effective porosity of 30 percent. The cumulative frequency distributions of flow quantity and flow velocity are shown in figures 36A - H.

Figure 36A suggests that the amount of vertical flow was balanced between upward and downward flow before development. This is required under the assumption of steady-state flow conditions before development. In this situation, the long-term recharge was equal to discharge; therefore, the downward flow in recharge areas was balanced by upward flow in discharge areas. However, this balanced flow condition in the vertical direction was changed by development. Figure 36Eshows the distribution of vertical flow during simulation of 1961 flow conditions. Most of the pumping in the Central Valley in 1961 was located in layers 3 and 4; therefore, the amount of downward flow from surfacewater bodies to layer 4 (a water-table aquifer) and from layer 4 to layer 3 was increased by an order of magnitude greater than that of the predevelopment amounts. The downward flow from layer 3 to layer 2 and from layer 2 to layer 1 was reduced somewhat. The upward flow from layer 3 to layer 4 and from layer 4 to surface-water bodies was also reduced, and the upward flow from layer 1 to layer 2 and from layer 2 to layer 3 was increased (figs. 36A and E). This indicates that pumping has induced recharge and has captured natural discharge. One interesting point is that in a very small area there was more downward flow from layer 3 to layer 2 during development than during predevelopment (17 acre-ft/yr versus 5.7 acre-ft/yr, figs. 36A and E). This probably was caused by inducing more recharge from upper layers owing to pumping; thus, there was more water recharging into layer 2 from layer 3.

The amounts of horizontal flow reveal more interesting points. About one-half of the total block faces in the horizontal direction have very little flow, as indicated by figure 36*B*, because the block faces parallel to the main flow direction have little horizontal flow. The amount of horizontal flow in layer 3 was increased by pumping; however, horizontal flow in layer 4 shows very little effect of pumping even though there were wells in that layer. This probably was due to plenty of recharge to layer 4 (a water-table aquifer), and because the pumping in layer 4 was fairly evenly distributed valleywide. On a regional scale there probably was little change in the magnitude of the hydraulic gradient in layer 4 before and after development. The interesting point is that the change in horizontal flow in layer 2 was the same magnitude as the change in layer 3 (figs. 36E and F), even though there was little pumping in layer 2. The probable explanation is that after development more downward flow was induced by pumping in recharge areas from layer 3 to layer 2, as suggested by figure 36 E. This increased downward flow moved horizontally and flowed upward in pumping or natural discharge areas (fig. 36E). Because there was very little horizontal flow in layer 1, the cumulative frequency curve would not show on the scale chosen to present flow for the other layers.

Figures 36A, B, E, and F suggest that the magnitudes of flow in the vertical direction are much larger than those in the horizontal. Yet the horizontal flow velocities are larger than the vertical flow velocities (figs. 36C and 36D). This contrast in flow magnitudes and flow velocities is due to the geometry of the aquifer and its discretization for simulation. The flow area for vertical flow across horizontal planes is much greater than the area for horizontal flow across vertical planes. This length of the flow paths for vertical flow is much shorter than the length of the flow paths for horizontal flow. The magnitudes of flow are proportional to the area of flow and are inversely proportional to the length of the flow paths. Therefore, even though horizontal permeabilities are mcuh larger than vertical permeabilities, vertical flows on a regional scale can be very large. On a local scale, of course, the flow near a well is mostly horizontal.

# FACTORS AFFECTING VERTICAL FLOW

Water development has changed vertical flows due to (1) changes in the direction and magnitude of the vertical hydraulic gradient caused by changes in recharge and discharge, (2) an increase in the effective or apparent values of vertical leakance (vertical hydraulic conductivity divided by thickness of the layer) caused by wells with long lengths of perforated openings connecting adjacent layers (Bennett and others, 1982), and (3) a possible decrease in vertical leakance caused by compaction of sediments (Helm, 1976, p. 389).

The vertical hydraulic gradient changed dramatically from predevelopment to 1961, as can be seen by comparing figures 15 and 31C. Under predevelopment conditions, the vertical gradient was downward around the margins of the valley and upward in the center. Model



FIGURE. 36A-H.—Variation in horizontal and vertical flows and average pore velocities during predevelopment and 1961 flow conditions. Layer 1 horizontal flows are too small to be shown at this scale.

simulations indicate that the predevelopment head difference between water-table altitudes and water levels in the lower pumped zone was always less than 85 ft and generally less than 25 ft. Irrigation development had two effects on this head difference. First, canal losses and deep percolation of water from irrigated fields added to the recharge of the water table, which caused watertable rises in several areas. Second, ground-water pumpage, about one-half of which was withdrawn from the lower pumped zone (layer 3), increased the discharge from the deep zone. The cumulative effect of these development impacts was to reverse the head gradient in the center of the Central Valley so that the head gradient was in a downward direction almost everywhere. Some exceptions where the head gradient is still upward in test holes with multiple piezometers are in the center of the Sacramento Valley at Zamora (12N/1E-34Q, fig. 2) and Butte City (12N/3E-2G, fig.2), (French and others, 1982,1983b).

Vertical leakance values were determined largely by model calibration. The division of the aquifer system into layers was planned to minimize the complexities of model calibration of leakance which is affected by multilayer wells. Where possible, layer boundaries were chosen so that the perforated interval of most wells was entirely within one layer. Where this was not possible, boundaries were chosen so that perforated intervals of wells would span no more than two adjacent layers. This occurred between layers 3 and 4 in several areas of the valley. In the Westside area, most well perforation intervals spanned most of layers 2 and 3, but very few spanned layers 3 and 4. The vertical leakance used in the predevelopment simulations should reflect only the undisturbed characteristics of the sediments. The leakance used in postdevelopment simulations could reflect substantial alterations due to interconnection by multilayer wells and also due to compaction of sediments. Using hydraulic parameters and well densities typical in the Central Valley, trial calculations show that the effect of multilayer wells should dominate the postdevelopment values of leakance and should result in a significant increase in that value over predevelopment conditions.

Calculations of the multilayer well effect were made using the method of Bennett and others (1982) (see appendix C). Using values typical of the Central Valley, these calculations indicate that an irrigation well connecting two vertically adjacent model blocks should have a vertical hydraulic conductance on the order of 800 ft<sup>2</sup>/day. In contrast, the natural vertical hydraulic conductance (leakance times the area of the block) between the centers of two adjacent model blocks should be about 4,000 ft<sup>2</sup>/day. Thus, in areas where the density of wells reaches one per square mile (or 36 per block), the ver-



FIGURE 37.—Ratio of postdevelopment to predevelopment vertical leakance between layer 4 and layer 3 in 51 model blocks where predevelopment heads could be estimated. See figure 15 for block locations.

tical hydraulic conductance provided by the wells could be expected to be roughly seven times the natural vertical hydraulic conductance of the clay beds between two adjacent layers. The total hydraulic conductance is equal to the sum of the two sources of conductance and therefore would be about eight times its predevelopment value. However, if the leakance of the sediments were significantly reduced by compaction, as Helm (1976) indicates is possible, the contribution of natural conductance under postdevelopment conditions could be reduced from small to negligible.

In general, the calibration results support the inferences developed from the trial calculations described above. Figure 37 shows the comparison of calibrated postdevelopment and predevelopment leakance values between layers 3 and 4 in 51 model blocks where predevelopment heads could be estimated. The locations of these model blocks are shown in figure 15. In 44 model blocks the postdevelopment leakance was higher, while in 7 blocks it was lower. The median ratio of the postdevelopment to predevelopment leakance was about 6. Thus the median value agrees reasonably well with the trial calculations of the effects of well interconnections.

This analysis of leakance also indicates that in the Westside area of the San Joaquin Valley in the 1960's the flow of water from the water-table zone (layer 4) down to the lower pumped zone (layers 2 and 3) as described by Davis and others (1964, pp. 81–88), must have been circulation within and between layers 2 and 3 instead. Using the estimated hydraulic conductance of multilayer wells discussed above, 1,000 active irrigation wells as estimated by Davis and others, and the vertical head difference of 400 ft between layers , which was common in the early 1960's in the Westside area, the estimated flow through the multilayer wells would be about 10 times the leakage simulated in this study. This does not count leakage that could have occurred through the 2,000 abandoned wells. This volume of leakage would have dissipated the vertical head difference between layers 4 and 3 to about one-tenth of the observed difference. In contrast, the head differences that occurred within the lower pumped zone during the pumping season, due to unequal pumping stresses, were on the order of 40 ft, which is consistent with the well conductance estimates. Furthermore, nearly all of the non-zero current meter measurements made in the 1964 study were at depths well within the lower pumped zone (Davis and others, 1964, table 13, p. 84).

#### LAND SUBSIDENCE

The extent and magnitude of land subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley that exceeded 1 ft from 1926 to 1970 is shown in figure 38*B*. Comparing this figure with figure 17, which shows the area of the Corcoran Clay Member and areas of flowing wells in the late 1800's, it is noted that land subsidence occurs mostly where the clay exists. Poland and others (1975, p. H8) separated the subsidence area into three areas (fig. 38*A*): (1) the Los Banos-Kettleman City area west of Fresno, where a maximum subsidence of 29.6 ft was observed in 1977 (Ireland and others, 1984); (2) the Tulare-Wasco area between Fresno and Bakersfield, which includes two areas where subsidence has exceeded 12 ft; and (3) the Arvin-Maricopa area 20 mi south of Bakersfield, where maximum subsidence exceeded 9 ft as of 1970.

Man-induced subsidence in the Central Valley probably began in the middle to late 1800's when the peat soils of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta were drained for cultivation. Weir (1950) noted that in 1922 the entire Delta area was in cultivation, and that farmers in the area were concerned about subsidence. Weir also estimated that subsidence in the lower Jones Tract was  $4\frac{1}{2}$  ft between 1902 (when the tract was first drained) and 1917. This type of subsidence is caused mainly by the oxidation and compaction of the organic peat soils since the lands were drained (Weir, 1950; Newmarch, 1981). The peat lands had to be drained in order to cultivate, which meant that the water table had to be lowered. The draining of the lands is done by a series of ditches that drain to a central location, from where the water is pumped out into the nearby surface channels. During the summer growing season, water is siphoned back into these same ditches to raise the water level in the ground to within the root zone. However, because the land continues to subside, the water table must continually be lowered. The volume of water removed from storage in this area is equal to the specific yield times the change in the water table because the removal of water is more a function of draining the sediments than of water being released from compaction. Subsidence caused primarily by compaction of the finegrained sediments in the aquifer system began in the San Joaquin Valley in the middle 1920's. However, the cumulative volume of subsidence and hence the volume of water released from compaction remained small until after World War II (Poland and others, 1975). Subsidence in the Sacramento Valley presumably began in the early 1950's, although data are sparse (Lofgren and Ireland, 1973). This type of subsidence caused problems, such as cracks in road and canal linings, changing slopes of water channels, and ruptured well casings. During the early 1960's, in parts of the Westside area, large and expensive irrigation wells had a useful life of about 7 years because of casing failures.

Figure 39 shows the cumulative volume of subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley. The total volume of subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley by 1970 was 15.6 million acre-ft (Poland and others, 1975, p. H9). Also included in figure 39 are cumulative volumes of subsidence for each of the three major subsiding areas. The volume of subsidence in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area (fig. 38A) accounted for nearly two-thirds of the total volume of subsidence as of 1970. From 1970 through 1975 there was little subsidence in this area because of surfacewater imports from the California Aqueduct, which greatly reduced the amount of ground-water pumpage. However, subsidence recurred during the drought of 1976 through 1977 owing to an increase in ground-water withdrawal. In addition to the cumulative volume of subsidence, ground-water pumpage was also plotted for the Los Banos-Kettleman City area. The correlation between pumpage and the volume of subsidence is good, indicating that about one-third of the water pumped was derived from compaction of the aquifer system (Poland and others, 1975). The pumpage, however, included all pumpage in the area (both shallow and deep). Bull and Miller (1975) estimated that at least 75 to 80 percent of the water pumped came from the lower pumped zone. Assuming that compaction occurs only in the lower zone, about 43 percent of the water pumped from the lower pumped zone came from compaction of the fine-grained beds. Similar comparisons of water pumped versus volume of subsidence from 1926 to 1970 were not done in the Tulare-Wasco or Arvin-Maricopa areas, mostly because of the absence of pumpage data and partly because the relation between pumpage and subsidence is not as pronounced, as discussed in the section, "Factors that Affect the Relation of Subsidence to Pumpage."

Observed land subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley reported by Poland and others (1975) and Ireland and others (1984) was primarily dependent on periods when detailed leveling lines were made in the areas of major land subsidence. However, the level lines were not always measured during the same years for each of the major subsiding areas. The last detailed leveling for the

#### POSTDEVELOPMENT GROUND-WATER FLOW

	San Joaqu	in Valley	Sacrament	o Valley
Years	Estimated <sup>1</sup>	Simulated	Estimated <sup>2</sup>	Simulated
1961-69	5.2	4.8	0.17	0.10
1970-75	1.1	. 48	.12	.04
1976-77	.60	1.2	.06	.22
1961-77	6.9	6.5	0.35	0.36

TABLE 8.—Comparison of estimated and simulated volumes of land subsidence in the San Joaquin and Sacramento Valleys from 1961 to 1977 [In million acre-feet]

<sup>1</sup>Estimates obtained from Poland and others (1975), Ireland and others (1984), and unpublished data filed in the U.S. Geological Survey office in Sacramento, Calif.

<sup>2</sup>Estimates obtained from Lofgren and Ireland (1973) and unpublished data filed in the U.S. Geological Survey office in Sacramento, Calif.

Tulare-Wasco area was done in 1969–70, for the Arvin-Maricopa area, in 1970, and for the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, in 1971–72 (Ireland and others, 1984, p. 14). Since 1972, only partial leveling of selected lines (particularly along the California Aqueduct) has been done.

Because the times of detailed leveling did not always correspond among areas of subsidence and because the principal simulation period of the aquifer system was from spring 1961 to autumn 1977, yearly estimates of land subsidence from 1961 to 1977 were made primarily on the basis of average rates of subsidence between times of leveling and were prorated to individual years according to extensometer data from wells as reported in Poland and others (1975) and Ireland and others (1984). An estimate of land subsidence was also made for the period during the drought largely on the basis of extensometer data in wells and from a few level lines. The yearly estimated rate of subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley decreased in the 1970's (fig. 39), mostly because of decreased subsidence in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area (figs. 41 A - D), although the yearly estimated subsidence rate increased during the drought of 1976 through 1977 when ground-water pumpage increased greatly. Estimates of pumpage from 1973 through 1977 in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area were also added to figure 39. The relation between pumpage and land subsidence changed following 1970, after which a reduced proportion of the water pumped came from compaction of fine-grained sediments. This reduction probably is due to hydraulic head recovery which accompanied the reduction in pumpage during 1968-75.

SIMULATED SUBSIDENCE, 1961 TO 1977

Overall, the simulated volume of subsidence from 1961 to 1977 in both the San Joaquin and Sacramento Valleys compared well with the estimated volumes of subsidence from leveling and extensometer data for the same period (table 8). Simulated and estimated volume of subsidence for both the Arvin-Maricopa and the Tulare-Wasco areas also compared closely (table 9 and fig. 40). In both areas, the simulated subsidence from 1961 to 1969 was slightly more than the estimated subsidence, while during the period 1970-75 it was slightly less. This is consistent with the simplified approach to land subsidence in the simulation processes because all water is assumed to be released simultaneously during a given head decline in the simulations, whereas in the actual aquifer system, water may be released slowly owing to compaction of the fine-grained (clayey) beds for some time after a given head decline. In the area between the Tulare-Wasco and the Los Banos-Kettleman City areas, simulated subsidence was slightly less than estimated subsidence.

In the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, simulated subsidence west of the Fresno Slough and San Joaquin Rivers was generally less than estimated subsidence (table 9). Simulated subsidence for the period 1961–69 should have been more than estimated subsidence because the time lag was not simulated, and presumably it should have been as much as the amount estimated for 1961–75. The period 1970–76 was a time when generally the water levels recovered and subsidence was probably caused by the time lag between the head change in the aquifer materials and the water released



FIGURE 38A.—Major subsiding areas and locations of wells with water level and compaction data (modified from Ireland, Poland, and Riley, 1984, figs. 6 and 32).



FIGURE 38B.-Land subsidence, 1926-70 (modified from Poland and others, 1975, fig. 6).

from compaction of the fine-grained (clayey) beds to the aquifer system. During the drought of 1976–77, the water levels in the lower pumped zone did not decline below the previous lows observed in the 1960's, yet subsidence was observed along the California Aqueduct and in the few wells with extensometers (Ireland and others, 1984, and fig. 41). Simulated subsidence in the same area was very small, as expected, because most of the heads in the model blocks did not decline below previous lows. Some of the observed subsidence may have been elastic, as indicated by negative compaction values following 1977 (fig. 41).



FIGURE 39.—Volumes of land subsidence in the major subsiding areas of the San Joaquin Valley, and pumpage in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, 1925–77 (modified from Poland and others, 1975, figs. 6, 19, 29, and 38).

The distribution of estimated and simulated subsidence is shown in figure 40. The variations in simulated versus estimated subsidence may be explained in several ways:

1. In the simulation, pumpage from the lower pumped zone was the primary cause of land subsidence. The

estimates of pumpage were summed by quarter townships and then transferred as the model input. The model grids, however, did not correspond to the township grid. Errors in transferring the pumpage from the township grid to the model grid can cause the amount and distribution of subsidence to be shifted in the model simulations.

TABLE 9.—Comparison of estimated and simulated volumes of subsidence to pumpage for the majorsubsiding areas from 1961 to 1977

[Pumpage and land subsidence are in million acre-feet. Pumpage for the lower pumped zone only]

Years	Total pumpage from lower pumped zone	Estimated volume of subsidence	Estimated percentage of pumpage from compaction	Simulated volume of subsidence	Simulated percentage of pumpage from compaction
		Arvi	n-Maricopa area		
1961-69	6.8	0.41	6	0.46	7
1970-75	6.8	.11	2	.08	1
1976-77	1.4	.04	3	.11	8
1961-77	12.6	0.56	4	0.65	5
		Tul	are-Wasco area		
1961-69	7.5	1.0	13	1.2	16
1970-75	5.4	.36	7	.19	4
1976-77	2.2	.31	14	.30	14
1961-77	15.1	1.7	11	1.7	11
		Los Banos	-Kettleman City	area	
1961-69	8.0	3.3	42	2.6	32
1970-75	2.8	.51	18	.14	5
1976-77	1.0	.23	23	.05	5
1961-77	11.8	4.1	35	2.8	24
		Dav	is-Zamora area		
1961-69	2.0	0.17	9	0.03	2
1970-75	1.4	.12	9	.01	1
1976-77	.46	.06	12	.07	14
1961-77	3.9	0.35	9	0.11	3



# **ESTIMATED**

FIGURE 40A.-Estimated land subsidence, 1961-75.



FIGURE 40B.-Simulated land subsidence, 1961-75.

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS-CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA



FIGURE 41A-D.—Measured water levels and compaction of selected wells in the major subsiding areas of the San Joaquin Valley, 1940–80. (After Ireland and others, 1984, figs. 22, 16, 21 and 24.)



FIGURE 41E and F.—Measured water levels and compaction of selected wells in the major subsiding areas of the San Joaquin Valley, 1940–80. (After Ireland and others, 1984, figs. 29 and 31.)

2. Estimates of land subsidence, particularly after 1972, are based primarily on projections of localized data to areas without data. Because several parts of the Central Valley have not been releveled since 1970, these estimates of subsidence are subject to error.

3. The simulated amount of subsidence in any model block is dependent on the head at which inelastic compaction begins (the critical head). In the simulations, head in the clayey beds within the aquifer system was assumed to immediately equal the head in the aquifer system. Without considering the time lag, this assumption involves error because sufficient time is needed for a change in head in the aquifer to propagate through the thicker clayey beds.

4. Estimates of the critical head initially used in the simulation from 1961 through 1977 were made for areas of known subsidence by subtracting an estimated average head fluctuation in the 1960's from the heads of spring 1961. For critical heads in areas outside areas of known subsidence, a head of 80 ft less than the simulated steady-state head was used. Holzer (1981) estimated a change in head of 85 ft before significant subsidence occurred in the Tulare-Wasco area. He made this estimate on the basis of the observation that the ratio of subsidence to water-level decline increased dramatically in two wells in the area. The critical head in several of the model blocks, particularly in the active subsiding areas, were adjusted such that the simulated and estimated subsidence and drawdowns corresponded. The adjustments of head were usually small, less than

20 ft in most model blocks. These adjustments were not significant because the method used to estimate critical heads was not exact. Errors in estimating the critical head for each model block affect the simulated distribution and amount of subsidence as well as the heads in the lower pumped zone.

5. Subsidence was computed during simulations by multiplying the inelastic storage value by the amount of drawdown that was simulated when the inelastic storage value was actively used. However, if the computed head decreased below the critical head during the first time step of a pumping period, no subsidence was computed. This error was reduced by using a short initial time step.

6. In the simulations, when heads declined below the critical head values, water was released from compaction instantaneously. When the heads recovered above the lowest computed head, subsidence would not begin again until after the head was lower than the new critical head value. However, continuation of subsidence in the aguifer system (although at greatly reduced rates) has been observed for years after the time that heads recovered in the aquifer system. These observations are supported by water levels and extensometer data in the major subsiding areas (figs. 41A-F). In fact, observed subsidence in figures 41A, 41C, 41D, and 41F increased during the drought of 1976–77 even though water levels in wells did not go below the previous low water level. However, some of the observed subsidence during the drought may have been caused by elastic compression,

as indicated by the negative compaction (rebound) values following the drought. Similarly, water levels in a well near Delano in the Tulare-Wasco area did not show a continued yearly water-level decline, yet compaction (although somewhat variable) was continuous from 1958-77 (fig. 41E). The yearly simulated subsidence for this area was zero for the periods when the heads did not decline below the previous lowest head. Not being able to simulate subsidence during these conditions is the result of using a simplified approach to the complicated mechanics of subsidence. In particular, the assumption that the head in the coarse-grained deposits in the aquifer system is equal to the heads in the finegrained deposits is not true (see "Model Limitations" section).

#### FACTORS THAT AFFECT THE RELATION OF SUBSIDENCE TO PUMPAGE

Estimates of ground-water pumpage, determined from electric power consumption and pump-efficiency tests, have been compiled yearly from 1961 through 1977 for most of the Central Valley (Diamond and Williamson, 1983). In addition, pumpage estimates were divided between the upper water-table zone and the lower pumped zone. A comparison of subsidence or the amount of compaction of the fine-grained sediments and pumpage in the lower pumped zone was done for each of the major subsidence areas (table 9).

The percentage of the total water pumped that was released from the fine-grained (clayey) sediments and caused compaction varied from area to area (table 9). The lowest overall percentage from 1961 through 1977 occurred in the Arvin-Maricopa area, where presumably only 2 to 6 percent of the water pumped from the lower pumped zone came from compaction. In contrast, as much as 42 percent of the pumpage came from compaction in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area during a period of major subsidence in 1961 through 1969.

The difference in the proportion of water released during compaction to total pumpage among the major subsidence areas is probably caused by (1) variations in amount, compressibility, and origin of the fine-grained sediments, and (2) variations in applied stress that compacts the deposits (Poland and others, 1972, p. 6). These variations are discussed in the following paragraphs.

Texture maps showing the amount of coarse-grained deposits with depth were prepared by Page (1986, figs. 6–21, 29–34). These maps indicate that the amount of coarse-grained material is consistently less to depths of 2,100 ft in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area than in the other major subsidence areas. The Arvin-Maricopa area consistently shows more coarse-grained material (Page, 1986, fig. 34). Thus, the variations in proportions of water released during compaction to total pumpage can generally be explained by differences in the percentage of fine-grained deposits.

Meade (1968, p. 4) indicates that montmorillonite is more susceptible to compaction than either illite or kaolinite. In each of the major subsidence areas in the San Joaquin Valley, montmorillonite was determined to be the major clay mineral, and was between 65 to 75 percent of the total clay minerals, as shown in the table below (from Meade, 1967, p. C18, C34, C46).

Clay mineral	Los Banos- Kettleman City (percent)	Tulare- Wasco (percent)	Arvin- Maricopa (percent)
Montmorillonite	70	60	75
Illite	10	20	10
Chlorite	10	0	10
Kaolinite-type mineral Vermiculite	5	10 10	5
Mixed-layer mont- morillonite-illite and low grade illite-montmoril-			
lonite	5	Trace	_

The results are based on 85 samples from four deep test holes in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, 26 samples from two test holes in the Tulare-Wasco area, and 8 samples from one test hole in the Arvin-Maricopa area.

In contrast, the principal clay mineral found in soils and alluvium of the upper San Joaquin River basin was kaolinite and in many of the samples montmorillonite was absent (Meade, 1967, p. C21). Similarly, analyses of core samples from three test holes in the Sacramento Valley (one near Zamora) indicate that kaolinite is also the dominant clay mineral and that no montmorillonite was found in any of the samples to a measureable extent (French and others, 1982).

The montmorillonite in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area is in part derived from transport by streams that originate in the Diablo Range to the west (Meade, 1967, p. C18); aggregates of montmorillonite clays were found in the fan deposits. Some of the montmorillonite was also formed after the sediments were deposited. The source of montmorillonite in sediments from the Sierra Nevada is uncertain. Meade (1967, p. C18) listed possible sources as the belt of metamorphic rocks in the western foothills of the Sierra Nevada or clays from the Coast Ranges which were mixed with sediments from the Sierra Nevada; the montmorillonite clays may have formed by alteration or transformation of other minerals soon after they were deposited in the valley.

Reasons for the absence of montmorillonite in test holes in the Sacramento Valley and in analyses of soils and alluvium in the upper San Joaquin River basin are unknown, because the source areas of the sediments (Coast Ranges and the Sierra Nevada) are essentially the same. Although the major subsidence areas in the San Joaquin Valley contain principally montmorillonite, differences in the amount of compaction compared to pumpage cannot be explained by differences in the types of clay minerals. However, the absence of montmorillonite in other areas might contribute to a lesser amount of subsidence.

The origin of deposition of the sediments may also contribute to differences in the amounts of water contributed to pumpage from compacting clays in the major subsidence areas. Bull (1975) determined that in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area the highest apparent compressibility of the sediments in the lower pumped zone coincides with the area of flood-plain deposits, as opposed to areas of alluvial fan deposits, and that the bedding of the deposits is an important factor controlling the magnitude and rate of compaction. In the Arvin-Maricopa area, the proportion of flood-plain or lacustrine sediments is small (Lofgren, 1975, pl. 1), and in the Tulare-Wasco area, the proportion of flood-plain or lacustrine sediments increases to the west, where beneath the present-day Tulare Lake bed the sediments are largely lacustrine or flood plain in origin (Lofgren and Klausing, 1969, p. B9). Also, Meade (1967, p. C27) noted that the alluvial fan deposits in the Tulare-Wasco area differed from those in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area because the deposits in the Tulare-Wasco area are generally coarser grained and contain fewer fine clays. For these reasons, the variations in the amount of water contributed to pumpage from compacting clays may, in part, be explained by the depositional environment of the sediments.

Variations in the change in the effective stress among major subsidence areas may also affect the proportion of water contributed to pumpage from compacting clays. The change in effective stress in a confined aquifer system is proportional to the head difference between the hydraulic head in the confined zone and the water table (Lofgren, 1968). Thus, the greatest change in effective stress occurs when the hydraulic head in the lower confining zone is declining and the head in the water-table zone is rising or staying nearly constant. However, when water levels in both the confining zone and the water-table zone are declining, the change in effective stress would be small. Thus, variations in well construction or in the amount of water pumped that came from the water-table zone in the major subsidence areas may cause variations in the amount of water released due to compaction.

Differences in well construction in the major subsidence areas may in part explain the differences in the ratio of the amount of water released from compaction to the amount of water pumped. The amount of water pumped per unit area in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area is smaller than it is in the Arvin-Maricopa area (see fig. 23 for pumpage and fig. 38A for location), yet the amount of water released from compaction compared with pumpage is high (table 9). Most of the wells in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area are perforated below the shallow water-table zone because of poor quality water in the water-table zone (Davis and others, 1959, p. 184; Bull and Miller, 1975, p. E25). However, in the Tulare-Wasco and the Arvin-Maricopa areas, water is obtained from a greater interval of the aquifer system (Lofgren and Klausing, 1969, p. 43; Lofgren, 1975, p. D44) and the perforated intervals commonly extend from the water-table zone into the lower pumped zone.

The effect of this type of well construction is threefold: (1) some of the water pumped from the wells in the Tulare-Wasco and the Arvin-Maricopa areas probably came from the water-table zone, (2) the water levels in both the water-table zone and the lower pumped zone were lowered, thus reducing the vertical hydraulic gradient and consequently the rate of compaction of the finegrained sediments, and (3) the wells with perforations open to both the water-table zone and the lower pumped zone essentially increased the vertical hydraulic conductance and hence the amount of circulation between the water-table zone and the lower pumped zone, as described in the section, "Changes in Ground-Water Flow."

In summary, the variations in the ratio of the amount of water released during compaction to the amount of water pumped can be explained by several factors. These are the amount of fine-grained sediments, the types of clay minerals, the environment of deposition of the sediments, and the change in vertical hydraulic gradient which is dependent on the perforated intervals of wells.

#### CHANGE IN AQUIFER STORAGE

Increase in discharge (such as pumpage) or decrease in recharge causes decline in water levels, which indicates release of water from storage in the aquifer system. There are three types of release from aquifer storage: (1) water-table release (water released from storage is a result of gravity drainage of water stored in pores of the sediments); (2) elastic release (water released from storage is a result of the expansion of the compressed water and sediments when the hydraulic pressure is reduced); and (3) release from inelastic compaction, which occurs only when applied stress exceeds preconsolidation stress so that the pores of the sediments are rearranged and pore volume is reduced (the action is irreversible, i.e., permanent).

The total estimated decrease in ground-water storage from predevelopment conditions until 1961 was about 47 million acre-ft and through 1977, 60 million acre-ft. The decrease in aquifer storage for the period 1961 through 1977 was estimated to be about 13 million acreft, or about three-quarters of a million acre-ft/yr. This decrease in aquifer storage is due to discharge (mainly pumpage) in excess of recharge. The amount of water released from water-table and elastic storage were calculated as the product of water-level changes, covered area, and the appropriate storage coefficients. This calculation probably is better than the calculation of storage changes from a water-budget approach, because small errors in recharge/discharge can cause large errors in the calculations of aquifer-storage changes. It would be desirable to determine aquifer-storage changes for shorter time periods to see the status of the system before and after the major water-importation development began. However, it is not feasible to determine aquifer-storage changes accurately for any shorter period of time because of the high variability in climatic conditions which overwhelms the short-term effects of development.

The volume of aquifer-storage change is substantial; however, it is still very small compared with the total volume of water in aquifer storage (table 7). The storage values shown in table 7 were calculated from the product of the specific yield and the thickness determined from the difference between the altitude of the 1961 water table and the shallower of (1) a depth of 1,000 ft, or (2) the base of continental deposits, or (3) the base of freshwater. There was more than 800 million acre-ft of freshwater in storage in the aquifer system at depths of 1,000 ft or less in the Central Valley as of spring 1961.

## WATER-TABLE ZONE

The volumetric change in storage resulting from head changes in the water-table zone was estimated by analyzing the water-level data. The model-simulation results were not used because slight differences in the balance of recharge and discharge causing a small mean difference in observed and simulated water levels would substantially affect the simulated changes in aquifer storage in the water-table zone.

Seasonal high or low water levels for each measured well (usually spring high and autumn low) were averaged for the four geographic areas of the Central Valley (see fig. 27). December to May was used as the spring season, and June to November as the autumn season. Depth to water was chosen over water-level altitudes because its variation was less dependent on the selection of wells in a given season. Variation in waterlevel altitude is largely related to variations in landsurface altitude, and so it is dependent on the selection of wells measured. Averages were made over large areas to minimize the effect of outliers. The change in depth to water was multiplied by the land area where the changes occurred and the average specific yield to obtain the values of changes in aquifer storage in the water-table zone. Using the average specific yield introduces some errors if the specific-yield values are not distributed evenly with respect to the distribution of depth-to-water measurements. There were more than 2,000 water-level measurements for most of the spring seasonal averages. Estimates of the change in aquifer storage in the water-table zone were 34 million acre-ft for the period from predevelopment until 1961, and about 5.5 million acre-ft for 1961–77.

## ELASTIC STORAGE

Elastic storage is a result of the expansion of water and the compression of sediments because of change in fluid pressure. Change in elastic storage is computed as the product of the elastic specific storage, the thickness of the confined aquifer, the aquifer area, and the decline in head. This was calculated for each of the 484 model blocks that had head declines, using the thickness of layer 3, or the sum of the thicknesses of layers 2 and 3 in the 163 model blocks where many wells penetrated layer 2. The thickness of layer 1 was ignored because the drawdown was negligible. The change in elastic storage in layer 4 is obscured by and included with the change in water-table storage. The average estimated elastic specific storage was  $3 \times 10^{-6}$  per ft. The estimates of elastic specific storage were increased by a factor of two in most areas during calibration of the model with 6-month time periods. The calibrated elastic specific storage may be too large because allocating all agricultural pumpage to the autumn period and allocating all recharge to the spring period exaggerated the seasonal change in stress. The average lower pumped zone head decline was 80 ft. The amount of water released from elastic storage was about 3 million acre-ft from predevelopment to 1961.

The average head decline in the lower pumped zone from spring 1961 to spring 1976 was small because in many areas water levels declined; however, in other areas, they rose sharply. Therefore, the net change in elastic storage during that period was negligible.

#### WATER RELEASED FROM INELASTIC COMPACTION

The process of compaction of fine-grained sediment in the aquifer system caused by head decline was discussed in the sections on land subsidence. When the finegrained sediments in the aquifer are compacted, grains are reoriented and there is a reduction in the pore space within the compacted beds, thus releasing water. The volume of water released by compaction is approximately equal to the volume of land subsidence observed at the surface. Four other processes also cause land subsidence in the Central Valley (Poland and others, 1975): oxidation and compaction of peat soils, compaction of moisture-deficient sediments near land surface when water is first applied, compaction of deep deposits caused by the withdrawal of gas and oil, and tectonic settling. These processes cause only localized subsidence or a small rate of subsidence compared with subsidence caused by the decline of hydraulic heads within the aquifer system. Thus, the amount of water that has been released from compaction in the Central Valley was estimated by the volume of land subsidence through 1977, which is 17 million acre-ft.

The loss of pore space is a loss of storage capacity in the aquifer system. Therefore, if water levels recover to their previous highest altitude, the amount of water stored in the aquifer system is not the same as the amount stored before compaction; it is less. Inelastic compaction means permanent compaction. This type of land subsidence represents a one-time withdrawal of water from storage. However, the storage capacity of the coarse-grained sediments is unchanged.

Table 10 compares the amounts of water released from inelastic compaction to ground-water pumpage and water released from the water-table zone. From 1961 to 1978, about 7.3 million acre-ft of water was released from inelastic compaction, or about 4 percent of the total estimated pumpage of 189 million acre-ft for the entire Central Valley. Almost three-fourths of the water released from inelastic compaction occurred between 1961 and 1970, a period of major subsidence in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area (see table 9).

Most of the water released from inelastic compaction occurred in the Tulare area (see fig. 27 for location). In that area, the amount of water released from inelastic compaction during the period 1961–70 was about 8 percent of the estimated pumpage in the Tulare Basin (table 10). The amount of water released from inelastic compaction in the other areas during the same period was 3 percent or less. For the entire Central Valley, the amount of water released from the water-table zone was about 3 percent of the estimated pumpage for spring 1961 to spring 1978 (table 10). Thus, it can be concluded that most of the water pumped from 1961–78 came from increased recharge and decreased natural discharge.

# MODEL LIMITATIONS

The model represents only the significant features of the aquifer system. It grossly simplifies the system, both in its temporal and spatial variability and in its processes. The following discussion is intended to alert readers not to overextend conclusions drawn from results of the simulations and to provide suggestions for further study.

# CALIBRATION

Calibration of the flow model during this study is achieved by adjusting the values of one or more aquifer properties or recharge/discharge such that the computer simulated hydraulic heads match (within the limits of the investigation) the observed heads in the aquifer system. Calibration is a continuous process until a point that the head difference between the simulated and observed values reaches a preset value (a criteria set by the authors). Further improvement is still possible because of the vast number of values that can be adjusted. However, the process is constrained by the amount of data available to determine how closely the observed data can be reproduced by simulation. The differences among observed and simulated water-level changes from 1961 through 1975 are summarized in table 11. The following are discussions of these differences:

1. The errors in matching observed water-level changes in layer 4 (the water-table zone) are less than those in layer 3 (the lower pumped zone). This is not surprising because the smaller elastic-storage coefficient in layer 3 causes the hydraulic head in layer 3 to respond faster to pumpage; hence, any head change is magnified.

2. Simulated water levels in layers 3 and 4 at the end of the calibration period are too high, by a modelwide average of 2.6 ft in layer 4 and 12.0 ft in layer 3. This probably indicates that the estimates of recharge were too high, or that the estimates of discharge were too low, or both. This systematic error, which is cumulative, as indicated by the increasing average observed minus simulated head difference with time (fig. 42), could have been adjusted by multiplying recharge and discharge values by a factor. This adjustment was not made because there is no hydrologic basis for it and because it would not really add significantly to the overall fit or to the understanding of the system. This error appears to have little relation to whether or not the block was one where the observed water levels rose or declined.

3. Figure 43 indicates that 80 percent of the simulated minus observed water-level differences are within +23 to -26 ft for the water table, and +15 to -45 ft for the lower pumped zone.

Comparison of observed and simulated water levels would not have much meaning unless something is known about the errors in estimating observed average water level for a block at a time period. Because of the size of the blocks chosen and the variability of water levels in space, time, and depth, the accuracy of

# REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

 TABLE 10.—Proportion of pumpage from water table and compaction storage

[Pumpage and water released from water table and compaction storage are in millions of acre-feet. Note that the main source of water for pumpage is not storage, but increased recharge and decreased natural discharge. Locations of areas in the Central Valley are shown in figs. 1 and 27].

					1	Estima	Estimated water released from or recharge into aquifer storage <sup>1</sup>					
					Pumpage <sup>2</sup>	Water table zone	Contributed to pumpage in percent	Compaction	Contributed to pumpage in percent			
				S	acramento V	alley -	area l					
Spring	1961	to	spring	1970	11.3	0.6	5	0.17	2			
Spring	1970	to	spring	1976	9.0	1.6	18	.12	1			
Spring	1976	to	autumn	1977	4.7	.6	13	.06	1			
Autumn	1977	to	spring	1978	(3)	-1.8						
Spring	1961	to	spring	1978	25.0	1.0	4	0.35	1			
					Delta Ar	ea - ar	ea 2					
Spring	1961	to	spring	1970	12.3	-0.6		$(^{4})$				
Spring	1970	to	spring	1976	8.9	.05	1					
Spring	1976	to	autumn	1977	3.7	1.1	30					
Autumn	1977	to	spring	1978	( <sup>3</sup> )	-1.0						
Spring	1961	to	spring	1978	24.9	-0.5						
				S	an Joaquin	Valley	- area 3					
Spring	1961	to	sprine	1970	17 0	-0.02		0.48	3			
Spring	1970	to	spring	1976	12.3	1 3	11	. 18	1			
Spring	1976	to	autumn	1977	5 4	3.9	72	.18	1			
Autumn	1977	to	spring	1978	$(^{3})$	-2.3						
Spring	1961	to	spring	1978	34.7	2.9	8	0.74	2			
	dia				Tulare Ba	sin – a	rea 4		<u> </u>			
Spring	1961	to	sprino	1970	58.9	-1.6		4.7	8			
Sprine	1970	to	spring	1976	32.1	1.8	6	.89	3			
Spring	1976	to	autumn	1977	13.6	5.0	37	.54	4			
Autumn	1977	to	spring	1978	(3)	-2.3						
Spring	1961	to	spring	1978	1.04.6	2.9	3	6.1	6			

See footnotes at end of table.

#### MODEL LIMITATIONS

TABLE 10.—Proportion of pumpage from water table and compaction storage—Continued [Pumpage and water released from water table and compaction storage are in millions of acre-feet. Note that the main source of water for pumpage is not storage, but increased recharge and decreased natural discharge. Locations of areas in the Central Valley are shown in figs. 1 and 27].

						Esti	mat	ed water	released fro	m storage <sup>1</sup>
						Water	Pe	rcentage		Percentage
					Pumpage <sup>2</sup>	table	of	pumpage	Compaction	of pumpage
				Ent	tire Centra	l Valle	y -	Total		
Spring	1961	to	spring	1970	99.5	-1.6			5.4	5
Spring	1970	to	spring	1976	62.2	4.8		8	1.2	2
Spring	1976	to	autumn	1977	27.4	10.6		39	.7	2
Autumn	1977	to	spring	1978	(3)	-8.3				
Spring	1961	to	spring	1978	189.1	5.5		3	7.3	4

<sup>1</sup>Negative values indicate an increase in the volume of water stored in the aquifer system. Estimates of the amount of water released from elastic storage in the lower pumped zone is not shown because the values are small (less than 0.05 million acre-ft) for each of the major areas, even though head declines may be large in the lower pumped zone at several locations.

<sup>2</sup>Pumpage includes estimates of all pumpage from both the water-table zone and the lower pumped zone. Estimates in the Delta area are considerably more than those shown in table 2 of Diamond and Williamson (1983). In this table the estimates represent the entire Delta area.

<sup>3</sup>Pumpage that occurs during this period is excluded from the study period. <sup>4</sup>Water released from compaction of sediments (land subsidence) in the Delta area is caused primarily by drainage of peat lands, and the amount of water released is incorporated into the specific yield of the water table.

Layer	Number	Observed	Observ level	ved water- L change	Observ - simul	ed change ated change	Absolute value of observed change	
	of blocks	decline or rise	Mean	Standard deviation	Mean <sup>1</sup>	Standard deviation	<u>- sim</u> Mean	llated change Standard deviation
4	529	both	5.1	20.3	-2.6	21.9	16.5	14.6
	396	decline	15.0	16.2	-2.3	21.9	17.1	13.8
	133	rise	-13.0	13.5	-3.1	22.0	15.5	16.0
3	529	both	8.0	48.8	-12.0	27.4	22.0	20.2
	435	decline	30.3	28.4	-10.8	24.9	20.9	17.4
	94	rise	-41.6	48.1	-14.5	32.3	24.5	25.4

TABLE 11.—Summary of water-level changes, observed and simulated, 1961-75, in feet

<sup>1</sup>Observed change-simulated change: negative sign means simulated water level above observed water level.


FIGURE 42.-Departure of simulated and observed water levels, 1961-76.

estimating a block's water level is approximately 20 ft. In light of this fact, the statistics about the model fit seem reasonable.

The absence of knowledge about water levels is even more pronounced at depth. In addition, two-thirds of the wells in which water levels are monitored do not have drillers' logs or other construction data available. Only three known piezometers measure water levels in the deep zone (layer 1) below the lower pumped zone, and these are all in the Sacramento Valley. There are other indications of water level at depth, such as gas-well shutin pressures. A problem in interpreting these gas-well data is that the shut-in pressures were observed only when the wells were drilled, whereas gas pressure changes as the field is developed.

# VARIABLE DENSITY

As previously described in the section, "Extent of Freshwater," saline water is found below the freshwater body throughout much, if not all, of the Central Valley. Salinity of water in these deeper zones may exceed that of seawater (Hill, 1972). Model simulations made during this study did not account for the differences in density of the waters. Because the ratio of seawater density to freshwater density is 41 to 40, a freshwater head of 41 ft would be equal to a seawater head of 40 ft. Ignoring the density difference introduces an error of about 2.5 percent in the head values from the deepest part of the aquifer system where saline water occurs. The source and movement of this saline water is not known. A preliminary analysis of shut-in pressure data shows that the simplest assumption of a static head distribution in the saline water system is invalid. The rate of movement of the interface between the fresh and saline water has not been analyzed.

### **RECHARGE AND DISCHARGE ESTIMATES**

A significant limitation of the simulation of the aquifer system is the inability to relate variability of recharge and discharge to water-table fluctuations. Regression analyses using estimated values of recharge from, and discharge to, streams showed a poor correlation with depth to water. This poor correlation is probably due to the depth-to-waterdata, which were not always observed



FIGURE 43.—Cumulative distribution of the deviation of simulated water levels from observed water levels for the end of the calibration period, spring 1961 to spring 1976, for the water table (layer 4) and the lower pumped zone (layer 3).

near the streams. Recharge and discharge did not need to be head-dependent in the simulation algorithm because there was no need for prediction capabilities in the simulation. The relation was assumed to be inherent in the estimated data collected for the calibration period.

As mentioned earlier, the estimates of net recharge/discharge were adjusted during calibration by adding a factor that was constant in time for each block. The relation of the final calibrated estimates to the initial estimates is shown in figure 44. These values represent 1961–77 averages of net recharge/discharge to and from the water-table zone. As shown by figure 44, there were many values that were changed by a factor several times greater than the initial estimated values. This may not be indicative of a large absolute change, because some values were very small to start with. However, there is a definite need for improvement in data, methods of estimating, and methods of distributing the values geographically.

## SUBSIDENCE

The modification of the Trescott (1975) ground-waterflow computer program which was used to simulate land subsidence had two major shortcomings. First, the subsidence resulting from head declines was simulated as if it all occurred during the same time step as the head decline, whereas in the aquifer system there is a significant time lag before all of the subsidence occurs. Therefore, the short-term subsidence simulations are in error, but the magnitude of the error decreases with time. Second, the change from one storage value to another was explicit; it was done at the beginning of each time step based on whether or not the head in the previous time step dropped below the critical head. Thus, small time steps were necessary in the simulations to minimize this error, and this increased the computer time and the cost of each simulation.

The method of simulating subsidence used during this investigation also did not accurately simulate the effects of the 1976–77 drought. Simulated subsidence was less than observed subsidence because in many model blocks, the head did not decline below the previous lowest head. However, some of the observed compaction, as measured from wells with extensometers, was elastic. This is demonstrated by the negative compaction after the drought, indicating elastic rebound.

Another problem with the technique of simulating water released from compaction was the value used for the starting "critical" head—the head at which inelastic compaction begins. The simulated volume of subsidence, especially for the early years, was sensitive to the initial estimate of the critical head. Initial critical-head values were estimated to be 80 ft less than the predevelopment water levels of the early 1900's. The 80-ft difference was based on estimates by Holzer (1981) at a few locations in California. Model simulations began in 1961 during a period of major subsidence in several parts of the Central Valley, and water levels in several areas were already many feet below the initial estimate



FIGURE. 44.—Ratio of calibrated to estimated net recharge/discharge to and from the water-table zone. Negative values indicate that the sign changed during calibration.

of the critical heads. Thus, in areas where the water levels in 1961 were below the initial estimate of critical head, the critical head was estimated to be the previous observed low water level, which commonly had occurred during the 1960 irrigation season. Critical-head values were adjusted as much as 15 ft in several model blocks during the calibrations.

An approach suggested by Helm (oral commun., 1979), coupling a three-dimensional flow model with his onedimensional (vertical) subsidence model (Helm, 1975), was investigated but abandoned because of the potential numerical instability of coupling the two models.

Another approach which used several layers at the bottom of the three-dimensional flow model to simulate the processes that operate within individual fine-grained beds was only preliminarily tested owing to insufficient time and the uncertainty of success associated with the application of new approaches. These lower layers in the model would have simulated only one-half (edge to center) of one fine-grained bed, so the flow from the top aquitard layer to the lower pumped zone of the aquifer system would have to be multiplied by two times the number of aquitards to simulate the combined effect of all of the aquitards on the lower pumped zone.

Though not thoroughly applied, this approach has several potential advantages: it is implicit, it allows for the time lag, it relies wholly on the numerical stability of the three-dimensional flow model, which has been extensively tested, and it allows detailed vertical discretization where necessary. A major problem with this approach is that it would not permit simulation of aquifer zones below the lower pumped zone because they would be totally confined from the lower pumped zone by the simulated aquitard. In the real system, finegrained beds confine flow only in a very local area because their lateral extent is usually small. The approach was tested in a 3-by-3 areal grid to compare it with the results of Helm's model. A 3-by-3 areal grid will have only one vertical set of active blocks, so it essentially becomes a one-dimensional vertical system. Helm's simulation results were duplicated with only four layers representing the half aquitard. However, it would not accurately simulate the second cycle of renewed water-level declines that occurred in the Westside area during the drought. Helm's model was not tested under these conditions. This approach appears to have some promise based on a small-scale test, but it needs further refinement and testing.

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Agricultural production of the Central Valley is dependent on the availability of water for irrigation. One-half of this irrigation water is supplied by ground water. Ground-water pumpage in the Central Valley accounts for 74 percent of California's total pumpage and about 20 percent of the Nation's irrigation pumpage. Groundwater pumpage is especially important in dry years because it supplements highly variable surface-water supplies. In 1975, about 57 percent of the total land area (12.8 million acres) in the Central Valley was irrigated. This heavy agricultural development during the past 100 years has had major impacts on the aquifer system. Ground-water flow before and during development was simulated using a three-dimensional finite-difference flow model on a regional scale.

The Central Valley is a large structural trough filled with marine sediments that are overlain by continental deposits. More than half of the thickness of the continental sediments is composed of fine-grained sediments. When development began in the 1880's, flowing wells and marshes were found throughout most of the central part of the Central Valley. Most previous investigators have conceptualized the northern one-third of the valley, the Sacramento Valley, as one water-table aquifer and the southern two-thirds, the San Joaquin Valley, as a two-aquifer system separated by a regional confining clay layer. A somewhat different conceptual model of the aquifer system is suggested during this investigation by analysis of water-level measurements, lithologic analysis, and the simulated flow conditions. Vertical hydraulic-head differences are present nearly throughout the valley. The new conceptual model assumes that the entire thickness of the continental deposits is one aquifer system that has varying vertical leakance and confinement depending on the proportion of fine-grained sediments.

The average horizontal hydraulic conductivity for the Central Valley is about 6 ft/d and the average thickness of the continental sediments is about 2,400 ft. The average horizontal hydraulic conductivity for the Sacramento Valley is about one-half of the average for the San Joaquin Valley, probably because of the greater amount of volcanic sediment found in the Sacramento Valley. These conditions could be significant in evaluating the potential for land subsidence in the future. Saline water underlies the freshwater throughout most of the Central Valley. The difference in density between fresh and saline waters was not considered in the simulations during this investigation because the aquifer system below the base of freshwater is poorly understood.

During 1961-77, an average of 22 million acre-ft/yr of water was used for irrigation; about one-half of the water was ground water. This level of development has increased evapotranspiration and decreased surfacewater outflow by about 9 million acre-ft/yr from its predevelopment value (24 million acre-ft/yr). This is a large value compared with the average annual surfacewater inflow to the Central Valley of 31.7 million acreft. Precipitation on the valley floor (12.4 million acreft/yr) is mostly lost to evapotranspiration. The overall irrigation efficiency (an average of 59 percent) increased during the 1961-77 period, apparently as the result of water conservation. Overall, the postdevelopment recharge and discharge values for the aquifer system were about 6 times greater than the predevelopment values. Postdevelopment average recharge came mostly from irrigation return (83 percent), but also from precipitation (13 percent) and infiltration from streams (4 percent). The actual proportion from streams is probably larger, but owing to the scale of the regional model constructed during this investigation, some stream recharge cancels with local discharge to other nearby stream reaches.

The increases in pumpage because of agricultural development, especially where little surface water was available, have caused water-level declines that exceed 400 ft in places and have contributed to the largest volume of land subsidence in the world due to groundwater withdrawal. From predevelopment until 1977, the volume of water in aquifer storage declined about 60 million acre-ft, with 40 million acre-ft from the watertable zone, 17 million acre-ft from inelastic compaction of fine-grained sediments, and 3 million acre-ft from elastic storage. During 1961-77, ground water withdrawn from storage averaged about 800,000 acreft/yr. As of 1977, more than 800 million acre-ft of freshwater was in aquifer storage in the upper 1,000 ft of sediments. Aquifer storage greatly exceeds surfacewater storage, which is about equal to the average annual surface-water inflow (31.7 million acre-ft). This was evident during the 1976-77 drought, when surface storage was depleted and many farmers switched to ground water for irrigation.

The simulation model was calibrated principally according to the hydrologic data observed during the 1961–75 period because little predevelopment data are available. The simulated water levels were found to be most sensitive to the leakance value. Of the five types of causes that resulted in land subsidence occurring in the valley, the most significant cause is that resulting from withdrawal of ground water. Subsidence of this type was incorporated into the flow model. The computer program was modified to include both an elastic-storage and an inelastic-storage coefficient, using the inelasticstorage coefficient values only if the aquifer head for the previous time step was lower than the estimated critical head below which compaction of fine-grained sediments would begin. The simulated volume of land subsidence was within 6 percent of the total estimated volume. However, the time lag associated with this type of subsidence was not adequately simulated, nor was the subsidence during periods when the aquifer head was not lower than its previous lowest head (critical head) as occurred at times during the 1976-77 drought. At the end of the 1961–75 calibration period, simulated water-level changes averaged 2.6 and 12 ft above observed waterlevel changes for the water-table zone and the lower pumped zone; the standard deviation was 22 and 27 ft, respectively, which is nearly within the error of the estimated average observed water-level changes in a model block.

The simulations showed that vertical leakance greatly increased from the predevelopment values as a result of water flowing through some of the more than 100,000 irrigation well casings that are open to different aquifer layers. This may affect ground-water quality by allowing poor quality water in one of the aquifer layers to mix with good-quality water in another aquifer layer. The simulations also showed that on a regional scale the volume of vertical flow was more than horizontal flow, despite the fact that vertical velocities are much lower. This is due to the larger area of the aquifer in a horizontal plane than in a vertical plane. These factors should be considered in plans for improving and protecting ground-water quality in the valley.

During 1961–77, only 7 percent of the annual pumpage (11.9 million acre-ft) was being taken from aquifer storage. The remainder was being supplied primarily by recharge, from irrigation return flow but also from other increased recharge and decreased natural discharge. Only about 7 percent of the total freshwater in aquifer storage in the upper 1,000 ft of the aquifer system had been removed as of 1977. In addition, as water levels decline, more recharge is captured and less discharge to surface water bodies would occur. Therefore, at the present level of development, the withdrawal from aquifer storage will eventually diminish and the aquifer system will reach a new equilibrium condition. However, if ground-water development continues at an increasing rate, the aquifer system will take a longer time to reach a new equilibrium. The continuation of ground-water development is one of the reasons that a goal of the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation's Central Valley Project to eliminate depletion in aquifer storage has not been reached. Although the Bureau of Reclamation imported surface water into the Central Valley to decrease ground-water pumpage in some areas, ground-water development was allowed to continue in other areas.

There are other impacts from water-level declines that need to be considered. Land subsidence continues to be a problem in some areas of the Sacramento and San Joaquin Valleys, though the areas of greater subsidence have been controlled by importing surface water and decreasing ground-water pumpage. In these areas, the recovery of lower pumped zone water levels to nearly their predevelopment altitude may lead to an overestimate of the available ground-water resources in those areas. If pumpage increases again, water levels will drop rapidly toward the previous lows, as happened in the Westside area during the 1976-77 drought. This is because loss of aquifer storage capacity resulted from the compaction of fine-grained sediments. Water-level declines also cause increased energy consumption and associated costs. The effect (if any) on the movement of the deeper saline waters in response to water-level declines is unknown and was not evaluated during this study.

The regional aquifer-system analysis during this investigation indicates that, although there are local areas

of severe aquifer depletion in the Central Valley, the ground-water resources of the entire valley are sufficient to meet the existing needs, assuming that development is carefully planned and managed. Ensuring adequate ground-water resources in the future will require a cooperative effort by local water districts and State and Federal agencies to monitor ground-water conditions in the Central Valley.

#### SELECTED REFERENCES

- Bennett, G.D., 1976, Introduction to ground-water hydraulics—A programmed text for self-instruction: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, Book 3, Chapter B2, 172 p.
- Bennett, G.D., Kontis, A.L., and Larson, S.P., 1982, Representation of multiaquifer well effects in three-dimensional ground-water flow simulation: Ground Water, v. 20, no. 3, p. 334–341.
- Berkstresser, C.F., 1973, Base of fresh ground water, approximately 3000 micromhos, in the Sacramento Valley and the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations 40-73, map.
- Bertoldi, G.L., 1979, A plan to study the aquifer systems of the Central Valley of California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 79-1480, 48 p.
- Bloyd, R.M., Jr., 1978, Ground-water conditions in the Sacramento Valley, California, 1912, 1961, and 1971, *in* Evaluation of groundwater resources—Sacramento Valley: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 118-6, p. 97-136.
- Bryan, Kirk, 1923, Geology and ground-water resources of Sacramento Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 495, 285 p.
- Bull, W.B., 1964, Alluvial fans and near-surface subsidence in western Fresno County, California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437-A, 71 p.
- 1975, Land subsidence due to ground-water withdrawal in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, California, Part 2. Subsidence and compaction of deposits: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437-F, 90 p.
- Bull, W.B., and Miller, R.E., 1975, Land subsidence due to groundwater withdrawal in the Los Banos-Kettleman City area, California, Part 1. Changes in the hydrologic environment conducive to subsidence: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437-E, 71 p.
- Cady, J.W., 1975, Magnetic and gravity anomalies in the Great Valley and western Sierra Nevada metamorphic belt, California: Geological Society of America, Special Paper 168, 56 p.
- California Department of Water Resources, 1966, Livermore and Sunol Valleys ground-water resources: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 118-2, 153 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_1974a, Evaluation of ground-water resources: Sacramento County: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 118–3, 142 p.
- 1974b, The California water plan, outlook in 1974: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 160–74, 186 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_1975, Vegetative use of water in California, 1974: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 113–3, 114 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_1977a, Artificial recharge of ground water in the San Joaquin– Central Coastal area: California Department of Water Resources, San Joaquin District Report, 63 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_1977b, Kern County ground-water model: California Department of Water Resources, San Joaquin District Report, 138 p.
- 1977c, Water use by manufacturing industries in California– 1970: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 124–2, 113 p.

1978, Evaluation of ground-water resources—Sacramento Valley: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 118–6, 136 p.

\_\_1980, Ground-water basins in California: California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 118-80, p. 34-44.

<u>1982, The hydrologic-economic model of the San Joaquin Valley:</u> California Department of Water Resources Bulletin 214, 177 p.

- Corapcioglu, M.Y., and Brutsaert, Wilfried, 1977, Viscoelastic aquifer model applied to subsidence due to pumping: Water Resources Research, v. 13, no. 8, p. 597-604.
- Croft, M.G., 1968, Geology and radiocarbon ages of late Pleistocene lacustrine clay deposits, southern part of the San Joaquin Valley, California, *in* Geological Survey Research 1968: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 600-B, p. B151-B156.

1972, Subsurface geology of the late Tertiary and Quaternary water-bearing deposits of the southern part of the San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1999-H, 29 p., 6 pls.

- Davis, G.H., Green, J.H., Olmsted, F.H., and Brown, D.W., 1959, Ground-water conditions and storage capacity in the San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1469, 287 p., 29 pls.
- Davis, G.H., Lofgren, B.E., and Mack, Seymour, 1964, Use of groundwater reservoirs for storage of surface water in the San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1618, 125 p.
- de Laveaga, Miguel, 1952, Oil fields of central San Joaquin Valley province, *in* AAPG-SEPM-SEG Guidebook field trip routes, Joint annual meeting: American Association of Petroleum Geologists, Society of Economic Paleontologists and Mineralogists, and Society of Exploration Geophysicists, p. 99-103.
- Diamond, Jonathan, and Williamson, A.K., 1983, A summary of ground-water pumpage in the Central Valley of California, 1961-77: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 83-4037, 70 p.
- French, J.J., Page, R.W., and Bertoldi, G.L., 1982, Data for ground-water test hole near Zamora, Central Valley aquifer project, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 82-510, 72 p.
  —\_\_\_\_1983, Data for ground-water test hole near Nicolaus, Central Valley aquifer project, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-273, 60 p.
- French, J.J., Page, R.W., Bertoldi, G.L., and Fogelman, R.P., 1983, Data for ground-water test hole near Butte City, Central Valley aquifer project, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 83-697, 54 p.
- Grunsky, C.E., 1898a, Irrigation near Bakersfield, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 17, 96 p.
- 1898b, Irrigation near Fresno, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 18, 94 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_1899, Irrigation near Merced, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 19, 59 p.
- Hall, W.H., 1886, Physical data and statistics of California: State Engineering Department of California, 396 p.

1889, Irrigation in California: National Geographic Magazine, v. 1., no. 4, p. 281.

Harding, S.T., 1927, Ground-water resources of the southern San Joaquin Valley: California Division of Engineering and Water Rights Bulletin 11, 146 p.

\_\_\_\_1960, Water in California: Palo Alto, Calif., N-P Publications, 231 p.

Helm, D.C., 1975, One-dimensional simulation of aquifer system compaction near Pixley, California; 1, Constant parameters: Water Resources Research, v. 11, no. 3, p. 465-478. <u>1976</u>, One-dimensional simulation of aquifer system compaction near Pixley, California; 2, Stress-dependent parameters: Water Resources Research, v. 12, no. 3, p. 375–391.

- \_\_\_\_\_1977, Estimating parameters of compacting fine-grained interbeds within a confined aquifer system by one-dimensional simulation of field observations, *in* Proceedings of the Second International Symposium of Land Subsidence, Anaheim, California: International Association of Hydrological Sciences Publication 121, p. 145-156.
- 1978, Field verification of a one-dimensional mathematical model for transient compaction and expansion of a confined aquifer system, *in* Proceedings of the specialty conference on verification of mathematical and physical models in hydraulic engineering: American Society of Civil Engineers, College Park, Md., p. 189–196.
- <u>1982</u>, Conceptual aspects of subsidence due to fluid withdrawal, *in* Geological Society of America Special Paper 189: pt. 1, no. 6, p. 103-142.
- Hill, F.L., 1972, Oil and gas field waters in the southeast San Joaquin Valley, Kern County, California, *in* State Division of Oil and Gas Technical Papers: v. 58, no. 1, p. 31-44.
- Holzer, T.L., 1981, Preconsolidation stress of aquifer systems in areas of induced land subsidence: Water Resources Research, v. 17, no. 3, p. 698-704.
- Ireland, R.L., Poland, J.F., and Riley, F.S., 1984, Land subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley, as of 1980: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437-I, 93 p.
- Jacob, C.E., 1940, On the flow of water in an elastic artesian aquifer: American Geophysical Union Transactions, pt. 2, p. 574–586.
- Johnson, A.I., Moston, R.P., and Morris, D.A., 1968, Physical and hydrologic properties of water-bearing deposits in subsiding areas in central California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 497-A, 71 p.
- Kahrl, W.L., 1978, The California water atlas: California Governor's Office of Planning and Research and California Department of Water Resources, 113 p.
- Lofgren, B.E., 1968, Analysis of stresses causing land subsidence, in Geological Survey Research 1968: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 600-B, p. B219-B225.
  - \_\_\_\_1969, Land subsidence due to the application of water, in Varnes,

D.J., and Kiersch, George, eds., Reviews in engineering geology, v. 2: Boulder, Colo., Geological Society of America, p. 271-303.

- 1975, Land subsidence due to ground-water withdrawal, Arvin-Maricopa area, California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437–D, 55 p.
- Lofgren, B.E., and Ireland, R.L., 1973, Preliminary investigation of land subsidence in the Sacramento Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey open-file report, 40 p.
- Lofgren, B.E., and Klausing, R.L., 1969, Land subsidence due to ground-water withdrawal, Tulare-Wasco area, California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437-B, 103 p.
- Lohman, S.W., 1972, Ground-water hydraulics: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 708, 70 p.
- Londquist, C.J., 1981, Digital model of the unconsolidated aquifer system in the Modesto area, Stanislaus and San Joaquin Counties, California : U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations 81-12, 36 p.
- McClelland, E.J., 1962, Aquifer test compilation for the San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey open-file report, 40 p. (revised 1966).
- Manning, J.C., 1967, Report on ground-water hydrology in the southern San Joaquin Valley: American Water Works Association Journal, v. 59, no. 12, p. 1513–1526.
- Meade, R.H., 1967, Petrology of sediments underlying areas of land subsidence in central California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 497-C, 83 p.

- \_\_\_\_1968, Compaction of sediments underlying areas of land subsidence in central California: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 497-D, 39 p.
- Mendenhall, W.C., 1908, Preliminary report on the ground waters of San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 222, 52 p.
- Mendenhall, W.C., Dole, R.B., and Stabler, Herman, 1916, Ground water in San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 398, 310 p.
- Meyer, W.R., and Carr, J.E., 1979, A digital model for simulation of ground-water hydrology in the Houston area, Texas: Texas Department of Water Resources Report LP-103, 131 p.
- Mitten, H.T., 1984, Ground water in the Fresno area, California-Preliminary report: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 83-4246, 15 p.
- Morris, D.A., and Johnson, A.I., 1967, Summary of hydrologic and physical properties of rock and soil materials, as analyzed by the Hydrologic Laboratory of the U.S. Geological Survey, 1948–1960: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1839–D, 42 p.
- Mullen, J.R., and Nady, Paul, 1985, Water budgets for major streams in the Central Valley of California, 1961-77: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 85-401, 87 p.
- Murray, C.R., and Reeves, E.B., 1977, Estimated use of water in the United States in 1975: U.S. Geological Survey Circular 765, 39 p.
- Nady, Paul, and Larragueta, L.L., 1983a, Development of irrigation in the Central Valley of California: U.S. Geological Survey Hydrologic Investigations Atlas HA-649, scale 1:500,000, 2 sheets.
- 1983b, Estimated average annual streamflow into the Central Valley of California: U.S. Geological Survey Hydrologic Investigations Atlas HA-657, scale 1:500,000, 1 sheet.
- Newmarch, George, 1981, Subsidence of organic soils: California Geology, v. 34, no. 7, p. 135-141.
- Olmsted, F.H., and Davis, G.H., 1961, Geologic features and groundwater storage capacity of the Sacramento Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1497, 241 p., 5 pls.
- Page, R.W., 1973, Base of fresh ground water (approximately 3,000 micromhos), San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Hydrologic Investigations Atlas HA-489.
- 1974, Base and thickness of the post-Eocene continental deposits in the Sacramento Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations 45–73, 16 p.
- 1977, Guide for data collection to calibrate a predictive digital ground-water model of the unconfined aquifer in and near the city of Modesto, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations 76–41, 46 p.
- 1981a, Data on depths to the upper Mya zone of the San Joaquin Formation in the Kettleman City area, San Joaquin Valley, California: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 81–699, 12 p.
- 1981b, Texture maps, a guide to deep ground-water basins, Central Valley, California, *in* Water Forum 1981: American Society of Civil Engineers Specialty Conference, San Francisco, California, August 10–14, 1981, Proceedings v. 2, p. 1114–1119.
- 1983, Geology of the Tulare Formation and other continental deposits, Kettleman City area, San Joaquin Valley, California, with a section on Ground-water management considerations and use of texture maps: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 83-4000, 24 p.
- \_\_\_\_\_1986, Geology of the fresh ground-water basin, Central Valley, California, with texture maps and sections: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1401–C, 54 p.,5 plates.
- Page, R.W., and Bertoldi, G.L., 1983, A Pleistocene diatomaceous clay and a pumiceous ash: California Geology, v. 36, no. 1, p. 14–20.
- Poland, J.F., 1961, The coefficient of storage in a region of major subsidence caused by compaction of an aquifer system, *in* Geological

Survey Research 1961: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 424-B, p. B52-B54.

- Poland, J.F., and Davis, G.H., 1969, Land subsidence due to withdrawals of fluids, *in Varnes*, D.J., and Kiersch, George, eds., Reviews in engineering geology, v. 2: Boulder, Colo., Geological Society of America, p. 187-269.
- Poland, J.F., and Evenson, R.E., 1966, Hydrogeology and land subsidence, Great Central Valley, California, *in* Bailey, E.H., ed., Geology of northern California: California Division of Mines and Geology Bulletin 190, p. 239–247.
- Poland, J.F., Lofgren, B.E., Ireland, R.L., and Pugh, R.G., 1975, Land subsidence in the San Joaquin Valley, California, as of 1972: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 437–H, 78 p.
- Poland, J.F., Lofgren, B.E., and Riley, F.S., 1972, Glossary of selected terms useful in studies of the mechanics of aquifer systems and land subsidence due to fluid withdrawal: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2025, 9 p.
- Prickett, T.A., 1967, Designing pumped well characteristics into electrical analog models: Ground Water, v. 5, no. 4, p. 38-46.
- Rantz, S.E., 1969, Mean annual precipitation in the California Region:U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Map, scale 1:1,000,000.
- Remson, Irwin, Hornberger, G.M., and Molz, F.J., 1971, Numerical methods in subsurface hydrology: New York, John Wiley, 389 p.
- Repenning, C.A., 1960, Geologic summary of the Central Valley of California with reference to disposal of liquid radioactive waste: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 61-127, 69 p.
- Riley, F.S., 1969, Analysis of borehole extensioneter data from central California, *in* Tison, L. J., ed., Land subsidence, v. 2: International Association of Scientific Hydrology Publication 89, p. 423-431.
- Riley, F.S., and McClelland, E.J., 1972, Application of the modified theory of leaky aquifers to a compressible multiple-aquifer system: U.S. Geological Survey open-file report, 96 p.
- Simpson, T.R., 1949, Ground water and water rights in California: Unpublished transcript of presentation January 11, 1949, at the Annual Pump Test Conference of Pacific Gas and Electric Company at Stockton, Calif.
- Stewart, J.I., 1975, Irrigation in California: Sacramento, California State Water Resources Control Board, 45 p.
- Suppe, John, 1978, Cross section of southern part of northern Coast Ranges and Sacramento Valley, California: Geological Society of America, MC-28B, 8 p.
- Theis, C.V., 1938, The significance and nature of the cone of depression in ground-water bodies: Economic Geology, v. 33, no. 8, p. 889–902.
- Thomas, H.E., and Phoenix, D.A., 1976, Summary appraisals of the Nation's ground-water resources—California region: U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 813-E, 51 p.
- Torak, L.J., 1982, Modifications and corrections to the finite-difference model for simulation of three-dimensional ground-water flow: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 82–4025, 67 p.
- Trescott, P.C., 1975, Documentation of finite-difference model for simulation of three-dimensional ground-water flow: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 75-438, 104 p.
- Trescott, P.C., and Larson, S.P., 1976, Supplement to Open-File Report 75-438, Documentation of finite-difference model for simulation of three-dimensional ground-water flow: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 76-591, 21 p.
- U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 1977, Intermittent surface-water supplies for the artificial recharge of ground-water reservoirs in the Central Valley Project: U.S. Bureau of Reclamation office report, 29 p.
- U.S. Department of Commerce, 1978, 1974 census of agriculture: Bureau of the Census, Special Reports, v. 4, pt. 2, Ranking counties and States, 99 p.

- Vaughn, F. W., 1943, Geophysical studies in California: California Division of Mines Bulletin 118, p. 67–70.
- Waananen, A.O., 1966, Water resources development, *in* Mineral and water resources of California, pt. 2. Water resources appraisal: Report of the U.S. Geological Survey to the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, U.S. Senate, 89th Congr., 2d sess., p. 515–598.
- Weir, W.W., 1950, Subsidence of peat lands of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta, California: Hilgardia, v. 20, no. 3, p. 37-56.
- Williamson, A.K., 1982, Evapotranspiration of applied water, Central Valley, California, 1957–78: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 81–45, 56 p.
- Wilson, L.G., DeCook, K.J., and Neuman, S.P., 1980, Regional recharge research for southwest alluvial basins: Tucson, University of Arizona, 393 p.
- Wood, P.R., and Dale, R.H., 1964, Geology and ground-water features of the Edison-Maricopa area, Kern County, California: U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 1656, 108 p.

.

### APPENDIX A

## APPENDIX A: RECHARGE AND DISCHARGE VALUES USED IN SIMULATIONS

Recharge and discharge data consisting of 10 variables for 529 nodes for a period of 17 years were stored on a machine-readable magnetic tape in a standard sequential format. The volume of data is too large to be printed here. Most of the data are not available elsewhere (at least not in machine-readable form) and may be useful to other investigators.

The tape-file format (on standard labeled tape) is as follows: File number is 1, data set name is APENDX.A.RECHARGE; tape is a high-density (6250 BPI) tape with EBCDIC coding; record format is fixed blocked; logical record length is 80; block size is 4,000, number of blocks is approximately 223; and number of records is 11,107.

Each record contains 10 data fields, each field is of length 8 in G8.0 format. The first 3 data fields are (1)

year as number past 1900 (for example, "77" is 1977), (2) column in model grid, and (3) row in model grid. The other 7 data fields, all in 1,000 acre-ft/yr are (1) excess precipitation, (2) ungaged runoff from small streams, (3) river losses (+, or positive) and gains (-, or negative), (4) evapotranspiration of applied irrigation water, (5) surface water diverted to irrigation districts, (6) agricultural pumpage, and (7) municipal pumpage.

A duplicate of the tape (tape no. 112312) may be obtained from

U.S. Geological Survey, WRD ATTN: Computer Specialist Federal Building, Rm. W-2234 2800 Cottage Way Sacramento, CA 95825

       	     	8 1 1 1 1 1	t 1 1 1			     (	1 6 6 6	2 2 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3			F           				• • • •		1 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(TK) (x 1	0 <sup>-6</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	1 3 3 4 5	Inelas tic storage	1961 crit-
Col-	R o E	Spe- cific		5000 1	duct1 ft/d)	vi ty		Aquıf	er thi (ft)	i c k n e s s			ed Lat	910 9110 9110	-	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	evelopm	ent	Post- oevelop	ament	effi- cient	tead (ft)
C		yıeld		     		M1	t	-	2 2		t.	-	Lay.		4	1 861 1-2	ween 1a ween 1a 2-3	yers 3-4	Between 2-3	layers 3-4	Layers 2-3	2+3 2+3
444	0.4D	0. 09 0. 04 0. 08	1. 3 1. 3	9.6 1.3	-00	10 m 0	n 4 00	1, 350 1, 020 0	150 288 0	250 100 180	100 87 100	57 57 57	200 200 200	5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	601 601	1 200	200 N	8.1 11 31	140 000	0.1 1.0 3	0. 0370 0. 0260 0. 0000	340 480 555
מממ	01 4 D	0. 07 0. 06 0. 05	нн 1	110 100			опг	1, 220 1, 180 0	100 382 162	500 218 238	200 200	57 57	50 20 20	5 5 5 5 6	61 61	6. 7 0. 64 0	15 1.7 3.8	្លាល់ លុំលុំ	06 86	ີ ດີດ ຍິດ 4	0. 0560 0. 0410 0. 0370	247 330 470
0000	<u>៣</u> 4២៤	0. 08 0. 06 0. 05 0. 04	ຕ⊨າຕ ທີ່ດີດີດີ	ຕຍ⊶ຕ ທີ່ດີດີວິ	เว้ญ่ญ่อ	່ວ່າກ່າກ່ອ ຫຼ⊢າ	04-0	1,150 1,540 150 260	303 340 340 300	300 230 170	200 200 200 200	53 57 57 57	ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង ង	5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	661 661 11	37 5.2 0.14 0.3	90 19 0.14	120 21 0. 26 0. 57	90 110 110 75	120 21 0.26 0.57	0. 0620 0. 0390 0. 0390 0. 0130	160 270 305 580
~ ~ ~ ~ ~	04 n J	0.10 0.07 0.05 0.05	Г. 9. 1. 8. 8. 1. 8. 8. 1. 8. 8. 1. 8. 8. 1. 8. 8. 1. 8. 8. 1. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8. 8.	- 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10	1 10 1	n - n n	ဝကာထာထ	1, 110 1, 600 489 37	400 100 100 100	300 550 251 225	300 267 200	57 57 57	88888 2888	ស្រូស្មា ស្រូស្មា	6 6 1 6 6 1 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1	36 4.4 0.31	77 13 0. 41 7. 3	140 9.6 5.4 5.4	77 92 76 170	140 9,6 5,6 44 5,4	0.0570 0.0560 0.0540 0.0280	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
ແຫວນແ	ちょうらて	0.10 0.07 0.07 0.10 0.10	າມເບີ່ມ ເບີ່ມ ເບີ່ມ	ຊິດ ເຊິ່າເດີຍ ເຊິ່າ	រាំពាំលាំពាំសំ	<u>иц</u> 4.07	V1044V	885 1,460 1,000 218 78	0000 000 000 000 000 000 00 000	300 290 160 75	300 200 52 22	52 57 57 57 57	លលលលល ជុំជុំជុំជុំជំ	ក្លស្ល ភេសិសិសិ ភេសិសិសិ	60000 6000	0.011 19 0.39 2.4	0.026 56 0.0065 0.44	0.02 66 0.0063 0.95 3.2	110 120 110 110	0.02 66 0.95 0.95 0.95 0.25	0.0440 0.0580 0.0580 0.0380 0.0380 0.0380 0.0400 0.0110	148 175 175 327 412
0 0 0 0 0 0	(14 l) 3 l	0.10 0.08 0.09 0.08 0.09	ດ ໝ ທ ທ ທ ດi ດi ດi ດi ດi	ດດາດເພດ ດີເກີດເກີດ	N เก๋ เก๋ เก๋ เก๋ 	- A de lo de A A de lo de A	10 ា 0	1, 440 1, 290 1, 290 1, 290 375	125 50 175 50	200 240 134 50	200 200 150 100	57 57 57	888888 888888 88888	ម្លេចម្ល ស្រូមថ្មម្	00000 11111	8 0.17 0.026 2.1 0.94	38 0.78 0.13 3.5 4	о.4. 0.4. 0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.4. 0.0.0.4. 0.0.0.0.	170 190 180 150		0.0330 0.0290 0.0230 0.0230 0.0320 0.0320	140 137 250 386
<b>00000</b>	<u>0</u> 4537	0. 08 0. 10 0. 10 0. 05 0. 05	11010 1010			- 5 0 4 1	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1,050 965 510 620 42	250 415 245 400 50	400 500 100	2005 2005 2005 2005	5177 I I	000000 0000000	44000 1010000	00000 00111	0. 0086 40 36 35	66 0. 019 41 46 17	0.04 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05	150 140 78 76	0.04 000 000 000 000 000000000000000000	0.0520 0.0570 0.0640 0.0560 0.0110	104 104 105 289

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]

D110

# REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

<	$\sim$	APPENDIX B: 2 [Layer	Aquifer 1 is deep	. prof	ertie e of a	es u quife	used	in ver	si i t is	n ul wate	atio r-tal	ons- ble z	One]	ont	inu	ed
-	-	7	PPENDIX B: / [Layer	PPENDIX B: Aquifer [Layer 1 is deep	PPENDIX B: Aquifer prop [Layer 1 is deepest zon	PPENDIX B: Aquifer propertiv [Layer 1 is deepest zone of a	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties u [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquife	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, la,	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer -	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in sin [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is <sup>1</sup>	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simul [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is wate	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulation [Layer 1 is water-ta	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations. [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table z	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—C [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Cont [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]	PPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Continu [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]

;

1961 crit- cal	head (ft)	ayers 2-3	80	85 8	25	6 4 G	62	46	25	о́е	44	53	16	cŋ	<b>11</b>	4	98 3	80	80	10	-0	ณ 1	-10	~	45	65	18	ო י	2 2 1	-28	-26	ו 115	4 U
Inclas- tic storage co-	effi- cient	Lavers L 2-3	0. 0510	0.0540	0.0530	0. 0210	0, 0810	0.0580	0 0510	0.0510	0. 0590	0 0670	0.0730	0.0460	0.0580	0.0920	0. 0580	0.0110	0.0270	0.0310	0.0370	0.0470	0. 0500	0.0610	0.0110	0.0096	0.0370	0.0120	0.0280	0.0390	0.0260	0. 0500	0.0470
	ment	layers 3-4	100	58	N 1	21 21	200	12	84	100	110	160	70	ЗI	42	79	<b>ព</b>	Ħ	D. 016	26	ខ្ល	14	160	100	4.8	11	ט. ני	61	16	54	46	Ē	1.7
.0 <sup>-6</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	develop	0 0 2 1 3 1 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	140	130	10	110	140	140	110	120	150	170	120	110	89	110	110	088	160	140	160	140	120	120	180	330	110	170	170	160	180	100	100
(TK) (x ]	ant	yers 3-4	100	9 8 9	17	5 T 1 T	200	1	84	100	110	140	70	31	92	79	ព		0.016	26	28 28	14	160	100	4	11	ເນ ເນ	61	16	54	46	31	1.7
e Se Se Se Se Se Se Se Se Se Se Se Se Se	evelopm	1911 2 - 3	160	ម ខ	0-0 4-0	99 97 9	140	E I	27	95	86	170	61	19	17	69	11	1.7	0.026	្រា C1	е С	1 U	120	78	7.1	20	n n	61	16	54	61	о М	N
r F	bard Pard	1-2 1-2	Cũ Đ	15	√0 € √0 ₹	р t	88	7.2	15	<del>6</del> 3	160	250	57	15	9.1	40	13	0	0	14	18	ດ. ເນ	61	0	0	0	4.6	00 0	0 0	101	26	12	0
	סי	t 1	63	63	61	 0- 0	63	63	63	60	60	69 9	63	ю Ю	60	60	60	6 5	63 6	63	é.	63	60	é O	έĊ	63	40	63	63	с, О	69	56	0, 0
		10	4 10	4 UI	10 10 10	0 0 0	4 (1	40	4 (J	ণে ব	45	4	4 (1	4 U	() 4	۲9 17	4	4 13	4 U	(1) 57	4	(U 1	4 53	ſù ≮	4 (1	4 เป	49	4	4 เป	4 (J	ณ ป	с С	С С
t n a J	6 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	N I I	(u 4	(u Ç	ຕ ເ ເດີຍ	20	42	C) V	67	10	51	3	сч Сч	42	51	51	٦Ĵ	45	42	42	д Сі	() 4	51	51	51	42	66 0	43	4 (1)	যে প	4 19	60	60
0	- L 0	-	1	ł	57	22	ł	1	I	59	59	I	ł	ł	59	59	53	ı	1	ı	!	J	59	53	59	ĩ	4	I	i	ł	I	4ð	64
	in In	+ +	400	250	500 500	500	165	300	100	300	200	400	200	200	75	200	175	100	00E	200 200	280	200	200	200	80	100	200	200	200	200	270	OOE	283
   	, ickne:	ver v	405	250	000 000 000	000 5000	300	340	140	008	00E	482	400	228	100	300	200	100	250	275	300	282	300	300	75	75	17 17 10	290	290	000	300	200	300
i	lfer ti (ft.		200	500	550	70	400	365	760	400	00E	100	400	049	0 <b>0</b> 0	500	600	50	200	420	320	400	400	400	50	50	000	000	300	000	230	000	200
	nek	-	725	830	523		599	790	695	505	52	242	06E	101	<i>617</i>	580	4 5	0	0	585	670	983	755	0	0	0	120	785	665	750	640	850	c
	conductivity (ft/d)	1 2 3 4	4 2,5 3,7 3,7	3 8,3 8,3 9 2	6 8.6 8.6 9.6 7 7 7 4 7 4	к 	3 5.3 3.2 3.2	6 6.6 6.9 6.9	<b>6 6.6 6.6 6.6</b>	50.6356.6	0 21 2.9 29	5 6.5 6.5 3 <del>3</del>	0404.029	6 85 85 87 7	3 5 3 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	0 4.0 32 3.2	1 0.1 24 23	ດ ເມີດ ເມີດ ເມີດ	- 514.331	8 2 8 2 4 5 4	3 1.2 5.8 50	5 2.5 7 0 7 0	3 1.2 3 / 3.4	- 0.8 1 2 2 6	- 0.3 1.0 20	- 70 69 7.0	4 24 50 55	13.13.131	5 2.5 9.6 3.3	5 2.5 3.1 6.9	5 2.5 5.1 5.1	1 0.1 1 3 2.6	- 0.1 0.1 1.5
	Sper cific	7 1 9 1	07 2.	11 8.	010	70 70	07 5.	09 6.	09 6.	09 0.	06 2.	07 6.	06 4	10 8.	08 5.	06 4.	05 0.	, 90		06 2	07 1	09 <u>2</u> .	02 1	۰. ۵۵		10	ы 08 08	06 3	06 2.	09 2.	08	06 0.	60
	3		Ö	Ö	0 0	o o	Ö	Ö	Ö	Ö	Ö	c	Ó	¢	0	ö	ö	Ö	0	o.	ó	Ó	Ö	С	ö	Ö	0	ö	Ö	0	o.	0	S
	Col-Ro		1 3	11 4	1 1		n C	Ci 4	5 2	[2 6	12 7	0 2	6) 4	3	3 6	Э 7	8 0	<b>4</b>	4 0	4	4 5	4	4 7	4	4	ខ	e Se se	5 4	ង	u o	(5 7	៣ ស	4
						-1 1mm			***	-	**					÷-4	-						***	-	***	***					-	- •	- 1

	tt)	s Layers 2-3	9 ñ   	-50	0 4 1 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 0 0	52 (	-10			10	011 0	12	-10	- 40		1 200	-24	145	) -58	-38	140		091	04 0	5	08- 0	2962	-44	-61			;
Inelas tic storage	effi- cient	Laver: 2-3	0.0150 0.0280	0.0470	0. 050( 0. 0790	0.0680	0.0110	0.029(	0. 0650	0. 0820	0. 022(	0. 0091	0. 0230	0.0200	0.0240	0.0530	0.0750	0.010	0. 0200	0.016(			0. 0750	0. 0780	0. 021(	0. 0000	0.012(	0.0310	0.042(	0.097(	0 1100	
	pment	layers 3-4	17	1.5	34 76	3.78	52	150	0 7 7 7 7 7 7	e e e	5. I	24	37	0.1	5 C	ເບ	14	-0 ni	4.6	ທີ່ ຕໍ່	<u></u>	20	1 (J	16	0. 0057	4.9	46	С Ц	60 9 9	140	ງຕ ່ມ	
10 <sup>-6</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	develo	5 - 3 2 - 3 2 - 3	180	140	63 69	67 70	250	82	5 Y	9 9 9	84	200	100	88 a	11 F		63	84	280	170	7 A	1 V	56	53	170	0	170	140	Cil ·	4 n 0 0	54	
(TK) (x	ment	0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0	17 AG	1 . 1	34 76	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	52	150	0 4 4	800	5. 1	24	37	0.1		52	14	•0 ri	4.6	ທີ່ ເ	2 ( 2 (	v r	1 (1	16	0. 0057	4 9 . 4	46	E1	60 60	0 4 1	່ ເ	
eakance	develop	tween 1 2-3	15	, 0 . 0 . 0	ល ល ហ	5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 4 5 6 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7 8 7	31	00	n 8 n m	8	6.9	27	ព្រះ	0.063		ព្រះ	ו פו טינו	ni ro	α π	5.7	י ג ז ז	Ч <b>г</b>	10	12	0. 0065	0	64	16		4 <sup>4</sup> 0 0	) • c • c	1
Ļ	1 0 1 0 1		00	1.4 1.4	44	60	0	66	19	9.7	0	0	0	0.052 18		9.1	4	0	0	o :	00	ឲព ហ	ы С	8.6	0. 0065	0	0	54	ດ ຕ	1 1 1 1 1 1 1	່ຕ	
4- C	- 0	t	4 0 1	0 0 0 0	5 G 7 G	0 0 0 0 0 0	40	04	4 n 0 4	5 9 9 9	56	١	40	4 4 0 4	) ( 1	56	56	5 0	1	) (	÷	0 ( 1 ()	561	56	59	۱	۱	40	4 0	0 4 4 4	0 J 1 1	
1 0 0 0 0		Yer V	9 ( 9 (	4 <b>4</b> 1 (1)	ល ហ្វា	0 0 0 0 0 0	49	4	4 U	0.00	С С	I	4	44		282	ញ ភ្លេ	n D	ł	i (	ን~ 0 ና የ	r 10	99	58	60	ł	I	44	4 4	ት ሀ ተ	ງແ ງທ	
1 0 1 1		5 S L	9 9 9	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2 0 0 0	203 203	60	09	9 Q 9 Q	9 9 9	60	I	60 9	09 9 0	200	909	909	90	ł	! !	200		60	90	61	ı	ı	99 99	0 0 0	0 C	) ( ) {	
Q Q	. <del>.</del>	-	1	!	64 7 A	4 4 4 4	I	I	- <b>4</b>	4 4	64	ı	1	1 1	44	4	54	54	I	1		44	40	С.	0 0	1	ł	I	I	101	14	
	s s	4	100	000	200 1 1 0 0	300	200	200	200	140	200	100	275	275		000	200	100	100	350	004	000	000	275	100	100	200	000				
	ickné		275 275	065 000	400 10	300 150	200	430		0000	150	140	200 200	5 7 Cl 7 A A	350	375	00E	150	150	000		100	500	450	175	195	150	400	004 000	000	2 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	2
	ifer th (ft)	Lay 2	105	310 10	400 7 <b>4</b> 0	4 50 00 00	75	400	200	600	100	75	400	440 002	952 952 952	325	500	04	150	100	000	002	400	500	100	0	100	100		009 4004	2009	
	101			878 460	4 0 0 0 0	370 0 0	0	230	1.030	086	0	0		448	1,450	1, 320	1,120	c	0		507 707	1.120	1,420	745	125	01	0	35		CT/	1, 090	
	ty	+	ष ( एर्ट्र	ນ ທ	ាប ព្រ	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	00 17	6. O	5. 9. 9	F 61	е С	5.1	0 10	ດ ເມີຍ	⊣ແ ກ່ມ	)	4	, N	8. 9		י כ ס ה	.√ ⊦in	4	ы С	1.6	ດ ເພິ່ມ	с С	ត ភូមិ	4 u 10	າມຕ ດໍມ	) C	,
o; [ne		Le M	4(	າມ ເມີດ	ы Ч С	)	00 Ni	പ		14	5. 0	4	ຕ ເ 	n v Ni o	a o i m	0			5.0	00	1 C	· r	- <b>1</b> 0	4. 9	۲. ۵	o i	00	പം		0 N	i ni	
	condu (ft	()     	4.	4 (J	-0 C		N N	0	ມ ເມີຍ ເມືອ	่า วณ ม่าส่	m oi	เก ณ์	ເດີຍ ເຄີຍ	ന്ന ന്ന	on ini	ាររ លៅ	រា ល	NJ T	in i Di l	o. ni s	0 r 0 r	្រែ	i Mi	6.4	~ ^		co ni	ณเ ณ่	ם ני <u>ר</u>	ាត ភេទ	ים מול	
		-		5 CI 4 Ci 4 Ci	00 - 9 C	י הי י הי י	1	1.0	ທ ດເດ	) ຕ [	1	i	, i ; (	ກ ທ ກ່ຄ	n ini	נט ו	נח נת	I	1		0 0 0 0	n n i ni	ю с	<b>4</b> 6	0. 7	J	ł	0 0	שני -, -,	n n Lin	מו הו	
	Spe- cific	Aterd	0. 07	0, 06 0, 06	0.08	0.06 0.06 04	0.06	0.08	0.08	0. 07 0. 07	0.10	0.08	0.10	0.08 0.08	0.08	0.07	0.07	0. UB	0.11	0.10		0.08	0. 07	0.06	0. 05	0.06 2.25	0.08	0.08			0.06	
	Row		n.	4 N	r 0	10 0 Q	m	4	r 0	00	10	n	4 1	n d	7	00	с,	2	<b>с</b> ,	4 4	D 4	7	œ	σ	10	<b>с</b> ,	4	ın ،	10	< 00	ነው	
	Col-		16	16 16	16 12	1000	17	17	17	17	17	18	9 i 10	8 C	0,00	18	18	r T	19	ь ( 	- 0	19	19	19	1.9	50		000			20	

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations-Continued II aver 1 is denset zone of amilier layer 4 is water-table zonal

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Continued [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]

#### APPENDIX B

Inelas- 1044	tto 1701 storage crit- co- cal	- effi- nead t cient (ft)	ers Layers Layers -4 2-3 2-3	3 0.0087 139	32 0.0450 10 30 0.0540 -44	26 0.0650 -61	12 0.0650 -55 9 0.0670 -70	23 0. 0590 -68	58 0. 0690 -74	24 0. 0480 -60 13 0. 0130 -70	6 0.0150 140	1 0.0260 10	16 0. 0640 -49		30 0.0770 -94 50 0.0860 -76	10 0. 0730 -74	23 0.0940 -74	3 0. 0670 -70	6 0.0140 -74	6 0.0210 7	5 0.0460 -26	1 0,0440 -85 8 0,0580 -100	2 0.0690 -76	1 0.0690 -75	14 0.0580 -72	10.0230 -79	7 0. 0260 45	9 0.0270 -48		7 0.0400 -74		9 0.0660 -80
	0-6 d_1)	developmen	detween lay 2-3 3		4 4 5 1 1	64	60 56	19	65	59	190 1.	180 5.	75	67	6/	0.0	40	67 8	110 7.	220 8.	66	001		76	04	986 986	180 3.	110 4	100	740		160 4
	ance (TK)(x 1	elopment	en layers 2-3 3-4	ារ ល់ ករ	32 32 95 180	14 26	2 6 12 2 4 7 0	22 23	). 49 0. 58 22 25	20 20 13	1.9 1.6	4.5 5.1	8.6 16	6.9 11 12 22	13 30	21 40	5.7 23	10 8.3	7.1 7.6	8.2 8.6	65 75	1.1 1. 20 <b>4</b> 0	5.6 12	9.2 31	21 24	14 10 10 10 10 10 10	. 74 3. 7	50 49	38	15 C1		31 49
one]	L e a L	Predev		0	46 70	7.9	2.7	7.12	0. 20 0	00	0	0	7.6	n n rizz		. o.	m	0	0	0	6 1	رن .0 د 1	2 C [	а 4	8. 1	0	0.83	48	1 1 1	ی آ 10	.,	4.1
quifer, layer 4 is water-table z	Percentade of	fine-grained sediment	Layer 1 2 3 4	49 43 52 40	47 48 52 40 49 48 52 40	49 48 52 40	53 64 58 52 53 64 58 52	53 64 58 52	53 64 58 52 50 52 50 52	53 64 58 52	49 48 52 40	49 43 52 40	49 43 52 40	49 48 52 40	49 48 52 40 53 44 58 52	53 64 58 52	53 64 58 52	53 54 58 52	53 44 58 52	49 48 52 40	49 48 52 40	47 48 55 40 49 48 50 40	49 48 52 40	49 48 52 40	53 64 58 52	53 64 58 52	49 48 52 40	49 48 52 40	49 48 52 40 ve ve so vo	49 48 52 40		00 44 37 57
[Layer 1 is deepest zone of ac		r thickness (ft)	Layer 2 3 4	50 50 100	50 350 300 50 350 300	90 260 250	50 250 200 50 150 150	00 350 350	00 350 350 50 500 350	50 100 175	50 100 1 <b>00</b>	50 200 140	00 300 200	DO 400 225	50 264 200 30 200 173	00 370 200	DO 200 100	00 550 450	50 100 50	00 200 100	15 325 300	20 350 350 250 250	0 215 200	25 175 100	00 400 296	0 150 150	25 50 25	5 350 350	00 350 350 10 450 375	00 100 100		00 200 200 1
		Aquife				0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1,400 5; 2,010 7;	1, 910 30	1,410 4(	00	0	0	440 6(	, 483 , 000 ,	1,090 7 1.730 B	1,830 60	1,400 9	ŭ O	0	0 10	380	74B 725 1	1, 790 60	1,710 72	1,610 30	0 10	10	13 045	900 30 1 420 34	1,600 80		2,000 50
	Hvdrau]ic	conductivity (ft/d)	Layer 1 2 3 4	យ	255 255 257 554 255 255 <b>54</b> 554	2.5 2.5 5.7 5.6	2.5 2.5 6.2 7.8 2 5 2 5 10 10 5	2.5 2.5 4.0 4.4	2.5 2.5 2.8 4.3 • 1 • 1 0 0	- 1. / 1. / 2.8 - 0.3 2.5 4.9	1 1 1 1 1 1 1	- 1.3 5.4 5.4	1.3 1 2 5 4 5.4	1.3 1.2 7.4 4.5	1 m 1 m 2 0 0 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m 1 m	1.3 1.2 3.0 3.9	1.3 1.3 5.0 6.6	- 7.2 7.3 3.3	- 0.3 1.3 3.1	- 4.3 4.3 4.3	1.3 1.3 1.2 4.0	רית דימי דימי דימי מישי דימי מימי דימי שימי שימי שימי שימי	1.3 1.2 6.8 6.8	1.3 1.3 6.2 6.2	1.3 1.3 5.3 6.8 7 5 5 7 3 6	- 5.5 4.1 4.1	0.3 0.2 0.5 0.7	1. G 1. K 1. Y K 4	1.3 1.3 1.5 4.5 1.3 1.3 4.6 4.0	1.3 1.3 5.0 4.9		1.3 1.4 0.0 e.G
		Spe- cific	Vletd	0. 07	0.09	0.08	010	0.01	0.07	0. 08 0. 08	0.06	0.09	0.08	0.07	0.09	0.06	0. <b>0</b> 9	0.06	0.06	0. 08	0. 07		0.09	0.12	60.00	0.07	0.05	0.0	/0 c	0 0 0		0.07
		Col- Row	C E D	ហារ 	5 5 5 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	25 7 25 7	00 00 00 00 00	25 10	25 11 25	25 12 25 13	26 4	26 5	26 6	26 2, 7	20 20 20	26 10	26 11	26 12	26 13	27 5	27 6	77 70	27 9	27 10	27 11	27 13	28 29		28 28 28	- 4 ( 5		28 10

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations-Continued

D114

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

~	
Jontinue	
imulations—C	is water-table zone
used in s	ifer, layer 4
properties	t zone of aqui
Aquifer 1	er 1 is deepes
PENDIX B:	[Laye
ΑI	

119 18 -70 -70 -70 -69 -69 -80 -81 60 -1000 -1100 -1100 -1100 -1100 130 Layers 2-3 crit-cal nead (ft) 1961 Inelas-Layers 1 2-3 0050 0240 0300 0440 0530 storage co-0200 0190 0820 0820 0630 0650 0150 0260 0120 0430 0430 0620 0680 0680 0680 0230 0056 0063 0270 0340 0340 0340 0340 cient effitic 0000000 0000000000 00000000 000 000 detween layers 2-3 3-4 3.9 4 26 160 110 2200 280 280 280 44 45 72 100 100 48 48 48 n n Postdevelopment d\_1 240 230 250 250 250 286 71 61 260 2730 2400 190 190 79 Leakance (TK) (x 10<sup>-6</sup> с, С 4 26 160 0.17 200 200 280 Between layers 1-2 2-3 3-4 644 827 800 100 84 100 84 N Predevelopment 6.8 5.6 37 170 170 86 71 71 010010 0100490 0100490 0100 6.01000 6.01004 7.001000 0011111 00011111 4 Percentage of fine-grained sediment 00000000 00000000 44444444 4444444 44444444 4444444 0000011 88888811 88888 1 1 1 888888 ł 1 1 ---200 2255 250 250 250 250 250 150 4 Aquifer thickness 100001 100001 100001 m (ft) 150 2150 2550 2255 700 700 700 100 375 375 370 400 400 700 700 700 700 700 700  $\sim$ 080 080 460 620 550 710 245 750 780 200 200 200 600 175 175 340 780 600 600 0 050 550 610 600 2000 -----**สุลุคญญ**ล - - ດີຕີດີ ને ને ને તો ને -1 a nor - ara V 0 4 V 4 0 0 ០០៧៧៧៧ភ្នំព conductivity 00000040004 - 01 0 0 0 V 4 0 0.040.010 **Hydraulic** NONNBONN 00000N0 00000000 U14 N P O O N H 2 m 2 m (ft/d) ວິຕ 4 ຕໍ່ທີ່ ຕໍ່ດໍ ດີພູພຸຊຸບານກາດຊ ວ່າເປັນເປັນ ອີດເປັນ ອີດເປັນເປັນ <u>ខេត្តក្រក</u>ចំតា OBHININIAN OHHHHOHH ວຕ່າສ່ຕ່ທ່ຕ່າ onimimimini <u>ດາມສາສາສາ</u> 000000 ທ**ຕຕຕທ**ທ 11 ----ខ្ 🖛 លុ សុ ល ហ ณ่ ค่ ค่ ค่ ค่ ณ่ ณ่ Spe-cific yield 00000110 0000010 0000000 0000000000 00000000 000000000 Row 0.00000100 0.00000 54785040 50100010 2 N 10 0 0 1 0 Col-umn 

## APPENDIX B

961 :rit-	ft)	2-3 2-3	09		-64	-57	-70	70	12	02-	2 2 1	1 4 4 4	0 4 0 0 0 0 0 0	68	64	. E1	-15	- 43 - 60 - 60	0 B	510	10	-19	- 1 1 1	62-	170	95	45	с Г	Ρ	-18
Inelas tic storage not	effi- cient	Layers L	0.0059	0.0620 0.0730	0. 0930	0.0780 0.1100	0. 0820	0.0150	0. 0600	0.0510	0.0620	0.0780	0.0800	0 0270	0.0450	0.1100	0.1200	0. 1400 0. 1900		0.0750	0.0970	0.1200	0.1400	0.1400	0.0120	0.0450	0. 0570	0.0660	0.0760	0.0760
	ment	1 a y er s 3 - 4	12	140 180	24	130	4	4	5.7	6.4	4	2002	4 U 0 0	5	120	88	150	530 530	5	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	88	17	<b>1</b>	170	1.1	6.1	<b>с</b>	19	50	ō
0 <sup>-6</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	develop	3etween 2-3	580	120	120	4 R 0 U	10	380	160	170	140		120	080		49	76	4 N N N	020	200	629	51	45	37	460	140	98	56	81	á
(TK) (x 1	ent	vers 3-4	12	140 180	24	0.97 54	14	9	5.7	6. 4	40	500	1 0 0	5	001	88	150	230 200 200	1 1 1	5 6	8	17	31	170	1.1	6.1	13	19	25	ō
kance	velopme	een 1a) 2-3	10	120	15	4 0 8	0 0 0	10	4.6	7.6	រល ៧	<u>6</u>	11 11	6 4		) 4 ] 4	49	4 0	n c	4 0- 	21	ณ เก	9.6	37	1.4	с Ч	сл Ю	14	18	4.4
ی بہ	Prede	1 864 1 - 2	0	55	ы. ч	17	4.1	0	ю. С	1 1	4.1	en "	4 4 10	4 U	1 C	9 4 8 4	16	25 8. 1	c	c	17	2.9	5.4	52	0	5.7	~	6.7	6 19	c T
÷		- 4	57	57	57	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	101	57	57	57	57	20	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	57	5	ŝ	57	1 6 1	I	ł	ł	ł	I	67	ł	ł	ı	1	ļ	
	1010 1010	L M	37	2 A A	37	9 Q Q Q	50	37	37	37	Ê	E E	5 G	75		è '	37	56 1	1	ł	I	I	ł	56	I	ł	ł	1	I	
	sed in	∠ ∽	44	44	44	4 4 4	44	44	44	44	4	4 4	4 4 4 4	41	44	- 1	44	- <del>1</del> 9	1	ı	,	1	'	1	I	ł	'	ł	I	
đ	. <del>.</del>	-	100	100	100	1 1	ł	100	100	100	100		3 '	100			100	11	ł	I	I	I	I	I	I	ł	ł	I	I	
	S	4	06	288 288	250	021 020	185	200	250	000	200	150	1 I U	50			200	140 192	006	350	000	161	135	172	100	100	260	250	149	11
	Lcknes	er 3	100	0000	300	000 000 000	485	275	250	425	250		200	100		400	124	320 700		450	310	250	350	700	100	200	200	000	150	
	ifer th (ft)	Z Lay	100	002 2009	650	008	200	50	450	275	550	009	400 1004 004	008	2009	1,000	1,200	1, 300		200	800	1,100	1,200	004	50	000	500	450	200	00
	Aqu	-	0	0 582	1,390	2, 350 2, 500	2,000	0	145	885	1,760	2, 380	1,480	ις.	) C	295	1, 350	1, 480 1, 350	c	00	580	1, 320	1,540	1, 540	0	N N	320	1,120	1,780	
1. 	1414y )		6 6	0 7.0 8	0 7.1	5 8 8 7 10 1	8 10.4	5 2.5	3 6.8	2.9.1	7 9.8	ר א מיט מיט	5 8.0	0 13 0		5 12.9	3 12.7	5 6.5 9.7	0 0 0	7 9.8	8 4 8	7 9.5	2 7.7	0 10.5	3 1.3	01 4	ຕ ຕິ	2 6.5	2 13.2	с и с
	conduct (ft/d	Laye 2	- 4- - 4-	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	5.0 5.	0 N N 4	- 4- - 6-	ר. קיס ני	5.0 10.	7.5 9.	ר. ט ו ש		ส่เว่ เณ∕	0 13 0 13	រំព ពេក	6. 2 12 12	7.5 11.	5.0 7.5 7.5	0 0 0	7.5 9.	4.8 4.	7.5 B.	5.0 6.	а. 7 5	1.3 1.	0.1 2.	1. 2 3.	5.0 6.	7.5 11.	0 7 0
		-	I	ю 1.0	5.0	ວແ ທີ່ຕ	າມ ການ	I	5.0	7.3	5 1	n (	ນ ທີ່ ທີ່	13 0 1	• • •	6.9	7.5	ດດ ທີ່ທີ	I	I	<b>4</b> 8	7.5	5. 0	ю Ю	ł	0.1	<b>1</b> . Э	5.0	7.5	0 C
	Spe- cific viald	D T & T A	0.08	0. 09 0. 10	0.09	0.10	0. 12	0. 06	0.08	0. 20	0.11	0.11	0.10	0 14	10	0. 14 4 1	0.14	0. 0 <del>9</del> 0. 12	11	0.11	0. 07	0. 11	0.09	0. 12	0. 20	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.14	
	R o K		J.	~ @	0	2 -	<u>u</u>	9	~	œ (	<b>r</b>	2 :	្មល្អ	Ą		. 00	٥	01	v	71	ß	¢	10	11	ŝ	4	~	8	٩	Ş
	Col-		E E		83			34	34	40	5 C	- •	1 <b>1</b>	یں ص	100	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	35		45	9 9 9	36	36	36	36	37	37	37	37	37	77

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Continued ILayer 1 is deeped zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]

D116

# REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Continued ILayer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone)

0018401 0018401 0010004088 Layers 2-3 1961 crit-cal head (ft) Layers 1 2-3 Inelas-tic storage co-effi-cient 0250 0450 0440 0640 0730 0730 0670 0830 0110 0250 0520 0520 0520 0520 0520 0180 0130 0510 0550 0550 0550 0520 0380 0370 0370 0180 0740 0890 0870 0870 0870 0870 0710 000000000 000000000 000000000 Between layers 2-3 3-4 4.9 25 70 70 35 70 19 6.8 2 6.8 2 6.8 2 6.8 1.6 6.3 6.3 250 250 259 259 259 259 10 100 100 17 77 77 77 77 100 100 17 17 Postdevelopment Leakance (TK)  $(x \ 10^{-6} \ d^{-1})$ 300 63 69 58 58 58 58 92 92 100 100 98 98 98 98 98 98 98 230 110 110 81 81 190 230 120 120 110 110 110 110 190 4.9 255 700.699 1.1 1.1 19 19 6.8 6.8 1,6 0,54 6,3 6,5 750 1,8 1,8 1,8 1,8 20 20 20 20 20 ö Predevelopment 0.1.6 0.32 22 8.22 8.23 21 21 53 53 53 144 144 144 144 144 144 144 04891800 010100000 ന് ึณ่ง่ ໝໍ ດ່ໍ ດ່ ö 11111177 11111 1000 Percentage of fine-grained sediment 111111 0¢ 4 Layer 2 S 00000 סיפיווו ממ 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  $\mathbf{i} \quad \mathbf{i} \quad \mathbf{j} \quad \mathbf{i} \quad \mathbf{j} \quad \mathbf{i} \quad \mathbf{j} \quad \mathbf{i} \quad \mathbf{j} \quad \mathbf{i} \quad$ 111 ......... <del>...</del> 100 200 200 200 143 200 204 203 200 200 200 200 100 300 200 200 202 202 170 4 Aquiter thickness 1300 1500 1500 1500 1000 1000 m Layer (it) N 150 935 620 210 910 910 0 8820 5320 740 7870 7870 7870 0 0 385 150 140 230 0 C 0 <del>~</del>~ . ຕໍ່ດີດີ ຕໍ່ ລີ ລີ ດີ ດີ ລິດ ທີ່ ທີ ລີ ດໍ ດໍ ດໍ 4 ល4លលប់មេយល 004000400 0000000400 1000000 conductivity (ft/d) u n n n n n n n n n 4 ທຸລຸດີ 4 ຫຼື ຫຼື ຫຼື 0440VVV00 יח הי הי הי הי הי Hydraulic Layer 2 3 11 0000NN00 800000000 20040000 ២4 ២ ២ ៧ ២ ២ ២ 4 10 10 10 10 10 10 **U44070700** - 01 N 10 M 10 M 00001N000 ທອວຕ໙໙໐ອ NONOMANN NNMONDOR រៀងស្រុងស្រុង ស្រុ ດ່ຕໍ່ຫໍ່ຜູ້ຜູ້ຜູ້ທີ່ຫຼື ក់លាក់តាត់សំភាត់ --00000 14.0.0.0.0. 0.0.00.0.1 000000 ຫຫຼາວຕວ ี มีตัวจัเจ้งตัว เมื่อเราะ ຈ່ທ່ດ່ດ່ດ້ Spe-cific yield 48001111 66666666 00000000 Col- Row R4780010 R47800100 % 5 

### APPENDIX B

tic 1961 storage crit- co <sup>-</sup> cal	effi- nead cient (ft)	:
6 _1) d _)	Post- levelopment	stween layer 2-3 3-4
(TK)(x 10 <sup>-</sup>	sent 6	ayers
akance	evelop	ween 1
ن ب		1 4 4 1 1 - 2
• •	0	+ +
ntage	grain Laont	ayer 3
Perce	fine sec	
	10 10	+ +
	icknes	1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	fer th (ft)	Lay 2
	Aqui	-
Hyuraulic	conquetivity (ft/d)	Layer 234
	0 T	
	sve Row cif	8 T X
	Col-	

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Continued [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]

D118

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS-CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

n simulations-Continued	r 4 is water-table zone]
ENDIX B: Aquifer properties used i	[Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, laye

o∈ 1 0000000 1 1 0 2 1 0 000 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 00 0 0	Spe- cıfic yıəld									9 0	+ 4 4 4	•	4						))	[ a .
5555555 1000000 1000000	74946	-		sulic ctivi (d)	ty	Aqu	iiter 1 (ft	:rickna: )	S S	7 <del>1</del> 7 1 7 1	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0			Prede	velopme	ant	develor	oment	effi- cient	tead (ft)
33333333 0 9 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		-	La)		t   	-	5	yer 3		-	Lay.			1 - 2 - 1	veen La	(616 416	8etwer 2-3	1ayers 3-4	Layers 2 - 3	Läyers 2-3
444444 44444 10 4 8 4 4 6 11	0.06	i	ດ ເລີ	o ri	о ri	0	DOE	460	200	I	70	20	62	0	21	27	79	27	0.0640	185
5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	0.09	5 0 0 0 0	ο n ο n	ι α α	4 0 7 4	711	1, 100	200 4400	127	11	0 1	1 2 2 2	62 7 4	0-0 0		0 57	4 C	57	0.1100	110
46 9 46 10 46 11	0.11	ы Ч	Ч. С	n o i ci	6	1, 970	202	009	293 1993	I	ł	1 0 0	66 6	10	2 <b>6</b>	140	9.6 0	140	0.1100	36
46 10 46 11	0.10	เว ก่	เก เภ	1.9	8.1	2, 170	906	) 265	299	1	I	56	67	17 4	¢	10	130	10	0.1100	96
11 0+	0.13 0.13	ς γοις	r nin	ທີ່ ຕໍ່	11.6 ,	2,540		200	375 0	I	i	56	, , ,	0 - -	10 10 10	α N	080	α N	0.0540	902
46 12	0.06	י ני	ຸດວ ນ່ ເນ່	ก∧ ÷ณ่	o o o ri	1, 640		9009 i	с н н	!	1 1	0, 0 0, 0	67 67	0 0	0.68 0.68	<u>ן</u> מנ	90 90	ים הי	0. 1400	-155
47 4	0.08	I	6 9	6 9	9 19	C	100	127	145	1	70	50	29	С	C C	19	260	19	0, 0300	245
47 5	80,0	с С	i n	4	4	18	900	OOE	270	I	02	000	10	20	15	27	61	27	0. 0760	182
47 6	0, 10	7.5	7.5	ອ ເບ	00 00	890	1,000	350	250	I	10	00	6 1 2	2 1 1	37	66	99 99	66	0.1100	122
7 7	0.13	6. G	6. 13	5 8	11.6	1,640	1,000	0 510	230	1	70	00	62	20	36	220	96 G	220	0.1300	86
<b>4</b> 7 B	0.12	7. 5	7.51	0.0	10. 2	2,190	1,100	1 415	325	I	70	20	62	19	32	110	35	110	0.1500	69
47 9	0.14	7.5	7. 5	4	12.6	2, 300	1,100	500	342	i	ļ	56	67	19	40	64	980	64	0.0870	110
47 10	0, 10	ດ ຕ່າ	5	ເກ ດi	7.1	2, 280	1,100	0 659	រ ព ព ព ព	I	1	56	67	רי הי	<b>с</b>	6. b	37	ф. Ф	0. 1500	រោះ រោះ 
47 11 27	00	8 0	<b>4</b> (	កព ភេខ	~ i ~ i	1,620	1,050	806 100	ល 4 ព ប ព	1 0	1 (	0 0 0	67	е с -	1.7	сі -	720	∧ • ∩•	0. 1500	-155
4/ 12	0.18	I	n n	n n	17.9	þ	727	CP4 (	18/	n n	70	0	63	0	0.69	1.1	460	1.1	0.0770	C/I-
48 4	0.10	I	7.6	7.6	7.6	0	100	200	190	I	70	50	62	0	13	9.8	200	9.8	0. 0370	166
<b>1</b> 8 5	0.10	ф Э	6. U	7.7	7.7	245	900	400	245	I	70	50.	62	9. 1	ຕ ຫ່	202	4 17	20	0. 1200	147
<b>4</b> 8	0.11	ອ 19	6 19	7.5	8. 9	1,260	206	400	220	ł	02	00	62	27	41	100	42	100	0.1000	149
48 7	0.11	0 0 6 1	o in o	ni n vi n	6 i	2,400	950		265	I	2	0	ក្តុ	16	98 i	94	42	94 1	0.0870	110
	11		n c	ם מ פ פ	ס ר י י			700 700	4 C C	1 !	2	0 v 11 0		א ה ה ר	ט ג ה י		051	5 1 7	0. 0000	
10	0.10	i n i n	i n	- 4	7.7	00000 00000 00000 00000 00000 00000 0000	000	630	200	58	59	0 0 0 0	62 62	2	າໝ ∔ຕ່	4	5 <b>4</b>	4	0.0970	200-
48 11	0.09	ю ю	4.4	5.6	6. O	2, 180	700	957	245	8	59	61	65 1	1.9	i ri	4	066	4	0.1700	-220
48 12	0. 09	6 Ci	5. 6	1. 3	5. b	358	100	022 (	80	58	59	62	65	CJ	1.4	Ui 4	600	сі 4	0.1100	-250
49 4	0. 11	I	9.6	9.6	9.6	0	700	005 (	200	I	62	61	50	0	46	200	46	200	0.1100	223
49 5	0.13	7.5	7.51	11 0	10.9	489	1,100	0 125	200	ł	70	20	62	ი 4	41	190	41	190	0.0930	182
49 6	0.14	7.5	7.51	0.01	13.0	1, 680	1,100	145	200	I	62	61	50	19	37	220	37	220	0.1100	150
49 7	0.11	i n N	-0 I	۲. ۲	9. 1	3, 060	1,18(	225	00E	ł	6	61	60	4	11	20	e e	20	0.1100	110
4 0 0 0 0 0	0.11	ວດ ທີ່ເ	ດ ທີ່-	0. ທີ່ເ	00 100	3, 460	1,24(	0 125	4 4 0 0	1	0 9 9	61	0 0 0	ຕ ເ ຜູ້	ດ ເຊິ່	0 / r	<b>4</b> 0	0 0 C	01100	125
44	201	o m n v	 	⊣ณ ง่ต	- 4 - 1	0, 840 0, 840	50	700	180	ן מ ני	ារព ស្រុ	- C	5 <b>1</b> 7 1	ט מ ס מ ס כ	0 a 	יים אים	9 C	มง ง่ถ	0 0770	
49 11	0.08	7.5	•• i mi	រ ល ល	j j o	2, 570		915	255	2 G 2 G	ነ ው ነ	1 (J 1 (J	65 6	1.8 1.8	4 14	) 00 i <del>4</del>	540	; <del>4</del> ) 0	0. 1800	-220

APPENDIX B

1961 571t-	cat head (ft)		909	213	175	2.6	50	о е г	-195	370	273	217	7 CO	4 10 10	86	45	-135	-201	242	213	186	162	56	50	140	-215	300	241	205	135	130	160	74	ר הי הי	C + T -
-Inelas tic storage	co- effi- cient		0.0000	0.0930	0.1200	0.1400	0.1200	0.0900	0.1500	0.0000	0.0340	0.1600		0.1100	0.0890	0.0920	0.1100	0.1500	0. 0700	0.1500	0.1300	0. 2200	0.1700	0.1300	0.2200	0. 1900	0.0000	0.0810	0.1400	0.1400	0.1300	0.1200	0.0810	0.1700	0.1700
(	t	1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 4	06	80	6 6 6	2 œ	310	ი ი ი ი	∧ ∩ı mi	15	180	8g	19	16	32	ເດ ເປ	ы 4	сі 4	180	52	47	110	26	16	1 T T	4, 1	150	12	21	26	54	130	11	4 I (	ם. ה
10 <sup>-6</sup> -1	1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	44 441 241 2441 2441 2441 2441	0	52		3 E	86	8 0 8 0 0	800 4 50	0	150	ញ់ សំព័	25	00 1 1 1	130	86	690	580	65	29	27	27	27	130	2 n 1	820	0	27	27	27	28	29	98 7		702
(TK) (x	ment	ayers 3-4	60	82	6, C	38	310	ល ល់ល	יי ט רו	15	180	8 8	- C - C - C	16	32	52	ы. 4	ب 4	180	52	47	110	26	16	4 - 4	4	150	12	21	26	54	130	11	4 - 1	ם. נ
	edevelop	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	0	9.2		2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	86	ri ni (	ים כע הו הי	0	79	6, 9 0	05 4 4	t 4	13	12	ณ ณ่	1.5	60	8.1	10	27	7.4	7.6	2 r	n N	0	4	4	16	28	29	4	⊣ເ ກ່ເ	'n
			0	10	0 0	, 0 , 0	сл СЛ		L. I C. 88	٥	0	0	สา ถิ ไป	4 D-	7.3	6.7	1.1	1.1	0	7.1	7. 2	11	n n	n I Ni I	∧ υ Ω +	9 00 1 1	0	0	Ċ	11	12	12	1.5	C	1
	t t t t t t	t	50	20	o c n	200	20	о ц	6 0 0 0	50	50	00		000	60	50	65	65	50	50	50	0 0 0	20	0.0	0 4 4 0	6 G	50	50	00	50	50	50	50	0 I	0
	101810 10181	ayer W	61	61	4 1 1	0 7 7	61	61 1 (	0 0 0	61	61	<b>6</b> 1	0 7 7 0	610	61	61	6 1	6	61	61	51	61	61	9	0 U V 0	0,0	61	61	61	61	61	61	61	1) ( 0 -	Ŭ
	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		62	6 1 1	0 4 4 0	0 0 U U	62	() () () ()	500	62	6 13	сц, С, С, С,	1 C 0 V	4 (1) 2 2	65	61	53	5	6 1	62	6	0 0	6 6 7	0 10 10	ר 0 ער ה	53	62	62	62	62	62	6 0	() 1 1 0	א נ מ	5
		1		I	!		i	1 0	2 0 2 0 2 0	1	I	ł		1	I	I	5 8	58	I	i	ł	I	I	1 0	0 00 5 10	28	l	i	I	ł	ł	1	10	ງແ ດີ	3
	555	t	100	200	275 200	415	515	237	440	75	78	000		378	492	205	220	340	140	170	282	335	0 0 0 0	505	575	320	06	250	276	270	340	398	488		2
	thıckn ft)	Layar S	100	126		5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	472	868 •	098 1,000	75	100	500		160	350	895	1, 310	1,180	120	100	200	200	165	9999 9999		1,210	150	100	100	850	860	200	260	1, 060	2010
	uifer (	2	0	750		2006	906	000	1, 500	0	200	1.500	005.1	1, 500	1,600	1,400	1,120	1,410	580	002 1	1, 500	1, 500	1, 500			1, 310	0	800	(, 600	850	800	1,400	008 1		
	Aqu	-	0	74	0.000 000 000	3, 320	3, 870	3, 130	1,750 1	o	0	010	0,0,0	2, 810	2,420 1	3, 140	G, 840 ]	2, 230	o	398	1,610 ]	3, 270	2,6/0	006 n	00/ (D	2, 370	0	0	811 1	2,110	3, 840	2, 880	4,000	4, a/0	いてい
	ivity (	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	0 	7.1		 	7.1	d u o t	0. 1 1 1 1 1 1	1.4	6. 3	0~ 0 0~ 0	1 1 1 1 1 1	10.0	10. 7	13.5	6.6	10.4	17.7	12.7	9.1	11. 3	12.1	o c b c	r . r	4.5	<b>4</b> . 4	11.6	11.6	15.8	9.6	10.9	10.4	- - - - -	` 0
1 1 1	arau auct ft/a	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0 .0	7.1	n r N N	רט קי	<b>6</b> .3	1 0 1 10	n Nini	1.4	6. 3	00 0 00 0	οœ	×► iœi	00 00	5.0	ы С	4. 6	17.7	12.5	<b>B</b>	10.0	10. 10		- ⊢ + (*	i ni	4	11.3	11.3	12.5	<b>9</b> . 6	11.2	10 11 10	in A	r i
			* * * : *	cu o vi o	o o o o	i o i o	5.0	α < ≓ (	n t in t	ł	6. 3	5.5	0 IO 	i Si di	7.5	4 0	<del>4</del>	ы 4	5	1.2	7.5	7.5	י ט ר י	יי ט ע י	ο α < η	i et	ł	0.01	0.0	₽. ⊲	7.5	8. 7	5.7	t (	r j
		1		e vio	- 	o i ui	5.0	1 1 1 1 1	0 n 2	ı	ł	ע ו ר	s in - N	i ni Lini	7. 5	8 9	7.5	co co	-	1.31	7.5	. 5	י ט 	א - ה ט	י ר ר	7.5	I	1	0.0	8 8	7.5	00 00	5 5 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	יים קיס	2
	Spe- cific	Aterd	06	10	+	60	06	60	10	90	60	12	- C	12	13	15	10	13	18	14 1	11	n i	ית די		4 D	80	07	13	14 1	16	11	сл Т		י קי קי	
	Row		Ö	o o	o c	òò	ö	o o	o o	0	Ö	o'c	) c	ò	ö	o	ö	ö	Ö	ö	o'	o i	o o	o c	òc	ö	Ö	ö	ö	Ö	o	o'	o o	o c	;
	-10	C E	9	4 1	n v	7	Ø	ው ( •	11	ณ	n	4 u	D (	7	Ø	6	10	11	m	4	ın .	10	<b>~</b> (	n 0	0	11	ΩI	ო	4	ŋ	4		ω	• •	1
•	U		20	000		20	50	00	200	51	51	ភូមិ ភូមិ	10	51	51	ដ្ឋា	5	51	Ci Ci	2 ខ្ម	ດ ເມ	ໂN ( ກໍາ	14 C D U	ນ ທ ນີ້ນ	20	55	50	53	53	n D	ម ខ្ម	ຕ ທີ່ເ	n n	່ງເ	3

-Continued	nel
simulations-	4 is water-table zo:
er properties used in	nest zone of aquifer. laver
APPENDIX B: Aquife	I aver 1 is dee

- - - - - -	1 1 3	2 2 2 2 2 2 2					1 1 1 1 1	f f 1 1	1 1 1		1 1					i u i u i u i u i u i u i u i u i u i u	(TK) (	x 10 <sup>-6</sup>	d_1)		Inclast tic storage	1961 crit-
Col-	ж о ш	Spe- cific		1701 0014u 0141	autr ictiv :/d)	i ty	дa	uifer (	thick ft)	ness		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	urau Urau Liaen1	- - - -		develop	ment		Post-	ent.	ctent cient	tead (ft)
C E J		yleid	1				•	2 1 1 1	Layer				ayer	;	0   0             	tween 1	ayers	101	ween 1	ayers	Layers	Layers
	:		-	(N	м	4	-	V	r)		t	1	2	4	1-2	2-3	7 - <u>7</u> - 7		2-5 	3-4	2-3	2-3
54	CI	0. 06	(         	ы 19 10	9 9	Э. 6		10	0 1	8	00	-Q	19 19	1 50	0	81	5	o	150	90	0.0170	226
54	m ·	0.08	1	0 i 2	4 1 1 1	φ.	Ĭ	21		02	000	۰ (ب	ល្ក ភូមិ	1 20	01	י מ נ	- 1	4 2	27	16	0. 0760	240 040
54 54	4 IC	0.14 1.0	11.0				1.800		000		225	1 I	n v v v		5 5 1 1 1	2 7		20	2 6	140	0. 1800	188
5 4 4	0 0	0.14	9 19	0 0	4.7	12.8	2,480	1,35	50 4	18	350	1	1.0 1.0	1 20		1 2 2 1 2 1	<b>ن</b> 11		56	58	0.1300	146
54	7	0.11	5.0	5.0	6.7	8. 4	3, 20(	7 1, 10	90 6	₹ 00	001	1	й 6	1 50	4.4	14	.4	5	27	26	0.1500	126
54	ω	0.12	7.5	7.5	8.7	10.1	3, 01(	ğ	800	00	515	1	0 0	1 50	4.1	<b>8</b> 4		1	50	11	0.0450	70
54	6	0.08	6.3	б. З	ອ ອ	с В	1, 20(	2	90	12 4	980	58	39 6i	2 65 1	ณ ณ่	ເນ ເປັ	ni	7	760	10 1	0.1000	-60
54	10	0.09	6. 3	ເ ເ	ო ო	6.1	96	5	0 1,0	90	2 <b>95</b>	58	59 6:	59	ю. Ю	ຕ ຕ່	4		100	4	0.1300	-125
54	11	0.12	си 0-	4	4	ณ ค่	94	2	е і ОС	50	080	69	ស់ ច្	47	e Ci	10	~	0	150	8.	0.1200	-115
54	ក	0.12	е. 6	4.4	e E	<u>е</u>	522	ŭ 	٥ ٥	20	570	69 4	ស់ ឆ្	3 47	11	9.6		m	190	13	0.0870	45
54	13	0.10	I	1	6.9	6.7	~	~	0	50	50	69 4	ដ្ឋ	3 47	0	0		5	0	25	0.0000	320
55	ល	0.06	1	I	ь N	Ci P	U	~	1	60	00	-0 	й 6	1 50	0	0	5	0	0	006	0.0000	250
55	m	0.08	ł	4. 4	4.7	4.7		9.	22	66 3	305	1	2 6	50	C	26	4	4	27	44	0.1800	225
55	4	0.12	6. 3	0 0 0	8. 7	10.4	2, 200	1,25	50	102	275	1	1 U1 0 O	202	10	18	4	. 0	5	46	0.1700	184
55	ស	0.10	6. 3	6. 3	6. 5	7.0	2, 18(	1,21	50 4	? 90	062	1	2 6	1 50	13. ¢	4.6		1	170	11	0.1600	100
55	4	0.11	භ ෆ	Э. 7	4.1	89 100	2, 73(	0 1, 20	30 5	00	350	74 5	30 45	2 57	C1	6. 6	0	7	170	13	0.1300	130
55	~	0.12	6. 3	6. 10	7.5	10.0	2, 89(	ğ	۲ 00	75 4	175	74	50 4:	2 57	4	14	0 0	36	57	17	0.1000	140
55	Ø	0.09	5. O	5.0	ບ. ບ	5. B	1, 56(	× د	۲ ٥	; 89	532	74	50 4:	2 57	1.9	4.0	. "	5	61	4.5	0.0940	45
55	0	0.10	5. O	5. O	9 10 10	8 10	525	ŏ	1,1 00	20	250	58	39 64	-0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -0 -	ព	2.1	ri	0	29	с і	0.1500	-55
55	10	0.09	6. 3	00 ri	ы Ч	4.6	91(	5	20 1,3	900 1000	225	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	59 62	2 65	1.8	1.4		ณ	1400	ณ	0.1700	-155
55	11	0. 11	I	ы С	n n	7.7	~	1 3	70 1, 2	40	290	20 00 1	59 62	0 02	o	0.75	<b>.</b>	Cui	920	н Сі	0. 2500	-95
55	12	0. 11	I	00 10	ດ ຕ່	0 4	~	Ř	1,1	õ	110	69	ស៍ ញ្	947	0	14		27	1700	27	0. 1700	147
56	ດເ	0. 06	ł	1	н Ю	ы Ц	5	~	0	00	150	1	ŏ Ś	5 63	0	0	ě	0	0	900	0.0000	165
56	ო	0.08	5.4	5.4	5.4	5. 4	16	54	20	00	200	<b>ب</b> ن ا	сл 6	1 50	110	46	4	0	46	210	0.0970	205
56	4	0.12	5.0	0 0	5.0	<u>с</u> .	77:	ŭ	8 00	80	200	1 L	50 6	5 63	0 M	26	16	õ	26	180	0.1700	150
56	ŝ	0.10	7. 5	7.5	10.4	<b>6</b> .6	1, 38(	0 1, 11	50 4	50	300	<del>ا</del> ب	50 6	5 63	20	50		8	52	58	0.1300	104
56	\$	0.10	5. O	5.0	6. G	7.7	1,79(	0 1, 2,	00 00	40	360	ں۔ ا	50 60	5 63	27	46	m	6	130	79	0.1100	140
56	~	0.13	6. G	6. G	6. <del>4</del>	11.7	1,74(	2	20 20	8	510	74	50 4;	2 57	9.4	24	ιΩ	ო	130	26	0. 0880	60
56	00	0.12	10.01	0.0	16. 5	9.6	916	ő	50 6	96	555	74 5	50 4;	2 57	Э	4.		17	57	5.7	0, 0940	-20
56	¢	0.04	89 19	7.9	11.0	1.6	73;	ŝ	50 5	200	550	58 5	39 6ï	2 65	1. 8	1.6		7	26	1.7	0.1100	-45
56	10	0.09	6. 3	oo cui	<del>1</del> .9	4, 6	iee Be	ž	00 1, 2	. 20	360	58	39 G.	2 92	0.71	0.55	Ö	55	560	0. 65	0.0860	08-
56	1) 1	0.08	က က	€ 1	4. 5	с О	4,52(	0 1, Q	90 00	00	100	69 4	ຕ໌ ອ	3 47	0. 35	.4	~	ო	130	<u>م</u> .	0.1400	153

APPENDIX B

Span         Type         Type <t< th=""><th>1 1 1</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>1</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>e e J</th><th>k an c e</th><th>(TK) (x 1</th><th>.0<sup>-6</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>)</th><th></th><th>Inelas- tic storage</th><th>1961 crit-</th></t<>	1 1 1									1				e e J	k an c e	(TK) (x 1	.0 <sup>-6</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )		Inelas- tic storage	1961 crit-
Matrix         Table         <	ž. I	Spe- ow cific	ο.	rydra conduc (ft/	ulic tıvıty d)	Aai	uifer t (ft	ricknes )	IJ	7 0 4 7 1 1 7 1 1	cente e gra edime	age o Alned Int	• •-	Prede	velopm	ent	Post develo	oment	co- effi- cient	cal nead (ft)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		yleld		2 2	er 3			Yar Var	+ +	-	Laye 2	- m	1 t 1	1-2	een La 2-3	yers 3-4	861. 861. 2-3	layers 3-4	Layers 2-3	Layers 2-3
011         7.5 <td></td> <td>0.13</td> <td></td> <td>9.8.5</td> <td>9.8</td> <td></td> <td>100</td> <td>100</td> <td>100</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>c</td> <td>140</td> <td>400</td> <td>140</td> <td>006</td> <td>0.0170</td> <td>268</td>		0.13		9.8.5	9.8		100	100	100					c	140	400	140	006	0.0170	268
4       0.11       6.3       5.2       3.7       6.6       5.3       1.2       1.2       5.5       3.7       1.1       4.7       5.5       5.5       8.7       1.1       4.7       5.5       5.5       8.7       1.1       8.7       7.0       70	ויז	0.11	7.5	1.5	- 00 - 10 - 10 - 10	9 40	000 11 000	2002	100	I	60	0 0 0	100	57	48	180	86	180	0.1100	240
5         0.13         7.5         7.5         8.7         11.1         2.5         0.190         1100<	4	0.11	é. G	6. 2 €	3.7 8.	4 1, 62(	0 1,000	481	284	1	60	é6	63	1.2	1.9	ນ ເຕັ	29	ານ ເບັ	0.1100	162
0         0.13         0.13         0.13         0.13         0.13         0.13         0.13         0.110         0.1100         0.1	μ) ·	0.13	יט ר'ו	ר א שו	B. 7 11.	2 2,270	606	763	337	I	60	66	9 0	54	86	0. 75	86	260	0.1800	150
0         0	u r		n c	0 0 0 0 0 0		4 1,950	200	750	400	1	0 9 0 0	9 C	1 C) 4 Q	Ē	4 >	0.052	OEI	101	0.1100	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	× α		່ແ					047	045 1045	4 4	200	1 4 1 4	. r		0 - 0		1) () ()		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	ሆ	0.02		18.4 20	. 4 .0 . 4 .0	2	600	2007	2002	74	20	1 (1	57		0.17	0.15	69	0.15	0.0880	-117
12         0.06         1.3         1.1         2.2         2.4         3,100         500         440         1.1         1.2         2.40         1.2         0.080         150         50         55         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         7         0.080         150         170         0.085         15         0.018         17         5         2         0.010         15         5         5         7         0.180         150         17         0.085         155         15         0.180         180         180         15	10	0.05	8 8	4.0.4	4.9	8 1, 120	009 (	650	650	74	50	4 (1	57 (	0.0022 C	0.0043	0. 0036	72	0.0036	0.1100	-70
3       0.08       5.0       5.6       5.5       30       700       400       200       5.5       5.5       1.300       1.400       350       250       77       0.0850       117       0.01700       186       177       0.0850       186       170       0.11700       186       170       0.11700       186       170       0.11700       186       170       0.1100       186       177       0.0850       347       1.46       740       550       77       0.0850       347       1.46       500       170       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       170       0.1100       186       186       170       0.1100       186       186       171	(U ⊷1	0.06	1.3	1.1	ณ์ ณ <sub>ิ</sub>	4 3, 10(	0 200	300	440	69	48	53 13	47	0.14	1.1	1.2	240	1.2	0.0800	155
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Ċ	0.08	5.0	5.0	5.6 5.	ь ЭС	002 (	400	200	I	60	66 6	63	69	44	77	520	77	0. 0850	150
5       0.13       6.2       7.511.7       2.970       1.400       525       295       -       60       66       63       11       22       0.55       22       60       0.1800       156         7       0.17       10.0       10.0       11.6       17       2.740       90       340       -       66       65       74       50       65       57       27       29       0.35       27       29       0.35       27       29       0.36       0.160       120       0.160       120       0.000       120       120       0.000       120       120       0.000       120       120       0.000       120       120       0.160       120       0.013       120       0.0100       120       0.0100       120       0.0100       120       0.0100       120       0.0100       120       0.0100       120       0.0100       <	4	0.12	ю. Э	6. 2 E	<u>я</u> . 8 9. 9.	5 1, 300	0 1,400	350	250	I	60	66	63	45	62	170	86	170	0.1700	180
6       014       10.0       10.0       12.6       2.4.4.0       700       340       -       60       64       53       12       23       24       25       77       10       10.0       12.6       77       10.0       10.0       12.6       77       70       10.0       12.6       77       70       10.0       12.6       77       7.5       5.7       7.5       5.6       7       7.5       5.7       7.7       2.5       5.7       7.7       2.6       7.6       5.6       7.7       7.6       5.6       7.7       7.6       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.6       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.6       7.7       7.7       7.7       7.7 <td>ų)</td> <td>0.13</td> <td>ю vi</td> <td>б. И</td> <td>7.5 11.</td> <td>7 2,99(</td> <td>0 1,400</td> <td>525</td> <td>295</td> <td>ł</td> <td>60</td> <td>66</td> <td>69 69</td> <td>11</td> <td>22</td> <td>0. 55</td> <td>22</td> <td>60</td> <td>0.1800</td> <td>160</td>	ų)	0.13	ю vi	б. И	7.5 11.	7 2,99(	0 1,400	525	295	ł	60	66	69 69	11	22	0. 55	22	60	0.1800	160
8       0.06       7.5       6.7       7.7       7.5       6.7       7.4       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       1.4       1.6       5.7       5.6       5.7       5.	10	0 14	0.01	10.014	1 6 12. 1 7 16.	7 2,46( 8 810	006	800 793	357 357	74	200	4 4 7 7	50 10 10	ល្មិ ក	្ត្រល	0,4 4 0	ស លោក	24 65 6	0.01300	120
7       0.03       7.5       6.7       7.9       2.5       1,020       700       740       67       41       100       0       33       0       0000       360       44       0       1100       700       700       700       700       740       67       44       0       1100       700       286       0       1100       700       286       0       1100       700       286       0       1100       700       286       0       1100       700       286       0       1100       700       286       0       1100       1700       1100       1100       1100       1100       1100       1100       1100       1100       1100       1100       10100       10100       10100       100       1000       1100       1000       1100       1000       1100       100	0	0.06	7.5	6.8 0	3. 4 2	8 490	906 (	800	650	74	50	4 U	57	1. 4	4	1.6	55	1.6	0.1000	0
10       0.04       6.3       5.6       6.8       2.5       1,020       700       740       67       48       23       47       2.2       4.5       4.4       150       4.4       0.1100       280         12       0.08       -       23       25       0       0       50       50       67       48       23       47       0       3       0       3       0       3       0       0       3       0       0       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       000       28       28       4       0       110       0       3       3       0       000       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       000       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       0       3       3       0       3       3       0       3       3       0       3       3       0       0       0       0       3       3       0       3       3	ſ	0.03	7.5	6.7	7.9 2.	5 425	908 6	800	800	74	50	4 Ci	57	0.4	0. 39	0.36	56	0.36	0.1600	0
12       0.08       -       2:3       2:5       0       0       53       47       0       0       33       0.0000       286         13       0.13       -       2:7       4.2       4.2       0       50	4	0.04	с, Э	5.6.6	сі в і	5 1,020	200	200	740	69	48	с С	47	ณ ณ่	4. 13	4.4	150	4.4	0.1100	20
3       0.07       -       3.7       4.2       4.2       0       500       600       225       -       60       6.6       33       1400       211       0.1100       221       35       1400       221       26       430       26       0.1100       227       5       0.01       27       55       0.02       26       63       21       35       140       35       140       0.1100       227       57       160       0.1100       227       57       160       0.1100       227       57       15       0.00       271       150       0.1300       157       57       15       170       0.1100       273       273       156       0.1100       0.1300       107       10       100       0.1300       107       10       100       0.1100       273       100       1100       1010		0.08	11			1 2	00	200	100	69 69	47 47 40 40 40	ក្តា ស្ត្រីស្ត្រី	47	00	00	ო ო ო	00	ო ო ო	0.0000.0	320
4       0.11       6.3       6.3       6.1       35       140       35       140       35       140       0.1100       227         5       0.14       7.5       7.5       10.0       12.3       3,410       800       593       217       52       42       50       62       140       35       140       0.1100       227         6       0.07       7.5       7.5       10.0       12.3       3,410       800       593       217       52       42       50       62       140       35       140       0.1100       107         7       0.11       7.5       7.5       18       7.7       11.1       130       7.1       0.1000       107         7       0.11       7.5       7.5       140       57       0.27       3.2       157       150       100       0.1100       107         7       0.11       7.5       7.5       140       57       0.24       57       0.24       57       10.0       1000       107         7       0.05       4.5       57       0.62       1.2       57       0.24       57       0.24       57       0.24       <	C	0.07	I	с. 4	1. U	U N	500	600	225	I	60	66 ,	<b>6</b> 3	0	00 20	26	430	26	0.1400	110
5       0.14       7.5       7.5       7.5       7.5       10.0       0.1300       157       55       0.29       55       100       0.1300       157         6       0.07       7.5       7.5       8.0       6.1       2.7660       700       6.36       352       42       50       62       19       57       3.2       57       160       0.1100       107         7       0.11       7.5       7.5       14.6       8.7       1,190       1,000       460       52       42       50       62       13       56       7.1       130       7.1       0.100       107         7       0.11       7.5       7.5       140       140       460       52       42       50       62       13       56       7.1       1100       107       10	4	0.11	6. J	6.3 0	3. <b>6</b> 8.	6 1,7BC	009 0	600	225	I	60	<b>66</b>	63	21	35	140	35	140	0.1100	227
6       0.07       7.5       7.5       8.0       6.1       2,940       700       636       350       52       42       50       62       19       57       3.2       57       160       0.1100       107         7       0.111       7.5       7.5       14.6       8.7       1.190       1.000       400       460       52       42       50       62       3.3       5.6       7.1       130       7.1       0.100       107         8       7.9       12.1       3.4       713       700       450       74       50       42       57       0.34       0.52       0.42       71       0.100       100       100         9       0.05       5.0       4.5       74       50       42       57       0.34       0.52       0.42       71       0.1500       30       41       0.1500       30       41       0.1500       30       42       57       0.34       0.52       0.42       77       0.42       71       0.1500       42       70       54       42       70       54       75       0.42       75       0.42       75       0.97       75       0.97       75 </td <td>נע</td> <td>0.14</td> <td>7.5</td> <td>7.5 1C</td> <td>0.0 12.</td> <td>3 3,410</td> <td>908 (</td> <td>593</td> <td>217</td> <td>50</td> <td>42</td> <td>50</td> <td>62</td> <td>16</td> <td>52</td> <td>0. 29</td> <td>52</td> <td>100</td> <td>0.1300</td> <td>155</td>	נע	0.14	7.5	7.5 1C	0.0 12.	3 3,410	908 (	593	217	50	42	50	62	16	52	0. 29	52	100	0.1300	155
7       0.11       7.5       7.5       14.6       8.7       1,170       1,000       460       52       42       50       62       3.3       5.6       7.1       130       7.1       0.100       10         8       7.7       12.1       3.4       713       700       620       740       74       50       42       57       0.87       1.1       67       1.1       0.1500       30         7       0.05       5.0       4.5       70       620       740       74       50       42       57       0.87       1.1       67       1.1       0.1500       30         7       0.05       5.0       4.5       74       50       74       57       0.87       1.2       1.1       0.1500       30         7       0.05       5.0       42       57       0.51       1.2       0.72       75       0.97       0.0520       75         10       0.06       500       597       697       48       23       47       0       0.27       0.0750       0.74       0.0680       176       0.74       0.0680       176       0.74       0.0520       77       0.0520	40	0.09	7.5	7.5 8	з. <b>о</b> б.	1 2,960	002 0	636	350	25	4 U	50	6 <b>2</b>	19	57	ы С	57	160	0.1100	109
8       0.07       8.8       7.9       12.1       3.4       713       700       520       740       74       50       42       57       0.87       1.2       1.1       6.7       1.1       0.1500       30         9       0.05       5.0       4.5       70       50       74       50       42       57       0.34       0.52       0.42       75       0.42       75       0.9750       42         10       0.05       5.0       4.5       74       50       74       50       42       57       0.52       0.42       75       0.97       75       0.9750       42         11       0.05       2.5       2.4       57       0.51       1.2       0.97       75       0.97       75       0.97       75       77       0.97       0.0520       75         11       0.01       -       1.0       0       0.07       0       0.33       0.27       10.07       0.0520       75       75       0.74       0.0540       0.0520       75         12       0.11       -       1.0       0       0       0       0       0.034       0       0.060       0.24 <td>2</td> <td>0.11</td> <td>7.5</td> <td>7 5 14</td> <td>1.6 B.</td> <td>7 1,190</td> <td>0 1, 000</td> <td>400</td> <td>460</td> <td>52</td> <td>4 10</td> <td>50</td> <td>62</td> <td>n n</td> <td>5.6</td> <td>7.1</td> <td>130</td> <td>7.1</td> <td>0.1000</td> <td>10</td>	2	0.11	7.5	7 5 14	1.6 B.	7 1,190	0 1, 000	400	460	52	4 10	50	62	n n	5.6	7.1	130	7.1	0.1000	10
7       0.05       5.0       4.5       7.0       50       600       600       750       74       50       42       57       0.34       0.52       0.42       75       0.42       0.0550       45         10       0.05       2.5       2.2       4.5       3.7       1,400       600       596       784       74       50       42       57       0.51       1.2       0.97       75       0.97       0.0520       75         11       0.08       -       5.6       5.6       5.7       697       69       48       23       47       0       0.37       0.29       210       0.29       0.0680       105         12       0.11       -       1.0       0.9       1.0       0       600       600       550       69       48       23       47       0       0.29       210       0.29       0.0680       221         12       0.11       -       1.0       0.9       1.0       0       50       50       50       50       50       50       52       52       59       75       75       79       79       70       76       70       75       0.0	w	0.07	8 8	7.9 12	ы н ы	4 710	3 700	620	740	74	50	4 U	57	0.87	1.2	1.1	67	1.1	0.1500	ຕິ
10       0.05       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       2.5       0.97       0.0520       75         11       0.08       -       5.6       5.6       5.6       5.3       0       500       495       697       69       48       23       47       0       0.37       0.29       210       0.29       0.0680       105         12       0.11       -       1.0       0.9       1.0       0       48       23       47       0       9.2       9.9       0.0680       221         12       0.11       -       1.0       0.9       1.0       0       48       23       47       0       9.2       9.9       0.0880       221         12       0.11       -       1.0       0.9       10       0.0       23       0.0800       23       0.0       29.6       75       21       0.0       23.6       0.0       221       10.2       21       0.0       29.6       210       0.2       25       0.0       21       0.0       20.0       0.0       23.6       0.0       20.0       10.2	ſ	0.05	5.0	4.55	9.0 <sup>2</sup> .	5 73(	009 0	600	750	74	50	4 U	57	0.34	0. 52	0.42	75	0.42	0.0950	45
11 0.08 - 5.6 5.6 5.6 6.3 0 500 495 697 69 48 23 47 0 0.37 0.29 210 0.29 0.0680 105 12 0.11 - 1.0 0.9 1.0 0 600 600 550 69 48 23 47 0 9.2 9.9 180 9.9 0.0880 221 13 0.10 4.6 5.0 0 0 25 50 48 0 0 3.6 0 3.6 0 3.6 0 000 295	10	0.05	ດ ເ	2 Ci	4. 5 D.	7 1,400	009 0	596	784	74	50	4 U	57	0.51	н г	0.97	75	0.97	0. 0520	75
12 0.11 - 1.0 0.9 1.0 0 600 600 550 69 48 23 47 0 9.2 9.9 180 9.9 0.0880 221 13 0.10 4.6 5.0 0 0 25 50 48 0 0 3.6 0 3.6 0 3.6 0.0000 295		0.08	ł	5.6	5.6 6.	т	500	495	697	69	48	n N	47	0	0. 37	0. 29	210	0. 29	0. 0680	105
13 0.10 4.6 5.0 0 0 25 50 48 0 0 3.6 0 3.6 0 3.6 0.0000 295	-	0.11	1	1.0	0.9	0	600	600	550	69	<b>4</b> 8	n N	47	0	9. 1	9.9	180	9.9	0.0880	221
		0, 10	I	۲ ۱	4.6 5.	。 。	0	52	50	I	i	1	48	0	0	ы Ф	0	ы Ф	0.0000	295

APPENDIX B: Aquifer properties used in simulations—Continued [Layer 1 is deepest zone of aquifer, layer 4 is water-table zone]

 1961 crit-	cead (ft)	1 2 2 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 3 1 1 3 1 1 1 1	170	082 530	80	69	45 -114	101	37	232	000	170	234		121 121	0 4	200		909	228	394	200	143	<u>6</u>	ר ע ני	300	-40	80	000	414	100	120	DE I	70	-60	01-	170
tora tora tora tora tora tora	effi- cient	Layers L 2-3	0. 0570	0.1500	0. 0790	0. 0770	0.1700	0.0680	0. 0230	0.1100	1000.0	0.0330	0.1500	0.1800	0.1400	0.1/00	0.0310	0.0810	0.0380	0.0960	0. 0081	0.1000	0.1600	0.0820	0.1400	0 0620	0.1100	0.1600	0.0420	0.0100	0.1000		0.2100	0.1200	0.1400	0.0830	0.0300
	a cont	1 ay ers 5 - 4	36	150	יי ה יי	n U	0.092	0.06	300E-6	4 (	0 -	8, 5	9 i	51	44	+ + 0	oo √n	ม่า เ	0.052	6.4	5.4	1.5	34	79		ь IC 0 0	8	0.019	ຕ ແ ດ່າ	а 1	1 6	120	52	26	е 4 (	א כ א יי	ט. עני
0 <sup>-6</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> )	develop	3etween 2-3	94	4	170	130	65 76	09	240	69	000	220	4 (11)	69	98 . 90 .	001	2021	) r	94 1	86	690	51	45	44	4 ( 0	640	36	39	150	000	75	2	i d	88	1300	4 C	230
(TK) (x 1	ent	1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5 1 5	9e	150	0. 000	n n	0.092	0.06	300E-6	4 6	2 -	9. 5 9	60	0.14	н. Ч	4 0	ס ס ה	1 1	0.052	6.4	5.4	1.5	34	<u></u>		0 49	0. 61	0.019	ຕ ແ ດ່າ	1. a	1.9	100	2 1 1 1 1 1	59	01 I	2 C7	ປີ. ບີ
skance	evelopm		44	47	1 CT	4	0.093	0.056	0. 0022	n u n	o vi	9	88	96 196	ມ ເຕີຍ ເ	ר ה הי -	N 0 	4	0.067	5.4	5. 1	1.1	24	4		) 4 0	1 1 1 1 1 1	0.011	ທ ຕ່ເ	ם וי	N -	- C	1.5	37	56 1 1 1 1 1 1	0 0 N	, M
	00.0	1+2	o	LE C	<b>0</b> 0	ч Г	0.065	0. 035	õ	00	S	0	50		17	4 -	0 0 	- 0 - 0	r O N	0	0	0	14	13 1 1	12	2 a 7 a 7 a	ю. Г	0	00	þ	00	ר מ מ	14	48	5 2 2	n c Ni	0
		t   	62	29 29	ט ע 0 0	10	57	56	48	4 ¢	<b>t</b>	62	6 1 1	24 i 9	() () ()	אור סיים	រប ប្រ		0 0 0 0	48	48	62	62	6 6 7	() II	מו מ מו מ	52	48	¢,	4 D	, Сі (	ប្រ ប្រ	200	52	ម ខេ	រ ហ្វា ហ្វា	2 <b>4</b>
	aine lent	i n N	50	0 2 2	200	202	4 4 () ()	1 (J	i	1 1	I	20	20	20 20	50	0 0 0 0	с С С	ŝ	1	1	ł	50	50	0 6	201	5 m	n B	ł	I	1	000	ט ג ע ג	0 m	20	n n	ກ ຕ ດີ ທີ	31
		1.0	4	4	4 4 1 1 1	4	0 C 11 11	202	ł	1 1	ł	4	4 U	4	4	4 s	4 4 7 0		ł	ł	ł	42	40	4 1	1	t 4	40	;	I	1	4 4 1) ()	4 Α	4	48	4 4 0 0	α 0 0	<b>)</b>
	t i	-	25	ល្អ ព ភូមិ ដ	ា ល ភូមិ	25	47	4	ł		I	ល	ល ។ ភេ ។	ល i ឆ		ม ถุม	וע	1	1	I	I	52	52	20	52	1	I	í	ſ	1	ល ព ភេដ	ו נג ה	1	ł	I	1 1	ł
	s	t	200		с1/ 365	600	440 447	804	670	200	001	200	200	520	240	8 <b>6</b> 5			475	450	50	350	00E	000	020 070	7 C	197	325	350	100	355 255		535	275	322 022	248 205	325
	hıckne:		650	008	617 600	600	006	4 <b>4</b> 6	190	200	2	200	800	1,000	200	800	/ 00 / 5 / 5		195	400	50	600	700	800	700	2 C C 4	1,000	775	350	100	500	1, 000	1, 060	725	805	800 7 7	500
6 1 1 1	ler ti (ft		100	008	008	009	500	1, 000	100	600 1 1	ר ע	200	1,000	1,000	1,600	1,200				590	50	906	1,000	006	1,000	0000.1	800	1,000	100	2	500		1, 200	1,000	800	00/	125
	AGU	-	0	1,130	2, 700 2, 700	650	855	830	0	00	2	0	217	2, 140	2, 240		2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2			0	0	0	1, 760	1,940	588		762	0	00	D	00	010	1, 220	367	710	927 0	0 0
	<u>}</u>	4	6 	ณ์ เก่า	- e	1	n n	່ ຜ ກໍ ຕໍ	5.5	- u - u	t S	4 4	4 0	6. 1	ດ ( ຕໍ່	ъ.	o⊢ viv	- r 5 0	5.7	1.9	ດ i	4 4	5.4	ຍ ຕ່	1 1	- 0 1 - 1	n i o	1.4	ຕ Nic	n N	4 (1) (1)	₽ d • 4	i 4	6. <u>1</u>	∧ . 	- C	n n F ni
	11 × 1		6	ល ផ	00	4	(°	<b>.</b>	N.	4 0	0	4	0	<u>ہ</u>		ຄຸດ	n n	4 <	t N	<b>.</b>	ო	4	4	ω.	<u>م</u>	0 0	m	m	(	N	CI C	<b>ه</b> م	n,	4		n d	2 (1)
		v L.	0 0	ເດ ( ເວ (	2 7 7 7	.0	ი ი ი ი	)4 10	7 10		t t	4 (1)	4	0 9	ຕ ແ ທ ແ	ດ - ເ	л 2 2 2	; •	າທ - ທ	с П	ດ ມ	4 0	0	ν Γ	n n n	ס מ ס ר	0 0	ດ ຕ	ດມ ແ 	ม ก	4 •	* * > c	ם ני א ני	0.	с. С.	ሳ ተ ባ <del>-</del>	•ល ១៣
	U U		i ni	ຕ໌ . 	o ci	പ്പ	nin m	i ci n	22.	-i u	'n	ri	4	ທ່	ri (	ni -	o d	j -	- 4	ö	ri.	ri	ທ່ ດ	က် ၊ က		ni ko	i uri m	N	ດ່ ເ	บ่	4 1	n in c	i ri	പ്പം	~ "	ກ່ <del>-</del>	i ni
		1		ຕ່	٥œ	ີທີ	ດ່	0	I	1 1	I	I	4	ບ ທີ່	ni c	ni r	- r		, , 1	I	I	I	5 U	ເ ເ		5 1	- 0	I	1	ł	L	ן ה	່ຕ່	່ທ່	ωi.	. I	1
	Spe- cific	V1010	0.06	0.08	0.00	0. 09	0.06	60.0	0.09	60 0 0 0	00.0	0. 07	0. 07	0.09	0.07	9 0 0 0			80.0	0.06	0. 06	0. 06	0. 08	0.08	0.10	200	0.09	0.04	0. 06 05	co .o	0.08	000	80 .0	0.10	0.14	010	0.08
	л С			4 4	n a	1	<del>م ہ</del>	• <u>0</u>	11		2	ო	4	م	1 D	< c	00	` <u>c</u>	2 =	12	<u>6</u>	4	ŝ	<b>9</b> I	<b>~</b> c	00	0	11	ល្មា	r T	4 1	ۍ د	1	ω	ь <u>с</u>	2 :	2
8	Col-	c e 5	60	6 0 0 0 0	000	60	6 0 6 0 7	30	60	0 0	2	61	61	61	61 	61	01 71	1 4	61	61	61	62	62	62 1	20	N U	50	62	ល្អព្	Ŋ	63	ი ლ ი დ	200	63	ູ ທີ່ເ	5 C	n v v

APPENDIX B

Aquifer properties
B: <i>E</i>
APPENDIX

				1							0	+ 0 0 0		+	rea,	りしこうく				100	- a .
Co1-	э о х	Spe- cific		0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	uctiv t/a)	vi ty	Aqu	iiter ' (f	thickne: t)	S	. <b>.</b> .	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	9116 9116		Predev	velopm	ent	develo	0 9 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	effi- cient	tead (ft)
C E J		y <b>ı</b> eld	-	_ ./     	L   0   5   6		-		Гауе М	4	-	N N N	1.5	1 		een 1a 2-3	yers 3-4	8etween 2-3	187815 187815 0-4	Layers	Layers 2-3
64 64	4	. 09		1 4	5.4	5.4	0	100	100	200	j	84	53	55	0	4	-0 -0	320	<b>م</b> ت	0. 0093	280
64	0 D	. 07	I	а. Г	а Т	с М	0	2,000	1, 120	375	1	48	53	55	0	ດເ ຕ່	6. 3	21	б. Э	0. 2900	135
4	۰ o	90	ו ח הי	រកា ល់	01 I 4 I	ເກ ດໄ	2,040	1,000	800	350	١	<b>4</b> 0	<b>0</b>	<b>נ</b> ו גו	6	47	69	8 <b>6</b>	69	0.1900	115
4 4			n n vi v	ณ์ เงิง	י א איני	с 1	2,260	1,000	000 1	060	1	4 v 0 0	ຕ ທີ່ມີ	ម ខេត្ត			8	ត្រ	ខ្ល	0.1700	129
4 4	00		o o o o	ម ព ចំចំ	0 10 10	n in So	062 062	1,100	9099 999	040 040	) )	4 4 4	ກ ຕ ກີທີ	ດ ເດິດ	າ 4 ແ	у <u>с</u>	45 900F-6	1400	ታ ው ን ሲ	0.1100	1 1
64 1	0	. 11	6. 4	6 4	6 4	0 0	445	1,000	1,000	320	١	64	23	13	1 <del>4</del>	80	40	35	4	0.1200	82
64 1	1	. 10	9.9	9.9	9.9	6. 3	125	1, 300	1, 300	357	١	I	ı	48	0 0	н Сі	ы 4	27	ы 4	0.1600	115
64 1	0	80.	I	0 0	5.0	5.0	0	500	500	350	ł	١	I	48	0	Ч Ч	4	69	4.4	0. 0900	180
65	5 0	. 07	1. G	н С	н С.	5 5	100	906	250	300	١	48	53	55	1.4	1.2	n N	58	с Сі	0. 0860	185
45	6 0.	. 10	5. O	5.0	6. <del>4</del>	6. <del>4</del>	1, 980	800	450	350	1	48	53	55	0.55	1.1	1. 8	52	1.8	0.1100	08
65	م 0	80	5.0	0 10 10	ы. О	ຕ ທີ	3, 280	700	009	300	1	48	53	55	6.5	20	27	290	27	0.1000	08
65	о Ю	60	6. 1	6.1	6. 1	6.1	2, 740	009	700	300	1	<b>4</b> 8	5 C	55	46	120	140	250	140	0. 0800	70
, 1.0	6	6 <u>1</u> -	e i e i	1 N 1 1	11.5	11.5	687	1,000	350	020	1	48	e B	រព	0	11	ស្ត	49	N N	0. 0760	4 0
			7. 5	ה ט י ט	00 0 4 1	o nin	428	1,000	975	347	ł	1	ı	64 6 6	46	с С	50	000	20	0.1300	26
0 4 0 4			1	0 +	ທີ່ ດີ•	agi ∧ 4- (	00	1, 300	1,280	450	1	ł	i	64 ¢	00	י נו וי	90 90 90	121	0 9 9	0. 1800	180
	כ ע	5	I	ע -	Ч 	n d	þ		000	400	I	1	I	D 4	c	¢	a o	:	o o	0. 0/90	200
<b>66</b>	6 0	. 07	1.3	н. С	1.7	1.7	1, 530	500	500	400	۱	48	53	55	6.7	13	14	65	14	0.0670	255
66	م 0	10	0.0	5.0	6. 3	6.9	3,040	700	600	420	١	48	с С	55	1.8	ດ. ເວີ	6. 3	50	6.3	0.0940	60
66	Ö	13	8 8	8. 7	10. 0	11. 0	3, 130	400	850	400	ł	48	e B	55	19	51	130	51	130	0.0750	90
66	0	4	5.1	5.0	10.0	11.3	1,620	1, 100	562	415	۱	4	46	44	19	37	84	51	84	0.1000	110
 0	о ( о (		0	o i n i	n n o i	m (	1,740	001	735	200	١	54	46	44	0 E	21	72	51	72	0.1200	103
66 65 1	- N	<b>6</b> 0 .	11	n ∩u Ni <del>ri</del>	n n Ni mi	ວ <b>ວ</b> ດໍທ່	00	0 0 0 0	150		1 1	i i	11	4 4 0 0	00	nini	- 0 	350 350		0.0100 0.0160	266
47	ب د	ŗ	ر ۲	1 1		с Т		007			I	0	C	لا لا	•	Ċ	č	C U	Ċ		
67	) ( ) (	2 5	n c d c	n n i n		11.0	3.440			0 1 1 1 1 1 1	1	0 4 1	24	24	ין א א ני	4 F	0 V 0 V	0.0	0 1 0 1		
67	0 0	1.0	. J.	, <b>ה</b>	11.3	0 0 0	3, 270	009	006	370	۱	5 4 5	4 4 7 9	44	5	46	4 4 4 0 4	966 9	44	0.0890	210
67	0	. 14	6. 3	6 10	10.0	11.8	1,440	1, 300	396	400	1	54	46	44	8.9	4	35	140	35	0.1300	200
67 1	0 0	11	I	9.1	9.1	9.1	0	1,000	400	400	ł	4	I	48	0	42	74	49	74	0.1200	157
67 1	1	Ц	I	10.6	10. 6	10.6	0	1, 000	1,220	350	1	ł	I	48	0	31	94	31	94	0.1400	247
67 1	o N	. 09	1	n ni	ni Ni	0 0	0	00	100	100	1	ţ	I	48	0	53	18	460	18	0.0100	292
68	6	. 13	7.5	7.5	10. 0	10.5	1,440	1,200	1,200	200	١	54	46	44	5. G	\$	11	650	11	0. 0730	125
<b>68</b>		11	5.2	7.5	11.3	α Ω	4,070	1,000	797	196	١	54	46	44	15	38	120	38	120	0.1200	240
89	00	<u>р</u>	ις Γ	ה. ייי	o i o i	10.9	5,010	1, 200	030 130	202	١	ອ 10 ເ	46	44	90 90	120	3000	350	330	0.0710	210
- 0 0 7 0	5 C		ກດ ຄໍຍ	л с o и	n c V u	n c xi o	10,400 10,400	1,000	016 0	382	1	4 r	40	4 4 4	4 1 4	m c m c	040 • • •	220	89 90 90	0.0560	223
, 1 6 0 7 0	> 0 >	29	35	i N N	20. <del>9</del> <	10. 9 F	2000	204 204 204	099	400 00	1	<b>t</b> 1	4 0	1 4 1 00 1 00	2 € 2 €	0.14	0. 81	14C	0. <b>B1</b>	0. 0450	190

D124

REGIONAL AQUIFER-SYSTEM ANALYSIS—CENTRAL VALLEY, CALIFORNIA

APPENDIX B

									Apper	VDIX B: [Laye	Aquifer F r 1 is deepest	<i>ropertie</i> : zone of aqu	<i>s изеd</i> uifer, la	l in sii yer 4 is	mulat water-t	tions—Co table zonel	ontinued						
       			1 1 1 1								8 8 8 8 8							X ance	TK) (x 10		1 1 1 1	Inelas tic storage	 1961 crit-
Col-	R S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	Spe- cific			are.	4	ţ	ત	quif	er th (ft)	LCKNess		r i L i L i L			- -	Pred 0	velopme	in t	develop	Jment	effi- cient	head (ft)
C E 3		yıeld	. –		Lay:	- L - N	- 7			L ay	د ا ک	+ +	-	Laye	1 L M	+ +	1-2	een 1ay 2-3	1818 1918 1914	detween 2-3	layers 3-4 3-4	Layers 2-3	Layers 2-3
69	5	0.10		6.9	3 6.	e.	6.4	9 5 1 8 8 8	0	800	800	200		56	49	47	0	76	130	170	130	0.1200	475
69	<b>0</b>	0. 15	9 9	10 10	~	5	[J. 5	1,14	-1 0	200 1	, 200	185	I	56	49	47	6. 5	6.5	12	1100	12	0.0640	120
69		0.10	ο i	ທີ	ю С	ณ	0.7	4,92	0 1	000	, 020	296	I	54	46	44	16	48	81	340	81	0.1500	180
69	<b>0</b> 1	0.12	7.5	N 1	с Ю	. 8	0. 0	4,93	0 1	200	500	332	I	54	46	44	25	90	50	320	210	0.0910	207
64	<u>م</u>	0.12	9 9	9 0	2	9	9. 0	Э, 08	õ	900	006	513	I	56	49	47	5.1	11	15	04E	15	0.0600	150
64	0	0.11	9 9	. U . O	ณ่ กา	۳.	7.5	1, 10	õ	800 1	, 200	530	I	56	49	47	4.4	4 0	ດ ເງ	170	ດ. ເງ	0.0470	155
69	щ	0. 11	7.5	7.5	ю С	4	00 4	66	0 1,	000	700	460	I	56	49	47	22	30	48	120	48	0. 0620	210
70	<b>-</b> 0 (	0.17	7. 5	7.5	5 10.	0	15. 3	3, 58	0 1,	000 1	, 120	148	i	56	49	47	27	57	100	1700	100	0. 0440	80
2	~	0.12	0 .0	0 0	പ്പ	- 0	0. 10	7,74	1 0	400	610	410	ł	54 4	46	44	9. <b>4</b>	4 เก	94	4300	94	0.0340	40
70	σ	0.12	6. 9	ю СЛ	м. И	<b>ת</b> ו	0 8	7,20	01,	440	941	419	I	54	46	44	00 CO	35 35	63	2600	63	0.0450	86
70	ዮ	0.12	7.5	è. G	5 10.	ы Сі	10.1	4,66	Ó Ľ	000	, 000	478	ł	54	46	44	0.76	ณ ณ่	ณ ต่	520	сі Сі	0.0600	58
70	0	0.14	12.5	10.8	3 11.	. 1 1	ក្រ ខ	76	0 1	000	650	350	i	56	49	47	0. 5	0. 54	0.98	220	0. 98	0.0520	14
70	7	0.09	ł	6. O	Ч С	N	6. 10		0	50	100	100	ł	56	49	47	0	сі 4	1.9	460	1.9	0.0091	100

## APPENDIX C: ESTIMATES OF BOREHOLE HYDRAULIC CONDUCTANCE OF MULTILAYER WELLS

Wells constructed with perforated intervals which span across adjacent aguifer layers, whether or not they are pumped, can have a major effect on the effective vertical hydraulic conductance and therefore flow between the layers. The well bores establish a direct hydraulic link which by passes the vertical resistance to flow of the clay beds between the centers of the aquifer layers. Bennett and others (1982) suggest that this hydraulic effect can be evaluated approximately by adaptation of the Thiem equation.

Let  $C_w$  be borehole hydraulic conductance, which is the increase in vertical hydraulic conductance caused by a well open to aquifer layers above and below the clay beds. Then, by definition,

$$C_w = \frac{Q}{H_u - H_l} \tag{25}$$

where Q is flow through the well casing, and  $H_u$ ,  $H_l$  are head in aquifer layers above and below the clay beds, respectively, at some radial distance, R, from the well assumed to be the limit of the local cone in the potentiometric surface due to the influence of the well. R is further defined below.

For the purpose of this discussion we assume that the head in the aquifer layer above the clay beds is higher than the head in the aquifer layer below the clay beds, so that water will flow from the aquifer layer above and recharge the aquifer below through the well openings. The amount of the flow can be estimated by the Thiem equation, if the following two assumptions are valid:(1) well entrance losses and head losses within the well are negligible when compared with head losses in the aquifer, and (2) storage effects in the aquifers within the cone of influence in each aquifer also are negligible. According to the Thiem equation, flow leaving the aquifer layer above the clay beds can be described by the equation,

$$Q = \frac{2\pi b_{u} K_{u} (H_{u} - h_{w})}{ln(R_{a}/R_{w})}$$
(26)

For flow recharging to the aquifer layer below the clay beds, the Thiem equation is

$$Q = \frac{2\pi b_{l} K_{l} (h_{w} - H_{l})}{ln(R_{a}/R_{w})}$$
(27)

where

- $R_a$  = radial distance from center of the well to a concentric circle along which the head is assumed to be the average head in the aquifer block,  $H_u$  or  $H_l$ , respectively,
- $R_w$  = radius of the well,  $K_u, K_l$  = hydraulic conductivity of the aquifers above and below the clay beds, respectively, and,
- $b_u, b_l$  = thickness of the upper and lower aquifer layers, respectively.

The right side of equations 26 and 27 can be equated, and the resulting equation solved for  $h_w$ , because the flow into the well out of the upper aquifer must equal the flow out of the well into the lower aquifer. Thus,

$$h_{w} = \frac{b_{u}K_{u}H_{u} + b_{l}K_{l}H_{l}}{b_{u}K_{u} + b_{l}K_{l}}$$
(28)

Substituting equation 28 into either equation 26 or equation 27, the following expression is obtained:

$$Q = \frac{2\pi b_{u} K_{u} b_{l} K_{l} (H_{u} - H_{l})}{ln(R_{a}/R_{w}) (b_{u} K_{u} + b_{l} K_{l})}$$
(29)

Substituting equation 29 into equation  $25, C_w$  is given by

$$C_{w} = \frac{2\pi b_{u}K_{u}b_{l}K_{l}}{ln(R_{a}/R_{w})(b_{u}K_{u} + b_{l}K_{l})}$$
(30)

If  $K_u = K_l$ , then equation 30 can be simplified and is given by (31).

$$C_{w} = \frac{2\pi K}{ln(R_{a}/R_{w})} \frac{b_{u}b_{l}}{(b_{u} + b_{l})}$$
(31)

In the calculations for the Central Valley,  $R_a$  was assumed to be about 6,500 ft. The average irrigation well radius  $R_w$  in the Central Valley is about 0.75 ft. The thickness of aquifers above (layer 4) and below (layer 3) is about 250 ft and 1,000 ft, respectively. The hydraulic conductivity (K) of both aquifer layers is about  $6~{\rm ft/d}$  (the valley average), so the conductance per well  $(C_w)$  is estimated to be 830 ft/d.

$$C_c = \frac{Q}{H_u - H_l} = \frac{KA}{dL}$$
(32)

where

A = area of the model block, and

dL = length over which the vertical head difference is measured. Using  $4.1 \times 10^{-6}$  per day (the model-calibrated average for the Westside area) and A = 10 ft<sup>2</sup>,  $C_c$  is about 4,100 ft<sup>2</sup>/d. According to these calculations, the conductance of about five wells in one model block would be equal to the conductance of the clay beds. There is a range of conductance that can be computed with reasonable variable values; however, this at least shows that wells probably have a significant contribution to conductance between layers.